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ABOUT US
E R

Founded in Hong Kong in 1998, Regina Miracle International
(Holdings) Limited (“Regina Miracle” or the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are a global leader in the
intimate wear manufacturing industry. By adopting an innovative
design manufacturer (“IDM"”) business model and building on a
diverse technology matrix with three core technologies: computer-
aided mold design and production, 3D compression molding, and
seamless bonding, Regina Miracle is able to develop and produce
market-leading products for its long-standing world-renowned
brand partners which cover various key sectors comprising intimate
wear (including bras, panties, shapewear) and bra pads, sports
products (including sports bras, functional sports apparel), consumer
electronics components, and footwear, and facilitate cross-sector
and cross-category applications.

The Group is committed to multi-regional production capacity
deployment. It has two strategic strongholds — its research and
development (“R&D") and production bases in China to promote
the expansion of the domestic PRC market, and its major production
base in Vietnam, which the Group has expanded into since 2016 to
support the growth of its export business. The Group also continues
to enhance production efficiency and core competitive advantages
through automation and digital management.

In addition, Regina Miracle endeavors to promote environmental and
social sustainable development. Based on the United Nations’ 2030
Sustainable Development Goals, the Group has established four
goals for 2030 covering four key aspects, namely carbon reduction,
waste management, sustainable innovation, and people and
community, with a view to creating long-term value for stakeholders
and assuming social responsibility with a responsible attitude.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
HBHE

The board of directors (the “Board”) of Regina Miracle BB (ZER) AR AR ([#HE R
International (Holdings) Limited (“Regina Miracle” or the AR NEZS([EEG)MAEMHALT R
“Company”) is pleased to announce the annual results of the HMf B AR (i REE ) B ZE202453 A
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the 3MBIEFE([20248 F )N EFXLE - &R
year ended 31 March 2024 (“Fiscal 2024"), together with the 20235 [FIHA([ 202381 & | WILLE L T o
comparative figures for the corresponding year in 2023 (“Fiscal

2023").

COMPARISON OF KEY FINANCIAL FENKE R B R LLE
INFORMATION AND FINANCIAL RATIOS

Year ended 31 March

BZ3ANALEE
2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$'000 % HK$'000
BETT  ASK BETR
Revenue LN 7,016,802 100.0 7,879,287 100.0 (10.9%)
Gross profit E7 1,583,567 22.6 1,902,111 241 (16.7%)

Profit attributable to owners of KA E#H ARG &EF

the Company 143,175 2.0 383,258 4.9 (62.6%)
Eamings before interest, STITE R RN

taxes, depreciation and

amortisation # 1,011,975 144 1,310,013 16.6 (22.8%)

Adjusted profit attributable to K72 Bl EEH A EIA LT

owners of the Company #* S e 316,471 45 417,387 53 (24.2%)
Adjusted earnings before BRUTE KB HEA AR

interest, taxes, depreciation  Fl[jE#*

and amortisation #* 1,185,271 16.9 1,344,141 17.1 (11.8%)
HK cents HK cents
Bl Il
Earnings per share BREF
- basic and diluted —EARREE 1.7 31.3
Dividend per share SRS 5.7 10.3
— Interim dividend —HHRE 35 85
— Proposed final dividend —EEAHRE 2.2 1.8
# These are not measures of performance under Hong Kong Financial # ZEEBWIEEBYBRELD([FBHBR
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"), but is widely used by management SHA ) THERENEE - METEEBMRE
for monitoring business performance of a company from operational BEASERNRERRRBEZER - EXRN
perspective. It may not be comparable to similar measures presented by AR A M AT 2B S EEELE -

other companies.
* Adjusted profit attributable to owners of the Company and adjusted * RABHB NG E AR AR EFITE K

earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation are derived BHATEARNE A MRS REARATSE o
by excluding exceptional restructuring cost.
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CHAIRMAN'S
STATEMENT

TRBES



On behalf of Regina Miracle International (Holdings)
Limited and the Board of Directors, | hereby present
to our shareholders the Group’s annual results for
Fiscal 2024.

AANERRADEER(ZR)BRARMESRS - MR
REAEBE2024M FN 2 FEERS -

YY Hung

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Director

TE BRHITERWITEE

During Fiscal 2024, we faced various macro challenges such as
interest rate risk, high inflation and geopolitical tensions, which
exerted unprecedented pressure on our business. Against
this backdrop, the Group insisted on prudent operations and
meticulously refined our business strategies to identify new
avenues for growth within the intricate and ever-evolving market
landscape. Throughout the Year, we focused on reallocating
capital to prepare for uncertainties arising from the global
economic recovery. Cautious market sentiment had impacted
consumption, with consumers favouring higher-quality and more
sophisticated products, thereby raising the bar for supply chain
participants. While most of our brand partners were nearing
the end of their destocking cycles and continued to adjust the
frequency and structure of orders, as well as optimize their
inventory management by streamlining their supply chains,
they persisted in driving sales growth through the launch of
new products. Despite the complex and dynamic business
environment, potential opportunities remained.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

IRBES

2024844 - RFE RS EREKE - 21EF
KER - BREE  WEABCAREERSE
RBRPINEBSRTRIMARENES - £E
BET AKERSRRLE  BOBHEX
R  WREERSEOTIZRTP I
IR RE - FARMBINEARELENH
- DEHEHEBEERNTHEEN - 15
MBERISEHEEBARELE—EFE  HE
FE-—SHEAEESRE  BALCNER -
REEE EN2RERIESHNER - BF
REbDmEBHERREEFNER @ L
BREIEHRNGE  ANERREHE
PENFRANETEIR - BmRRBH AR
EmmEHENBREATE - £EMTNZ
BHERREZT  NEHEENKE -
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
IRHES

We reviewed our business strategies in Fiscal 2024. The
Innovative Design Manufacturing (“IDM") business model,
a cornerstone of Regina Miracle, provided us the agility and
flexibility to adapt to an uncertain market environment. During
the Year, we also defined a strategic guideline centered on
“prioritizing core businesses and bolstering principal operations”.
We streamlined and optimized business segments with higher
volatility while strengthening the research and development as
well as production capabilities of our two core segments, namely
intimate wear and sports products. Through innovations in raw
materials and craftsmanship, we provide our brand partners
with products that are more functionally powerful and versatile
in their applications, enabling the expansion of our collaborative
relationships that are more valuable.

The joint venture ("VS China"”) established between us and
Victoria's Secret & Co. (“Victoria's Secret”) continued to record
growth and profit in the second half of the year. The joint venture
continued to enhance its brand building, product quality and
operational efficiency, complemented by the Group’s market
insights and local supply chains to maintain its business resilience
and provided the Group with momentum to penetrate the PRC
market.

FOCUSING ON CORE BUSINESSES,
ESTABLISHING A TRAJECTORY OF
PREDICTABLE AND SUSTAINABLE GROWTH

At Regina Miracle, we persistently cement our position as an
industry leader in terms of the awareness of and commitment
to innovation. Over the Year, we continued to implement our
strategy of magnifying our competitive edges in raw materials
development and differentiated craftsmanship. By increasing
efforts in the co-development of raw materials with our supply
chain partners, we made remarkable progress in enhancing
the versatile functionalities of products, thereby bringing novel
offerings to brand partners and providing consumers with more
and enhanced wearing experiences. In addition, the products
launched by the Group leveraging our core technologies have
been positively received by the market. As we introduce more of
these innovative offerings to the market, we anticipate a gradual
recovery of our business in tandem with our core brand partners.

BFIR 2024 FEIMB R XK - FRME
PRMER - BIFTRATEUE([IDM]) EH1HE
ARBMETBRENTHRETERM T TR
AEMZER o WIATFRA FHEYL T FER
17 BICEXINRBE T — T EEERD
KRB REBBANEBRIE - S — 7 E NS
BRI ~ EEDE G AR DR SR BV BT 3 e
HERN  EBRMHRTENEF - Sm
ERHREHEERK  BERSSEZ T
MEm  LWERAFEBENARIAE

3% 1M £2 Victoria's Secret & Co. ([ Victoria's
Secret | )R KIEEBE QR ([#HEZFRE]) %
% R T EFREBERIBERRET -8R
RISETEME  ER - BEEZ @RS
HUAREBE TSR IR AL HEES
R BUMREBFEBIDE  WAAEEAEF
ETiSmmERE TE N

BETEXRR  TERENT
FENEREER

M IRMBIFIIRA BB RN E T BRFEET
RER - HMERE—FRERERARM
HMAZEMEZR(CTERFELNKRE - B8
MAEFEREBHEERM RO KR ES
15 BFEE MM Z AT BT & m G
RIFER - ERMEEHSRIHEREE
HMFEE - TAHBERHESEENFER
B m—OTE - AEEERELLRMATHE G
Bim M5 LESEEEE BEES
EmET AEEZOREBHBETERE
BRR SRR -

8 REGINA MIRACLE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED #¥ 1REIB (H282) G R A 7



We prioritized the technical upgrade and market application of
our core patented bonding craftsmanship (“Bonding”). This
differentiated craftsmanship holds a five-to-ten-year technological
lead over the market, and has profoundly reshaped the market's
perception of the craftsmanship through its superior quality,
functionality and production efficiency, as well as its technological
aesthetics and versatile applicability across diverse scenarios.
As a result, the Group has been able to identify new categories
for expansion and achieve business breakthroughs with our core
brand partners. We anticipate that more of these similar products
will be embraced by them.

The Group recognizes the importance of cost management and
control. We have promoted intelligent management, equipment
automation and vertical staffing at the Zhaoging base, using it
as a model to replicate across a number of our overseas plants.
These initiatives will further enhance our production efficiency
and product quality, as evidenced by the record-high production
efficiency achieved by our Vietnam facilities during the second
half of the fiscal year. They will also bolster our competitiveness
amidst uncertainties, as we streamline our supply chains and
more swiftly and efficiently fulfill the demand of our brand
partners for our product lines with “Better & Best” positioning.

FURTHER SOLIDIFYING THE DEPLOYMENT IN
THE DOMESTIC MARKET AND PROPELLING
THE DEVELOPMENT OF VS CHINA

Since turning profitable in the second half of the previous fiscal
year, VS China has remained resilient. During the Year, we have
not only expanded VS China’s iconic top-selling derivative styles
to extend their life cycle, but also ushered in a new driving
force by promoting our signature products in the intimate wear
market. Certain products tailored for the PRC market have now
successfully entered the overseas markets of Victoria’'s Secret,
providing opportunities for these localized products to penetrate
the overseas market. The success of VS China has bestowed
us invaluable experience to collaborate with a greater number of
international and domestic brands as we collectively explore the
potential of the PRC market.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

IRHES
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
IRHES

CAPITALIZING ON BUSINESS RECOVERY
MOMENTUM, OPTIMIZING ASSET TURNOVER,
IMPLEMENTING DEBT REDUCTION AND
INCREASING SHAREHOLDER VALUE

Despite the results for the Year fell short of our initial
expectations, we are beginning to discern signs of a market
bottom. We have focused on operational agility and efficiently
allocating capital, enabling us to adapt to the evolving business
landscape. The Group plans to reduce its finance costs by actively
reducing the debt and optimizing our existing debt structure
over the course of the Fiscal 2026-2028, while also aiming to
consolidate our existing production facilities, strictly control our
capital expenditure, accelerate asset turnover, and optimize the
usage of working capital, with a view to achieving our goal of
reducing the overall net gearing ratio to a healthy level. We aim to
engineer a steady recovery in profitability with revenue growth,
and thereby create greater value for shareholders.

SUSTAINABLE GROWTH, STEADFAST
COMMITMENT AND LONG-TERM VALUE
CREATION

Adhering to our philosophy of “creating long-term value for
stakeholders, assuming social responsibility and achieving
sustainable development with a responsible attitude”, we are
increasing the sustainability of our business operations while
proactively managing the environmental and social impacts of
our business. The Group's Environmental, Social and Governance
Report will be published separately in this fiscal year, underscoring
our unwavering commitment to long-term value creation and a
sustainable future.

As we head towards Fiscal 2025, uncertainty continues to
loom over the macroeconomic environment. However, despite
the challenges and uncertainties, we are witnessing a gradual
recovery in demand from our brand partners and are beginning to
accelerate our R&D efforts while securing an increasing number of
purchase orders. Leveraging our competitive edges accumulated
over the years and timely strategic planning, we are poised to
channel our resources towards advancing the development of our
core business.

HARAMFRRAL R EDRFIOES - B
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B RERAEEAEE-

KEBR BER
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B
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B BREEXBHRIEMMENTE -
AEECGRE - LB REBWMEIGRAF
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
IRAEE

Last but not least, on behalf of the Company, | would like to &% AAERERAR  MAABRRERER
express my sincere gratitude to our shareholders for their DHE - BRABM—BEURNRELFE - [
unwavering support and to our customers and partners for their B b ZRESBEMINER REEBHERE
enduring trust and confidence in the Group. | would also like to E— B AR EEREED c RALEBLE

express my appreciation to all colleagues for their hard work, IR ERK - 2 MIRFE T - MALER -
selfless dedication, seamless teamwork and relentless pursuit ZERIE - TEER - S5 T RMNEME
of improvement, which have built our resilience and driven our WHES) T B HIFFERITT o BEARK - KM
business forward. Going forward, we will continue to strive for WA AR NI 20 -+ 1 &K - W — IR BAfT
advancement and excellence and remain committed to creating WAOBRMOFNEEEER  RELZR
value for our stakeholders and contributing to the sustainable BRI AR R o

development of Regina Miracle.

YY Hung BEZE
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director TE - BEBITEFRBITESE
26 June 2024 202446 826H
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MARKET REVIEW

During the year under review, the pace of recovery in the global
economy was slower than expected, with major central banks
adopting tight monetary policies to contain inflation. Concerns
about the health of the financial system and geopolitical tensions
led to conservative consumer sentiment, which impacted industry
performance and put unprecedented pressure on the Group's
business. Despite the improvement in market sentiment in the
second half of Fiscal 2024, this recovery has not yet fully reflected
in the recovery of orders. In the midst of both challenges and
opportunities, Regina Miracle has adopted the business strategy
of "prioritizing core segments and strengthening core operations”
in response to the uncertainties in the macro environment,
striving to gain room for restructuring and development.

On the one hand, the Group has encountered multiple challenges
in recent times, such as the destocking cycle of brand partners
and adjustments in the order structure. On the other hand, brand
partners are seeking to stimulate demand with innovative and
differentiated products, which provides an opportunity for market
players. In response to this trend, the Group has undertaken a
review of its innovative design manufacturing (“IDM") business
and made multiple adjustments.

As a key growth focus for the Group's brand partners, the PRC
market also holds crucial significance for Regina Miracle. The
growth momentum of the joint venture (“VS China”) between
the Group and Victoria's Secret & Co. (“Victoria's Secret”) over
the past year, has brought positive impact and fresh vitality to the
Group’s business in the Chinese market, and provided valuable
experience for the Group to collaborate with more international
and domestic brands to jointly explore the potential of the PRC
market.

R EE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBHWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW

Financial Performance

Affected by macroeconomic uncertainties and sluggish consumer
sentiment, the Group recorded revenue of approximately
HK$7,016.8 million (Fiscal 2023: HK$7,879.3 million) for Fiscal
2024, representing a year-on-year decrease of 10.9%. Gross
profit decreased by 16.7% to approximately HK$1,583.6 million,
with gross profit margin decreasing by 1.5 percentage points to
22.6% (Fiscal 2023: HK$1,902.1 million and 24.1%, respectively).
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation
(EBITDA) decreased by 22.8% to approximately HK$1,012.0
million, and the EBITDA margin decreased by 2.2 percentage
points to 14.4% (Fiscal 2023: HK$1,310.0 million and 16.6%,
respectively). The Group recorded net profit of approximately
HK$143.2 million for Fiscal 2024, representing a year-on-year
decrease of 62.6%, with net profit margin decreasing by 2.9
percentage points to 2.0% (Fiscal 2023: HK$383.3 million and
4.9%, respectively). Basic earnings per share attributable to
owners of the Company was HK11.7 cents (Fiscal 2023: basic
earnings per share of HK31.3 cents).

Excluding restructuring costs, adjusted EBITDA decreased by
11.8% to approximately HK$1,185.3 million and adjusted EBITDA
margin decreased by 0.2 percentage points to 16.9% (Fiscal 2023:
HK$1,344.1 million and 17.1%, respectively). Adjusted net profit
for Fiscal 2024 was approximately HK$316.5 million, representing
a year-on-year decrease of 24.2%, with adjusted net profit
margin decreasing by 0.8 percentage points to 4.5% (Fiscal 2023:
HK$417.4 million and 5.3%, respectively).

During Fiscal 2024, the Group’s financial position was sound, with
net current assets amounted to approximately HK$1,489.8 million
(Fiscal 2023: HK$1,585.6 million). As at 31 March 2024, its total
available banking facilities amounted to approximately HK$3,480.5
million (31 March 2023: HK$3,783.6 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In order to share the results with shareholders, the Board has
resolved to recommend a final dividend of HK2.2 cents per
share for Fiscal 2024 (Fiscal 2023: HK1.8 cents per share), which
together with the interim dividend of HK3.5 cents per share,
makes a total dividend of HK5.7 cents, in line with the Group's
dividend policy of distributing no less than 30% of its net profit
for the financial year. The proposed final dividend is subject to the
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the annual general
meeting to be held on Wednesday, 11 September 2024. The
final dividend is expected to be paid on or around Wednesday,
2 October 2024 to shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on Friday, 20 September
2024.

The Group’s business operations are categorized into five key
segments as outlined below.

Intimate wear
Intimate wear products include bras, bra tops, panties, shapewear
and swimwear.

During Fiscal 2024, this business segment contributed revenue
of approximately HK$4,121.4 million (Fiscal 2023: HK$4,424.8
million), a year-on-year decrease of 6.9% and accounting for
58.7% of the total revenue, and remained the Group’s main
source of revenue. The segment’'s gross profit decreased by
11.9% to approximately HK$976.9 million, with gross profit
margin decreasing by 1.4 percentage points to 23.7% (Fiscal
2023: HK$1,108.4 million and 25.1%, respectively).

During Fiscal 2024, consumer sentiment in the overall market was
still recovering. Inventories of the Group's intimate wear brand
partners have not yet normalized, which has dampened order
demand.

Sports products
Sports products include sports bras, sports leggings, sports shorts
and sports tops.

This business segment contributed approximately HK$2,311.5
million in revenue during Fiscal 2024 (Fiscal 2023: HK$2,436.3
million), a 5.1% year-on-year decrease, accounting for 32.9%
of total revenue. Segmental gross profit was approximately
HK$493.7 million and the gross profit margin was 21.4% (Fiscal
2023: HK$566.5 million and 23.3%, respectively).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEBNWE DM

During Fiscal 2024, as the destocking progress varies among the
different sports brand partners, the Group’s overall order volume
and revenue in this segment were under pressure compared
with last year. Despite this, this segment recorded a double-digit
sequential recovery in the second half of Fiscal 2024, showing
a good recovery momentum. Among the sports products, the
patented bonding (“Bonding”) apparel segment stood out in
performance, achieving double-digit revenue growth for the full
year and further increasing its revenue share.

Consumer electronics components
Consumer electronics components include virtual reality (“VR")
headset and tablet accessories.

Revenue from this business segment amounted to approximately
HK$285.6 million (Fiscal 2023: HK$371.5 million), representing a
year-on-year decrease of 23.1% and accounting for 4.1% of the
Group's total revenue. The segment’s gross profit decreased
by 35.3% to approximately HK$52.7 million and the gross profit
margin was 18.56% (Fiscal 2023: HK$81.6 million and 22.0%,
respectively).

The production line for consumer electronics components has
been relocated to the Zhaoging production base and operated
smoothly during Fiscal 2024, meeting the demands of the
Group’s brand partners. However, during Fiscal 2024, as a major
brand partner underwent product upgrades, there was an order
gap between the launch of a newer and an older generation
of products. This, coupled with the iterative cycle of electronic
products, led to a phased adjustment of orders from brand
partners, which in turn weighed on the revenue performance.

Bra pads and other accessory products

Bra pads and other accessory products mainly include bra
pads, fabric masks, one-piece molded hats and other accessory
products.

Revenue from this business segment amounted to approximately
HK$241.9 million (Fiscal 2023: HK$322.6 million), representing a
year-on-year decrease of 25.0% and accounting for 3.56% of the
Group's total revenue. The segment’s gross profit decreased
by 29.8% to approximately HK$50.7 million and gross profit
margin was 21.0% (Fiscal 2023: HK$72.2 million and 22.4%,
respectively). The revenue from bra pad products decreased in
line with the decline in order demand for intimate wear.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Footwear
Footwear consists mainly of causal shoes.

During Fiscal 2024, this segment contributed revenue of
approximately HK$56.3 million (Fiscal 2023: HK$324.0 million),
accounting for 0.8% of total revenue. The segment’'s gross
profit amounted to approximately HK$9.6 million and gross
profit margin was 17.0% (Fiscal 2023: HK$73.5 million and
22.7%, respectively). In order to enhance economies of scale in
production, the Group proactively communicated with its brand
partners during the previous fiscal year to arrange the termination
of its collaboration. This decision resulted in the cessation of order
delivery after October 2023, enabling the strategic allocation of
the released production capacity to the fast-growing bonding
apparel category.

VS China

Leveraging the deep understanding of Chinese consumers and
an agile supply mechanism, VS China’s brand positioning and
differentiated products have closely aligned with the prevailing
fashion trends. Despite an overall sluggish Chinese consumer
market, it managed to maintain growth against the broader
headwinds. VS China’s revenue amounted to approximately
HK$1,882.2 million in the Group's Fiscal 2024, representing
a year-on-year increase of 40.0%, and net profit amounted to
approximately HK$85.4 million, representing a year-on-year
increase of approximately HK$196.6 million. In addition, VS
China has become a major brand partner of the Group, bringing
a meaningful incremental lift to the revenue of the Group’s IDM
business during Fiscal 2024.

Production capacity

Seizing the opportunities arising from industry consolidation and
supply chain concentration, the Group strives for continuous
enhancement of its production processes through different
key initiatives, including structure verticalization, management
intellectualization, equipment automation, and supply chain
localization, to improve overall production efficiency. Vietnam, as
an important production base for the Group, has strengthened
its management capabilities during Fiscal 2024, with production
efficiency of the Group's core business segments reaching record
highs. As orders began to recover at the end of Fiscal 2024, the
Vietnam production base began to resume recruitment in the first
quarter of this year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBHWR DM

In Mainland China, the relocation of the Shenzhen production
base to the Zhaoging production base is proceeding satisfactorily.
The relocation of production lines for consumer electronics
components, bra pads and other accessory products all
completed during Fiscal 2024. As orders of intimate wear and
sports products have picked up since the fourth quarter of Fiscal
2024, the relocation schedule of relevant production lines was
adjusted to accommodate the order delivery and is expected to
be completed by September 2024. Meanwhile, the relocation of
R&D related departments is expected to begin in the second half
of 2025.

In Fiscal 2024, the Vietnam production base’s contribution to the
Group’s total revenue reached 84% in terms of gross output. As
of 31 March 2024, there were approximately 31,300 employees
in Vietnam. In Mainland China, the Shenzhen production base had
around 3,900 employees and the Zhaoging production base had
approximately 1,500 employees.

THE GROUP’S OPERATING RESULTS

Revenue

We derive our revenue primarily from direct sales of our products.
Our total revenue decreased by 10.9% from approximately
HK$7,879.3 million in Fiscal 2023 to approximately HK$7,016.8
million in Fiscal 2024. A comparison of the Group's revenue for
Fiscal 2024 and Fiscal 2023 by product categories is as follows:

BEAAE FIEEEMREEEFLER
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R E G B0 A E 19 B 12024 BF F 52K 3%
B Ak B NXK A RE B E MR 12024
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10.9% £ 20248 F 487,016 8E & T © A&
£ E20248 F K 20238 FiRE mIERE D0
WALEET

For the year ended 31 March
BZE3ANBLEE

2024

2024
% of
Revenue
LT ON:]
BT Aotk

HK$'000

2023
20236
% of
Revenue
el ON:o

BETT ot EETT

HK$'000 HK$'000

Intimate wear BEAK 4,121,437 58.7 4,424,824 56.2  (303,387) (6.9)
Sports products EPED 2,311,520 329 2,436,331 30.9 (124,811) (5.1)
Consumer electronics EBE TR
components 285,616 4.1 371,478 4.7 (85,862) (23.1)
Bra pads and other o R E A
accessory products B ER 241,887 35 322,640 4.1 (80,753) (25.0)
Footwear i 56,342 0.8 324,014 4.1 (267,672) (82.6)
7,016,802 100.0 7,879,287 100.0 (862,485) (10.9)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Revenue generated from sales of intimate wear, sports products,
consumer electronics components and bra pads and other
accessory products decreased by 6.9%, 5.1%, 23.1% and 25.0%
respectively from Fiscal 2023 to Fiscal 2024. The decrease was
primarily due to the decrease in demand from our brand partners as
a result of general global economic downturn and the destocking
cycle underwent by our consumer brands in Fiscal 2024.

Revenue generated from sales of footwear decreased by 82.6%
from Fiscal 2023 to Fiscal 2024, due to the Group has taken
the initiative to terminate its cooperation with its existing brand
partner, reduced production in a moderate and orderly manner
as planned in first half of Fiscal 2024, gradually deploying the
released production capacities to the fast—-growing seamless
bonding apparel category.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales primarily consists of costs of raw materials, employee
benefit expenses for personnel directly involved in our production
activities, depreciation of our production equipment and others.
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For the year ended 31 March
BZE3ANBLEE

2024

20244
% of
Revenue
L ON:
BO

HK$'000

BT T

2023

20234
% of
Revenue
(ELON:D
Bt

HK$'000 HK$'000

BETL BETL

Cost of raw materials BRI 2,723,890 38.8 2,952,427 375  (228,537) (7.7)
Employee benefit expenses  EEEFIFX 1,805,356 25.7 2,106,700 26.7  (301,344) (14.3)
Depreciation ne 411,645 5.9 422,948 5.4 (11,303) (2.7)
Others Hith 492,344 7.0 495,101 6.3 (2,757) (0.6)

5,433,235 774 5977176 75.9 (543,941) 9.1)

Cost of sales as a percentage of total revenue increased from
75.9% in Fiscal 2023 to 77.4% in Fiscal 2024. This was primarily
attributable to decrease in revenue, leading to operating
deleverage.

Cost of sales decreased from approximately HK$5,977.2 million
in Fiscal 2023 to approximately HK$5,433.2 million in Fiscal 2024
primarily due to decrease in cost of raw materials and employee
benefit expenses as a result of the decrease in revenue.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEEERESE

Gross profit and gross profit margin

EMNRERNR

For the year ended 31 March

BZE3RA3MBLEE
2024 2023
20244 20235
Gross Gross
Gross Profit Gross Profit
Profit margin Profit margin Change
E EfE EH EF% &
HK$'000 % HK$'000 % HK$'000
BETT Bk ot [Epa)s4 BT
Intimate wear B AKX 976,881 237 1,108,426 25.1 (131,545) (11.9)
Sports products BYER 493,713 214 566,465 23.3 (72,752) (12.8)
Consumer electronics HES TR
components 52,743 185 81,561 22.0 (28,818) (35.3)
Bra pads and other Hoih R E A
accessory products et Em 50,678 21.0 72,194 224 (21,516) (29.8)
Footwear B 9,552 17.0 73,465 227 (63,913) (87.0)
Gross profit EH 1,583,567 226 1,902,111 24.1 (318,544) (16.7)

Our overall gross profit decreased from approximately HK$1,902.1
million in Fiscal 2023 to approximately HK$1,583.6 million in Fiscal
2024. The overall gross profit margin in Fiscal 2024 decreased by
1.5 percentage points to 22.6%, as compared to 24.1% in Fiscal
2023.

The decrease in overall gross profit margin was mainly due to
operating deleverage as a result of decrease in revenue.

Other income

Our other income consists primarily of government grants and
scrap sales income. It decreased from approximately HK$38.0
million in Fiscal 2023 to approximately HK$24.3 million in Fiscal
2024, primarily attributable to decrease in government grants
subsidies, which depends on the government grant policies and
criteria during different time periods.

Distribution and selling expenses

Distribution and selling expenses primarily consist of freight and
transportation expenses, employee benefit expenses for our sales
personnel, travelling expenses, declaration charges, marketing
and promotion expenses and others.

Distribution and selling expenses as a percentage of total revenue
remained relatively stable for both Fiscal 2023 and Fiscal 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses primarily consist of
employee benefit expenses for our administrative personnel,
depreciation and amortisation, other taxes and surcharges,
building management fee, insurance, office and administrative
expenses, bank charges and others.

General and administrative expenses as a percentage of total
revenue decreased from 8.9% in Fiscal 2023 to 8.0% in Fiscal
2024, mainly due to the Group’s streamlining of operation and the
exchange gain arising from RMB and VND depreciation.

Research and development costs

Research and development costs consist of employee benefit
expenses for our research and development personnel, raw
materials and consumables used and others.

Research and development costs as a percentage of total revenue
were 3.8% and 3.0% in Fiscal 2024 and Fiscal 2023 respectively.

Research and development costs increased from approximately
HK$235.8 million in Fiscal 2023 to approximately HK$267.5
million in Fiscal 2024, mainly due to increase in employee benefit
expenses and raw material costs as a result of the Group's
strategic focus in new product development in Fiscal 2024.

Other operating expenses

To optimize its production layout in China, the Group has
commenced the relocation of its Shenzhen production base by
phases to the new production base in Zhaoging.

In Fiscal 2024, an exceptional relocation cost of approximately
HK$173.3 million was incurred, including:

° seniority compensation for employees of approximately
HK$133.9 million, and

° write-off of fixed assets of approximately HK$39.4 million
(Fiscal 2023: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERBHWR DM

Finance income
Finance income represents interest income on bank deposits.

Finance costs

Finance costs represent interest expense on borrowings. Our
finance costs as a percentage of total revenue increased from
3.7% in Fiscal 2023 to 4.8% in Fiscal 2024, primarily attributable
to global trend of rising interest rate.

Finance costs increased from approximately HK$293.5 million in
Fiscal 2023 to approximately HK$337.0 million in Fiscal 2024 was
primarily attributable to the reasons mentioned above.

Revenue and Net Profit/Loss of an Associate - VSCO
Holdings (“VSCO")

In Fiscal 2023, the Group acquired 49% of the equity interest in
VSCO. VSCQO's revenue amounted to approximately HK$1,882.2
million in Fiscal 2024, representing an increase of 40.0% as
compared with approximately HK$1,344.2 million in Fiscal 2023,
whereas net profit amounted to approximately HK$85.4 million in
Fiscal 2024, as compared to a net loss amounted to approximately
HK$111.1 million Fiscal 2023.

Income tax expenses

Income tax expenses represent our total current and deferred
income tax expenses under the relevant Hong Kong, the People’s
Republic of China ("PRC”) and Vietnam income tax rules and
regulations.

Taxation arising in a jurisdiction is calculated at the rate prevailing
in the relevant jurisdiction. For Fiscal 2024, the income tax
expense amounted to approximately HK$9.0 million, as compared
to approximately HK$73.0 million for Fiscal 2023.

Adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation
and amortisation (“Adjusted EBITDA")

Adjusted EBITDA are derived by excluding exceptional
restructuring cost. The Group's adjusted EBITDA margin remained
relatively stable at 16.9% and 17.1% in Fiscal 2024 and Fiscal
2023 respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Net profit

As a result of the cumulative effect of the above factors, our net
profit in Fiscal 2024 was approximately HK$143.2 million, whereas
net profit margin in Fiscal 2024 was 2.0%.

Liquidity, financial resources and bank borrowings
The current ratio (calculated as current assets/current liabilities)
were 2.0 and 2.2 as of 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023
respectively.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group's net debt (represented by bank
borrowings less the cash and cash equivalents) was approximately
HK$3,530.5 million (31 March 2023: HK$3,283.5 million). Net
gearing ratio as at 31 March 2024 was 104.7% (31 March 2023:
92.6%), which was calculated as net debt divided by total equity.

As compared to 30 September 2023, our net debt was decreased
by approximately HK$58.6 million from approximately HK$3,589.1
million to HK$3,530.5 million, while our net gearing ratio was
improved by 6.6 percentage points from 111.3% to 104.7%.

Working capital management

&R IR [E) % A 2K
&1 R0R [E)%E A 2K

Receivables turnover days
Payables turnover days

The receivables turnover days and payables turnover days have
remained healthy and stable at 45 and 25 days respectively as at
31 March 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Capital expenditures

For Fiscal 2024, the total addition to property, plant and
equipment, leasehold land and land use rights, and intangible
assets amounted to approximately HK$688.0 million (Fiscal 2023:
HK$282.3 million), which was mainly attributable additions of
production lines and construction of our production facilities and
Zhaoging staff dormitories.

Pledged assets

As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, insurance policy
investments in the amount of approximately HK$69.6 million and
HK$67.9 million, respectively, was pledged for financing related
insurance premium.

Foreign exchange risk

We mainly operate in Hong Kong, the PRC and Vietnam. Most of
our operating expenses are denominated in RMB and VND, while
most of our sales are denominated and settled in U.S. dollar.
As the HK dollar is pegged to U.S. dollar, our foreign exchange
exposure in respect of the HK dollar is considered minimal. Our
management will continue to monitor foreign currency exchange
exposure and will take prudent measures to minimize the
currency translation risk.

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.

Material acquisitions and future plans for major
investment

Save for the investment in the construction of the production
facilities, during Fiscal 2024, the Group did not conduct any
material investments, acquisitions or disposals. In addition, save
for the expansion plans as disclosed in the sections headed
“Business” and “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the
prospectus of the Company dated 24 September 2015 (the
“Prospectus”), and the framework construction agreements
disclosed in the announcements dated 24 July 2017 and 24
April 2018 respectively, the Group has no specific plan for
major investment or acquisition for major capital assets or other
businesses. However, the Group will continue to identify new
opportunities for business development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Employees and remuneration policies

As at 31 March 2024, the Group employed a total of approximately
37,006 full-time staff (31 March 2023: 37,015). The total staff
cost of the Group (including salaries, bonuses, social insurances,
provident funds and share incentive schemes) amounted to
approximately HK$2,385.1 million, representing 34.0% of the total
revenue of the Group.

We believe our success depends heavily upon our employees’
provision of consistent, quality and reliable services. In order to
attract, retain and develop the knowledge, skill level and quality
of our employees, we place a strong emphasis on training our
employees. We provide on-site training periodically and across
operational functions, including introductory training for new
employees, technical training, professional and management
training, team-building and communications training.

We enter into individual employment contracts with our
employees to cover matters such as wages, employee benefits,
safety and sanitary conditions in the workplace, and grounds for
termination. We have designed an evaluation system to assess
the performance of our employees. This system forms the basis
of our determinations of whether an employee should receive
salary raises, bonuses or promotions. Most of our technical
personnel are trained and promoted internally, leading to greater
employee stability and loyalty.

Events after the balance sheet date
The Group has no significant events after the reporting period and
up to the date of this report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FUTURE PROSPECTS AND STRATEGIES

Trend Analysis

As the Group enters Fiscal 2025, most consumer brands are in
the later stage of the destocking cycle, and market conditions
are expected to gradually recover. However, recognizing that the
macro environment will continue to be affected by various factors,
including the global economy, interest rates and geopolitics, the
Group will closely monitor market trends to address potential risks
and challenges.

In view of the dynamic market environment, an increasing
number of brand partners are inclined to shorten lead times
when placing orders. Meanwhile, brand partners are more willing
to pay premiums for innovative and differentiated products in
order to stimulate consumption and lead the market, resulting in
a clear differentiation in the industry’s supply chain ecosystem.
The Group’s commitment to offering differentiated and mid-to-
high-end products will be conducive to achieving better profit
margins. Based on the Group’s long-standing edges in its core
technologies, it has more clearly established its position as a
unique and scarce supply chain partner among its major brand
partners.

Following the business adjustment in Fiscal 2024, the Company is
expected to see a recovery in order demand in Fiscal 2025, which
will lead to a rebound in the total revenue.

Regarding the business segments:

- Intimate wear: The segment is expected to deliver low-to-
mid single-digit revenue growth as orders from major brand
partners continue to recover in Fiscal 2025, coupled with the
introduction of new brand partners and notable performance
in product categories such as bra tops, shapewear and
panties.

- Sports products: Revenue from sports bras is expected
to rebound steadily, while the bonding apparel category is
expected to grow at a mid-double-digit rate. Total segment
revenue is expected to grow at a double digit rate, making it
the key growth driver for the Group’s businesses.

= Consumer electronics components: Revenue growth
is expected to resume in Fiscal 2025 with the gradual
stabilization of market demand and successful initial launch
of brand partners’ products to the market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

- Bra pads and other accessory products: Revenue from
bra pads is expected to grow in line with the intimate wear
and sports products segments.

Although the Group expects that the seniority compensation for
employees arising from the relocation to the Zhaoging production
base will weigh on its profitability over the next two years, the
impact of this non-operating factor will reduce gradually as the
business scales. The Group will continue to innovate, proactively
respond to market changes, and strive for more stable and
sustainable development.

STRATEGIES AND OUTLOOK

.  Prioritize core businesses to strengthen market

leading position

After careful evaluation of the market conditions, economies
of scale and other factors, the Group made a proactive
decision to streamline the footwear business during Fiscal
2024. In view of the fact that consumer electronics brand
partners have returned to rationality in placing orders for
products related to virtual reality (“VR") headsets, the
Group has made appropriate adjustments to its consumer
electronics component business in order to agilely respond
to market fluctuations. As orders in the intimate wear
and sports segments have bottomed out and started to
recover, the Group will continue to prioritize these two
core businesses, capitalizing on the strengths of its core
technologies and deepening collaboration with existing
brand partners, i.e. the leading brands in intimate wear
and sports products, to solidify the stability of its business
foundation.

In recent years, the Group and its partners have continuously
strengthened joint efforts in the R&D of raw materials such
as foam, fabric and adhesives, and have achieved proprietary
R&D results. Regina Miracle has continuously incorporated
the application of industry-leading new materials, which,
together with its unique and advanced craftsmanship,
significantly enhanced the wearing experience of the
products in its core segments of intimate wear and sports
products. A number of these products are expected to be
launched in the new fiscal year which will support business
growth.
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28

Focus on unique core craftsmanship to expand
bonding apparel business for stable and
sustainable long-term growth

Having long invested in the R&D of bonding craftsmanship,
the Group has made remarkable progress in the areas
of complementary materials and automated production,
boasting a first-mover advantage and technological edge
that is five to ten years ahead of the market. Through
market research, the Group has identified buoyant demand
for bonding apparel products and ample room to improve
the quality of existing products in the market. After due
evaluation, the Group clearly articulated its business
strategy in the second half of Fiscal 2023, which is centered
around its unique patented bonding craftsmanship, and
focuses on the development of the apparel business as a
long-term business growth engine through a differentiated
path. The Group's bonding apparel business has already
been recognized by a number of target brand partners,
with order growth accelerating and successfully attracting
the attention of new partners. Given the vast market size
and higher average unit price compared to that of intimate
wear, the sportswear business presents greater potential
for sales scale expansion. As the Group is at an early stage
of development in this business segment, there is still room
for increasing the business base and market penetration.
The differentiated products it has developed are prioritized
for cross-selling to our existing core brand partners with
solid relationships. From a variety of perspectives, the
sportswear business is expected to offset the decrease
in revenue resulting from the streamlining of the footwear
business, mitigate business fluctuations, and provide the
Group with a more robust, predictable and sustainable
growth momentum.

In addition to bonding craftsmanship, the Group has also
focused on the Santoni seamless business chain and
made effective breakthroughs in product R&D, production
management and sales expansion during Fiscal 2024. Orders
for Santoni seamless related products recorded double-digit
growth, a step forward in the implementation of strategies
to foster repeated purchases by core brand partners and
expand cross selling, and are expected to maintain growth
momentum in the next year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Leverage Zhaoqing production base to

reinforce the path towards top-tier intelligent
manufacturing

The Group regards the construction of the new Zhaoging
production base as a strategic measure to optimize its
production layout in the PRC. From the start of construction,
the overall planning of the production base has been
designed to meet world-leading standards for modern and
intelligent workshops through the introduction of automated
production lines and advanced information management
systems, with the aim of achieving data-driven and refined
management. Compared with the original Shenzhen
production base, the Zhaoging production base has made
significant progress in terms of modern construction,
product positioning and sustainable development.

Leveraging the capabilities of the Zhaoging production base,
the Group will remain committed to developing towards the
direction of top-tier intelligent manufacturing. Focus on its
unigue core technological advantages, the Group will chart
a distinct product path to continuously enhance the added
value of products and improve market competitiveness,
aiming to target the Better & Best market positing in the
PRC and provide consumers with higher quality and more
distinctive product options.

As the operation of the Zhaoging production base gradually
matures in the future, its automated, digital and intelligent
production equipment will further increase production
efficiency and meet the local production needs of the
Group's growing business in the PRC. Meanwhile, the
Zhaoqing production base will also provide important
support for international brands, VS China, and other quality
domestic brands in their efforts to develop the PRC market,
jointly promoting the development of the intimate wear and
bonding apparel markets in the PRC.
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Conduct comprehensive review on asset
turnover with meticulous planning on capital
expenditure

Regina Miracle understands that product innovation is
the key to driving a company forward and maintaining
its competitive edge. In this process, in addition to raw
materials and innovative craftsmanship, the combination of
unigue equipment assets is also indispensable. Regarding
innovation and development, the Group will fully integrate
existing equipment to support product R&D, and allocate
investment in new equipment more precisely so as to
strike a proper balance between promoting innovation and
controlling capital expenditure. The Group will also raise
awareness of asset turnover in “research, production and
sales” and strive to improve the efficiency of asset turnover
through measures such as refining management, optimizing
production processes and strengthening sales strategies,
so as to release more operating cash flow as the business
develops and to control the impact of depreciation on net
profit in financial terms.

Optimize capital structure and increase
shareholder returns by strengthening product
positioning, and balancing innovation, scale and
efficiency

With the gradual recovery of the business, the Group
will deepen its market insights and keep its finger on the
pulse in terms of product positioning, and strengthening
the introduction of high value-added products. In addition,
the Group will place greater emphasis on the balance
amongst product R&D and innovation, production scale,
and efficiency in order to improve management and
operational efficiency. While conducting R&D of pioneering
and innovative products, the Group will rapidly integrate
the results of innovation into high-efficiency large-scale
production. At the same time, the Group will make full use
of the advantages of automated and intelligent production of
the plants in Vietnam and China, and optimize the existing
management structure, aiming to reduce manpower by
20% based on the same production value of the Group
to improve the personnel productivity, ultimately allowing
innovation advantages to be better reflected in gross profit
margin growth.

The Group hopes to further increase the level of operating
profit and cash flow in the future through the efforts
above, thereby laying a solid financial foundation for the
optimization of its capital structure. The Group will strive
to reduce its debt over Fiscal 2026-2028, with the aim of
lowering its net gearing ratio to a healthy level, in order to
optimize its financial position and generate better returns for
shareholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Deepen deployment in the PRC market and drive
business development of VS China

In view of the core position of the PRC market, the Group
will further deepen its collaboration with VS China to drive
its business development in all aspects through measures
such as optimizing operational processes, developing
differentiated products and enhancing brand image.

Taking advantage of the unique e-commerce environment
in China, the best-selling products developed by the Group
for VS China can be quickly tested and optimized to provide
timely product reference for the international market.
Currently, several products developed for the PRC market
have been successfully introduced to overseas markets,
opening up new growth opportunities for the Group's IDM
business.

Committed to sustainable development and in
solidarity with all stakeholders for a better future
Regina Miracle has always recognized environmental,
social and governance (ESG) as a core element of its
development. By establishing a comprehensive governance
framework of “leadership — decision-making — execution”,
it has continued to improve the efficiency of ESG decision-
making and implementation, actively promote sustainable
development strategies, and integrate environmental
and social responsibility into every aspect of the Group's
management.

Over the past year, the Group has achieved remarkable
results in carbon reduction, waste management, innovative
development, talent nurturing and community engagement.
Notably, the first phase of construction of its new production
base in Zhaoging has been awarded LEED (Leadership
in Energy and Environmental Design) Gold certification,
which not only demonstrates the Group’'s commitment
to sustainability, but also to meeting the expectations
of international brands for green production. In addition,
the Group has secured a position among the “Top 100
Sustainable Businesses in Vietnam” (MiE A5 E R D%
1003&) for the third consecutive year and has been included
in the “Top 10 Sustainable Businesses in the Manufacturing
Sector” (RUEZEMBR|I+AAIHEBEEREZE) and “Top b
Pioneering Businesses in Adopting and Promoting Diversity,
Equality and Inclusion Values in 2023" (&3 %70k ~ A&
BREEB T AR %2023) lists for the first time, which is
the best recognition of its continuous efforts.
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To echo the goal of limiting global warming to 1.5 degrees
Celsius proposed under the Paris Agreement, the Group
plans to submit science-based emission reduction targets
to the Science Based Targets initiative in Fiscal 2025,
and will install solar power generation facility at its Hung
Yen factory in Vietnam, Haiphong C factory (Phase Il) and
Zhaoging production base to further promote the use of
clean energy. The Group looks forward to joining hands with
all stakeholders to create a better future.

Conclusion

After two years of tough market challenges, the Group believes
that the most difficult period is now behind us. While Regina
Miracle has spared no efforts in overcoming the challenges, it has
taken the opportunity to make profound strategic adjustments
and business optimizations. The Group will continue to strengthen
its market positions in its two core businesses, namely intimate
wear and sports products, and leverage its unique craftsmanship
to actively expand its bonding apparel business This will allow the
Group to achieve stable, sustainable and diversified growth in its
core businesses.

As the Group's key pivot, the Zhaoging production base will
facilitate the Group to deepen its presence in the PRC market and
accelerate the development of VS China’s business by leveraging
its advantages in modern, top-tier and sustainable positioning.
With the gradual recovery of the Group’s business and the
expansion of new product categories, the Group is confident
about its future growth. Regina Miracle will continue to adhere to
the development philosophy of innovation, speed and quality, and
create greater and more sustainable value for all stakeholders.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. HUNG Yau Lit (3t# ) (also known as YY Hung (#t/5725)),
aged 61, is the founder of the Group and has been a Director of
the Company since its incorporation on 21 September 2010. He
is also the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, the chairman
of the nomination committee and a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company. He is primarily responsible for
formulating the overall development strategies and business plans
and overseeing the operations of the Group. With over 24 years of
experience in the intimate wear manufacturing industry, Mr. Hung
has been the key driver of the Group's business strategies and
achievements to date and continues to oversee the management
of its operations and business. Mr. Hung is also a director of each
of the BVI, PRC and Hong Kong subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Hung has been the executive vice president of Shenzhen
Underwear Association (OFRIITRKITERHE) since 2012,
the president of Shenzhen Guangming New District Charity
Association (FYI|ITHXEAFIEZEZE) since January 2015 and a
council member of South China Athletic Association (FIZEERE
). Mr. Hung received the Young Industrialist Awards of Hong
Kong 2007 from the Federation of Hong Kong Industries. He
was selected as one of the “2023 Greater Bay Area Best 30 ESG
Entrepreneurs” by Forbes China.

Mr. Hung is the uncle of Ms. Sze Shui Ling, senior management
and executive Director of the Company. Mr. Yiu Ka So, senior
management of the Company, is a cousin of Mrs. Hung.

Mr. YIU Kar Chun Antony (#k%88), aged 48, was appointed as
an executive Director of the Company on 22 June 2015. Mr. Yiu
joined the Group as a financial controller on 17 June 2002 and
was promoted to the Chief Financial Officer of the Group in 2005.
Mr. Yiu is primarily responsible for overseeing the overall financial
management, internal control, legal and compliance matters of the
Group. He also serves as a director in a number of the Company’s
subsidiaries. Mr. Yiu has over 26 years of experience in financial
management. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yiu worked at
PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong Kong from August 1998 to June
2002 and held the position of senior consultant from July 2000 to
June 2002. Mr. Yiu graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University with a first class honors degree of bachelor of arts in
accountancy in November 1998. He is a fellow of Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, a fellow of Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow of the Hong Kong
Institute of Directors. Mr. Yiu is a cousin of Mr. Yiu Ka So, senior
management of the Company.
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Mr. LIU Zhenqgiang (2IZ5), aged 49, was appointed as an
executive Director of the Company on 22 June 2015 and has
been the chief research and development and design officer of
Regina Miracle Intimate Apparel (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd since April
2008. He is primarily responsible for product design, research
and development management of the Group. He also serves as
a director in a number of the Company’s subsidiaries. Mr. Liu
joined the previous bra processing facilities in February 1999 and
held the positions as manager of the research and development
department from February 1999 to September 2003 and chief
research and development and design officer from September
2003 to April 2008. From August 1998 to February 1999, Mr. Liu
served as a supervisor of quality assurance department at Shun
Cheong Factory for shoulder pads manufacturing. He has over
24 years of experience in intimate wear design and research and
development management and contributed in a number of utility
model patents and invention patents on intimate wear design.
Mr. Liu graduated from Wuxi College of Light Industry (58 T
KE) (later renamed as Jiangnan University ((TEA22)) majoring
in textile design in June 1998 and a degree of executive master
of business administration from Cheung Kong Graduate School of
Business (KT ZF%) in September 2013.

Mr. CHEN Zhiping (BRE¥), aged 47, was appointed as an
executive Director of the Company and the Chief Operating
Officer of the Group on 22 June 2015 and 30 November 2015
respectively. He is also the chairman of the environmental, social
and governance committee of the Company. He has been the
general manager of Regina Miracle Intimate Apparel (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd ("RMIA Shenzhen"”) since April 2008. He is primarily
responsible for production management of the Group. He is also
a director of both RMIA Shenzhen and Regina Miracle (Shenzhen)
Ltd. Mr. Chen joined the previous bra processing facilities in
October 2000 and held the following positions: production
supervisor from October 2000 to June 2001, production manager
from June 2001 to September 2003, senior production manager
from September 2003 to June 2006 and general manager from
June 2006 to April 2008. He has over 22 years of experience in
intimate wear manufacture management. Mr. Chen obtained
a bachelor degree in shipbuilding engineering from East China
Shipbuilding Institute (FEE A T E0%) (later renamed as
Jiangsu University of Science and Technology (T# R K
£)) in July 1999 and a degree of executive master of business
administration from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business
(R)IPHEFP7) in September 2013. Mr. Chen is the Committee
Member of the 11th Chinese People's Political Consultative
Conference of Zhaoging.
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Ms. SZE Shui Ling (#E5&1%), aged 52, was appointed as an
executive Director of the Company on 22 June 2015 and is a
member of the environmental, social and governance committee
of the Company. She has been the sales and marketing director
of Regina Miracle International Limited since 24 June 1999 and
Regina Miracle International (Group) Limited since 18 September
2006. She is responsible for the sales and marketing affairs of the
Group. Ms. Sze has over 25 years of experience in the sales and
marketing of intimate wear. She is also a director of a number
of the Company’s subsidiaries. Ms. Sze holds a certificate in
tourism management program in Camosun College in Canada in
December 1996. Ms. Sze is the niece of Mr. Hung.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. OR Ching Fai (#;5#), aged 74, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 11
September 2015 and is the chairman of the audit committee and a
member of the environmental, social and governance committee
of the Company. Dr. Or is primarily responsible for providing
strategic advice and guidance on the business development of the
Group.

Dr. Or received a bachelor of social sciences degree in economics
and psychology from the University of Hong Kong in July 1972
before joining The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation
Limited as a management trainee. Dr. Or worked in a variety of
positions in personnel, securities, retail and corporate banking
divisions. Dr. Or was appointed as general manager and group
general manager in 2000 and became an executive director in
2005. Dr. Or was then appointed as vice-chairman and chief
executive of Hang Seng Bank Limited (184 R1THR AT, a
banking company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited ("Hong Kong Stock Exchange”), in 2005 and retired in
May 2009.
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Dr. Or holds the following positions in companies listed on the TAIE TR BB LA A SEE T8
Hong Kong Stock Exchange: A7 :

Company and its Principal Business

Stock Exchange Position

DERHEFTRER "HER 5T B

Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited Hong Kong Stock Independent non-executive
(AXEBHKELB AR AR, ajewellery company Exchange director
AXRBHRESEERAR - A—HKEQT BB AP BUIFHITES

CSC Holdings Limited (R EANZRER A A) Hong Kong Stock Chairman and non-executive

(formerly known as China Strategic Holdings Exchange director
Limited (FEEEEHR A R), an investment and
metal trading company

RERERIERBER AT (AT REBERAR]) BB AP FRFIENITES

REREREBEERA

Playmates Holdings Limited (%2 2 £ B HR A 7)),
a property investment and toy marketing company

Dr. Or has been appointed as independent non-executive director
of Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited in
December 2018. He ceased to act as non-executive chairman and
non-executive director of Esprit Holdings Limited on 1 January
2021, ceased to act as independent non-executive director of
Television Broadcasts Limited on 1 January 2020 and ceased
to act as independent non-executive director of Industrial and
Commercial Bank of China Limited on 31 October 2018. He was
the vice-chairman and independent non-executive director of
G-Resources Group Limited until his retirement on 30 June 2017.
He was also an independent non-executive director of Hutchison
Whampoa Limited (FIs2 &1 AR A 7)) and Cathay Pacific Airways
Limited (BEIZ=MZ= AR A 7)), from February 2000 to May 2009
respectively. All these companies are listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. Dr. Or was the deputy chairman and non-
executive director of Aquis Entertainment Limited, a company
listed on the Australian Securities Exchange, until his retirement
on 31 December 2017.

Hong Kong Stock
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Dr. Or is a vice patron of the board of the Community Chest
of Hong Kong. He was also the chairman of the Hong Kong
Association of Banks in 2000 and 2003 and was vice chairman
of the Hong Kong Association of Banks in 2001, 2002, 2004 and
2005. He was also the chairman of the Financial Services Advisory
Committee and a member of the Services Promotion Programme
Committee of the Hong Kong Trade Development Council. He
was a member of the Risk Management Committee of the Hong
Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited, vice president and a
council member of the Hong Kong Institute of Bankers, a member
of the Aviation Development Advisory Committee, the chairman
of Executive and Campaign Committee of the Community Chest
of Hong Kong, the deputy council chairman of the Council of City
University of Hong Kong, a council member of the University of
Hong Kong, an adviser of the Employers’ Federation of Hong
Kong and a member of the Planning Committee of the 5th East
Asian Games.

Dr. Or was awarded a Silver Bauhinia Star from the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region and Honorary University Fellow
from the University of Hong Kong in 2009. He was conferred an
Honorary Doctor of Social Science by the City University of Hong
Kong and an Honorary Fellowship by Hang Seng Management
College in November 2014 and May 2017 respectively. Dr. Or is a
Justice of the Peace.

Mrs. TO WONG Wing Yue Annie (F8E ki), aged 68, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the
Company on 11 September 2015 and is primarily responsible
for providing strategic advice and guidance on the business
development of the Group. She is also a member of the audit
committee, the nomination committee and the chairman of the
remuneration committee of the Company. Mrs. To has extensive
experience in the garments trading industry. Prior to joining the
Group, Mrs. To was employed by Mast Industries (Far East)
Limited, the sourcing arm of LBrands, as the president from
January 2007 to May 2013 and the executive vice president from
September 1996 to December 2006. From April 1995 to August
1996, she served as a director of Li & Fung (Trading) Ltd., a
Hong Kong based global sourcing company. From January 1991
to February 1995, Mrs. To was the executive vice-president of
Bonaventure Textiles Limited, a garment manufacturing company.
From June 1979 to December 1990, Mrs. To held various
positions from executive trainee to assistant managing director of
Swire and MacLaine Limited, the trading division of John Swire &
Sons Limited. Mrs. To obtained a bachelor degree of arts from the
University of Hong Kong in November 1979.
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Ms. TAM Laiman (FBEX), aged 71, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 11
September 2015 and is primarily responsible for providing
strategic advice and guidance on the business development of
the Group. She is also a member of the audit committee, the
remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the
Company. Ms. Tam has extensive management experience
in the consumer products marketing, distribution and retailing
industry. Ms. Tam retired from the office either as a manager
or an executive director of the following six group companies in
Swire Pacific Limited on 1 October 2018: SRM Holdings, Inc., a
holding company of brands investment; United Sheen Limited,
a holding company of brands investment; Columbia Sportswear
Commercial (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (S fmtt e EERERE (H8) B
fR/A 7)), a sales and distribution company of branded outdoor and
sports clothing and footwear; SCCH Limited, a holding company
of brands investment; Swire Brands Limited, a holding company
of consumer brands investment, and Swire Industrial Limited, an
investment holding company in cold storage, waste management,
environmental services, painting and sugar businesses, and
distribution and sales of motor vehicles in PRC and Hong Kong.

From January 1990 to July 2013, Ms. Tam served the positions
as managing director, director and general manager of Swire
Resources Limited, a marketing, distribution and retail company of
branded clothing and footwear product, where she was primarily
responsible for the company’s overall development and operation.
From October 1987 to December 1989, Ms. Tam was the general
manager in charge of the overall operation of Reebok Hong
Kong Ltd., a sports brand company of clothing and footwear.
From December 1983 to May 1987, Ms. Tam worked at Plough
Consumer Products (Asia) Ltd., a consumer products marketing
and distribution company, as the regional marketing manager
responsible for the Southeast Asia market. From May 1978 to
November 1983, Ms. Tam worked at the group companies of
Fung Ping Fan Group, a diversified company involving in consumer
brands distribution and real estate businesses.

Ms. Tam obtained a bachelor degree in administration from
University of Ottawa in May 1976. Ms. Tam has been an
executive committee member of Benji's Centre (fEERZEH
I[») and the vice chairman of the supervisory board of Macao
International Brand Enterprise Commercial Association (8 P9
mhE ) since 2009.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. YIU Ka So (#khnEE), aged 50, has been the general manager
of operation of the Group since he joined the Group on 3 March
2004. He is primarily responsible for operations management of
the Group. Mr. Yiu is also the vice chairman of RMIA Shenzhen,
a director of RM Shenzhen, the legal representative and general
director of Regina Miracle International (Vietnam) Co., Ltd and of
Regina Miracle International Hung Yen Co., Ltd. Mr. Yiu has over
19 years of experience in enterprise and operations management.
Mr. Yiu served at Beijing Energy International Holding Co., Ltd.
(formerly known as Goldpoly New Energy Holdings Limited), a
solar company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, as an
executive director from October 2010 to December 2013. Mr. Yiu
obtained a bachelor degree in engineering and a master degree
of science in civil engineering, both from the University of Hong
Kong, in December 1997 and November 2001, respectively. Mr.
Yiu is a cousin of Mr. Yiu Kar Chun Antony and Mrs. Hung.

Ms. AU, Wai Ting Jennifer (E£1}%), aged 38, is the Investor
Relations & Strategic Development Director of the Group. She
joined the Group in May 2016 and is primarily responsible for
overseeing and managing the Group’s investor relations function
as well as involving in the development of corporate strategy,
and business development. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Au
specialized in equity research covering consumer discretionary
sector at Morgan Stanley Asia Limited and Mizuho Securities Asia
Limited, as well as risk advisory at Ernst & Young Global Services
in Hong Kong.

Ms. Au holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Finance and
Accounting of the New York University Leonard N. Stern School
of Business. She has been a CFA charterholder since March 2015.

Ms. LEUNG, Mai Ling Connie ($3%1%), aged 58, has been the
general manager of business division of the Group since she
joined the Group on 3 September 2003. She is responsible for
sales management of the Group. Ms. Leung has over 32 years of
experience in the clothing industry, of which over 20 years in the
intimate wear manufacturing industry. Prior to joining the Group,
Ms. Leung worked at PLH Fashion Group, a trading company,
as a divisional manager primarily responsible for merchandising
and management from November 2002 to September 2003.
From 1995 to 2002, Ms. Leung worked at Mast Industries (Far
East) Limited, a garments and accessories trading company, as
a merchandising manager and regional merchandising manager,
where she was primarily responsible for the regional market
management. From October 1993 to June 1995, she served as a
sourcing manager in charge of material sourcing, purchasing and
development in Lion-Redcliffe & Company Limited, an embroidery
manufacturer. In addition, Ms. Leung served as an assistant
merchandiser overseeing sample development, production and
shipment in Texunion Garment Co., Ltd., a garment manufacturer,
from July 1985 to June 1986.
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Ms. Leung obtained a diploma in clothing in Hong Kong Vocational
Training Council in July 1985, a national diploma in clothing in
Hong Kong Business and Technical Education Council in March
1986, a diploma in clothing design and production management
from the Clothing and Footwear Institute in 1993. Ms. Leung
completed the modular post-graduate diplomas in textile and
clothing and clothing studies in October 1995 and November
1996, respectively, and obtained a master of arts degree in
clothing studies from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
December 1999.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. LAW Kwan Chuen (ZE#9%), aged 45, joined the Group on
15 December 2011 as our group financial controller and was
appointed as company secretary of the Company on 22 June
2015. He is primarily responsible for financial reporting, corporate
finance and company secretarial matters of the Group. Mr. Law has
approximately 23 years of experience in auditing, financial reporting
and corporate finance. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Law worked at
PricewaterhouseCoopers from October 2004 to December 2011 with
the last position as manager. From July 2001 to October 2004, he
worked at Moore Stephens as an auditor.

Mr. Law obtained a bachelor degree of business administration
majoring in professional accountancy from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong (BB H X AKZ) in November 2001. He has been an
associate member of The Chartered Governance Institute since
February 2004 and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute
since September 2004. Mr. Law has also been a Chartered Financial
Analyst (“CFA") charterholder of the CFA Institute since September
2006, a fellow member of Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants since July 2009 and a fellow member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since September 2014.
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The Board is pleased to present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31
March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year by operating
segment is set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 are
set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 92 to 93
of this annual report.

The Board has recommended to pay to the shareholders of the
Company a final dividend of HK2.2 cents per share for the year
ended 31 March 2024. Subject to the approval of the proposed
final dividend by the shareholders of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on Wednesday, 11
September 2024, the final dividend is expected to be paid on or
about Wednesday, 2 October 2024.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR
ENTITLEMENT TO ATTEND AND VOTE AT
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

For the purpose of determining the shareholders’ eligibility to
attend and vote at the annual general meeting, the register
of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 5
September 2024 to Wednesday, 11 September 2024, both days
inclusive. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the annual
general meeting, shareholders should ensure that all properly
completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company's
Hong Kong branch share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later
than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on Wednesday, 4 September
2024. The annual general meeting of the Company will be held on
Wednesday, 11 September 2024.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR
ENTITLEMENT TO FINAL DIVIDEND

For the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement for
the final dividend, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Tuesday, 17 September 2024 to Friday, 20
September 2024, both days inclusive. To qualify for the final
dividend, shareholders should ensure that all properly completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged for registration with the Company’'s Hong Kong
branch share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30
m. (Hong Kong time) on Monday, 16 September 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a
discussion on the Group's future business development are set
out in the Chairman’s Statement as well as the Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 6 to 11 and pages 12 to 32
of this annual report respectively. Discussions on the Group's
relationships with its key stakeholders are also set out in the
Chairman’s Statement on pages 6 to 11 of this annual report.
An analysis of the Group's performance during the year using
financial key performance indicators is set out in the Group's
Financial Information Summary on page 192 of this annual report.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five years ended 31 March 2024
are set on page 192 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company are
set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and
the Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and note 24 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2024, the reserves of the Company available for
distribution to the shareholders of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$1,774.1 million (2023: HK$1,838.6 million).

DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year ended 31
March 2024 amounted to HK$1.0 million (2023: HK$0.4 million).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis
to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities for the
year ended 31 March 2024.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The shareholders of the Company approved and adopted a share
option scheme on 11 September 2015 (the “Share Option
Scheme”) to enable the Company to grant options to eligible
participants as incentives and rewards for their contribution to the
Group. The Share Option Scheme took effect on 8 October 2015
(the listing date of the Company), and no option has been granted
up to the date of this report.
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The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share
Option Scheme:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

44

Who may participate

Subject to the terms of Share Option Scheme, the Board
(including any committee or delegate of the Board appointed
by the Board to perform any of its functions pursuant to
the rules of the Share Option Scheme) may, at its absolute
discretion, offer to grant an option to subscribe for such
number of shares of the Company (“Shares”) as the Board
may determine to an employee (whether full time or part-
time) or a director of a member of the Group (the “Eligible
Person”).

Maximum number of Shares in respect of which
options maybe granted

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any options granted under any other share
option scheme must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue as at the listing date of the
Company unless the Company obtains a fresh approval.

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Person
Unless approved by the shareholders of the Company in
the general meeting in the manner prescribed in the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), the maximum
number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted and to be granted to each Eligible
Person under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Company (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month period
shall not at the time of grant exceed 1% of the shares in
issue.

Acceptance of an offer of options

An offer of options under the Share Option Scheme shall
be open for acceptance for such period (not exceeding 30
days inclusive of, and from, the date of offer) as the Board
may determine and notify to the Eligible Persons concerned
provided that no such offer shall be open for acceptance
after the expiry of the duration of the Share Option Scheme.
An offer of options not accepted within this period shall
lapse. An amount of HK$1.00 is payable upon acceptance
of the grant of an option and such payment shall not be
refundable and shall not be deemed to be a part payment of
the exercise price.
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(e)

(f)

(9)

Exercise Price

The exercise price shall be such price as determined by the
Board and notified to an option-holder and which shall not be
less than the higher of: (i) the closing price of the Shares on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange as stated in the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets on the date of offer
of the option; (i) the average closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding the
date of offer of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Shares.

Time for Exercise of options

An option may be exercised at any time during the period
which is notified by the Board at the offer date when making
an offer to an Eligible Person but such period not to exceed
the period of 10 years from the offer date of such option.

Duration of Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for
a period of ten years commencing on the listing date of
the Company, after which period no further options will be
granted but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme
shall remain in full force and effect to the extent necessary
to give effect to the exercise of any options granted prior
thereto which are at that time or become thereafter capable
of exercise under the rules of the Share Option Scheme, or
otherwise to the extent as may be required in accordance
with the provisions of the Share Option Scheme.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March
2024 are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, sales to the Group's
five largest customers accounted for approximately 47.7%
of the Group's total sales for the year (of which sales to the
Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately 16.5%).
Purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 39.7% of the Group’s total purchases for the year
(of which purchases attributable to the largest supplier accounted
for approximately 20.9%).

None of the Directors or any of their respective associates or
any shareholder which to the best knowledge of the Directors,
who own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital,
had any interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers or
suppliers during the year ended 31 March 2024.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group participated in various retirement benefit schemes in
accordance with the relevant rules and regulations in PRC and
Hong Kong. Particulars of the retirement benefit schemes are set
out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the
date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. HUNG Yau Lit (also known as YY Hung)
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. YIU Kar Chun Antony (Chief Financial Officer)

Mr. LIU Zhengiang

Mr. CHEN Zhiping (Chief Operating Officer)

Ms. SZE Shui Ling

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. OR Ching Fai

Mrs. TO WONG Wing Yue Annie

Ms. TAM Laiman

In the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, Mr.
Hung Yau Lit (also known as YY Hung), Mr. Yiu Kar Chun Antony
and Mr. Liu Zhengiang will retire as Directors in accordance
with Article 84 of the second amended and restated Articles of
Association of the Company (“Articles of Association”) and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.
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DIRECTORS’, SENIOR MANAGEMENT’'S AND
COMPANY SECRETARY’S PROFILE

Profile details of the Directors of the Company, the senior
management and company secretary of the Group are set out on
pages 33 to 40 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a term of three years commencing from 11
September 2021.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 11 September 2021.

These service contracts and letters of appointment are subject
to termination in accordance with their respective terms. The
terms of service contracts and the letters of appointment may be
renewed in accordance with the Articles of Association and the
applicable rules of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, no Director proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees, including the Directors,
on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence. Our
employees are subject to regular job performance reviews
which determine their promotion prospects and compensation.
Subject to the Group's profitability, the Group may also provide
discretionary bonuses to its employees as an incentive for their
contribution to the Group.

The directors’ remuneration policy of the Company is built upon
the principles of providing equitable and market-competitive
remuneration package that support the performance culture and
enable the achievement of strategic business goals, to ensure that
there is an appropriate level of remuneration to attract and retain
experienced people of high calibre to oversee the Company'’s
business and development.

The Company has adopted share option scheme as an incentive
to the Directors and eligible employees.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”), pursuant to which the Company may distribute
dividends to its shareholders by way of cash or by other means
that the Company considers appropriate. The recommendation of
the payment of any dividend is subject to the absolute discretion
of the Board, and any declaration of final dividend will be subject
to the approval of the shareholders.

The Board will review the Dividend Policy from time to time in
light of the following factors in determining whether dividends are
to be declared and paid:

° Results of operations of the Company;

o Cash flows of the Company;

° Financial condition of the Company;

o Shareholders’ interests of the Company;

° General business conditions and strategies of the Company;

° Capital requirements of the Company;

° The payment by subsidiaries of the Company of cash
dividends to the Company; and

° Other factors the Board may deem relevant.
MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March
2024.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of assets of the Company against
all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in
relation thereto.
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DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTEREST IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS

Save as the related party transactions as disclosed in note 32 to
the consolidated financial statements, no Director and/or any of
his/her connected entity had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party subsisted at the end of the year or at
anytime during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(1)

Each of Le Ying Trading (Hong Kong) Limited (“Le Ying
(HK)") and Le Ying Trading Limited (“Le Ying”, together
with its subsidiaries collectively, the “Le Ying Group") is
a company wholly-owned by Mr. Hung Yau Lit (also known
as YY Hung), a controlling shareholder and an executive
Director of the Company, and is therefore a connected
person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

In view of the expiry of previous agreements, on 31 March
2021, the Company entered into an agreement with Le
Ying (HK), effective from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2024, to
regulate the sales of intimate wear and sport wear products
from the Company to Le Ying (HK) (the “2021 Le Ying Sales
Agreement”). Under the 2021 Le Ying Sales Agreement,
price of the sales of intimate wear and sport wear products
by the Company to Le Ying (HK) and its subsidiaries shall be
determined on an arm’s length basis with reference to (1)
the cost of production and the expected gross profit margin,
(2) the average selling price of the products of comparable
nature and scale and accepted by an independent third
party in the twelve-month period prior to the relevant
transaction, (3) where there is no such average selling price
available, any most recent available sale price of products
of comparable nature and scale offered by the Group and
accepted by an independent third party, the latest available
market data, and (4) the prevailing market price for the sale
of products of comparable nature and scale, which should
be in any event no less favorable to the Group than is
available to independent third parties.
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In view of the expiry of the 2021 Le Ying Sales Agreement,
on 25 March 2024, the Company entered into a new
sales agreement with Le Ying (the “2024 Le Ying Sales
Agreement”) with effective date on 1 April 2024, pursuant
to which the Company agreed to supply and procure its
subsidiaries to supply to Le Ying Group intimate wear
products and sport wear products for a term of three years
expiring on 31 March 2027. The price determination terms
are the same as the 2021 Le Ying Sales Agreement and
were determined on an arm’s length basis.

The 2024 Le Ying Sales Agreement became effective on 1
April 2024 and is valid until either (i) the expiry of a term on
31 March 2027 or (i) the date on which Le Ying ceases to
be the connected person of the Company, whichever comes
earlier. The parties to the 2024 Le Ying Sales Agreement
may negotiate to extend the agreement for a further term
of three years within two months before the expiry of the
three-year term of the agreement unless the agreement
is terminated due to Le Ying ceasing to be the connected
person of the Company.

The proposed annual cap for aggregate annual purchase
amount payable to the Group for the years ending 31 March
2025, 2026 and 2027 will be HK$60.0 million, HK$80.0
million, and HK$100.0 million, respectively. Details of
the 2024 Le Ying Sales Agreement were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 25 March 2024.

During the year, the annual cap for revenue from sales to Le
Ying (HK) for Fiscal 2024 was HK$100.0 million. The actual
transaction amount for Fiscal 2024 with Le Ying (HK) was
HK$35.9 million and the annual cap has been kept.

The transactions contemplated under the 2024 Le Ying
Sales Agreement also constitute related party transaction of
the Company under HKFRS, details of which are set out in
note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Red Star Shun Cheong Shoulder Pad Factory (Shenzhen)
Limited (“Shun Cheong”) is indirectly wholly-owned by
Mr. Hung Yau Lit (also known as YY Hung), a controlling
shareholder and an executive Director of the Company, and
is therefore a connected person of the Company under the
Listing Rules.

In view of the expiry of previous agreements, on 30
March 2023, Shun Cheong entered into a property leasing
agreement (the “2023 Property Leasing Agreement”),
effective from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024, with Regina
Miracle Intimate Apparel (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. ("RMIA
Shenzhen"), an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, pursuant to which Shun Cheong agreed
to lease RMIA Shenzhen the building located at Redstar
Community, Yutang Subdistrict Office of Shenzhen
Guangming District, Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, PRC
(the “Redstar Premises”) for a term of 12 months. Under
the Property Leasing Agreement, the rent was determined
after arm’s length negotiation between Shun Cheong and
RMIA Shenzhen with reference to the prevailing market
conditions.

In view of the expiry of the 2023 Property Leasing
Agreement, on 25 March 2024, Shun Cheong entered into a
new property leasing agreement with RMIA Shenzhen (the
“2024 Property Leasing Agreement”), with effective date
on 1 April 2024, pursuant to which Shun Cheong agreed to
lease RMIA Shenzhen the Redstar Premises for a term of 12
months expiring on 31 March 2025. The price determination
terms are the same as the 2023 Property Leasing
Agreement and were determined on an arm’s length basis.

The 2024 Property Leasing Agreement became effective
on 1 April 2024 and is valid until either (i) the expiry of a
period of 12 months or (i) RMIA Shenzhen may terminate
the agreement before the expiry of its term by giving a six
months’ notice to Shun Cheong. RMIA Shenzhen may,
by giving Shun Cheong a three months’ notice before the
expiry of the agreement, request for the renewal of the
lease.
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The rent paid by RMIA Shenzhen to Shun Cheong under
the 2023 Property Leasing Agreement for Fiscal 2024 was
RMB22.7 million (equivalent to approximately HK$25.1
million.) The rent payable by RMIA Shenzhen to Shun
Cheong under the 2024 Property Leasing Agreement
for the year ending 31 March 2025 is RMB22.7 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$25.1 million). Details of
the 2024 Property Leasing Agreement were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 25 March 2024.

The transactions contemplated under the 2024 Property
Leasing Agreement also constitute related party transaction
of the Company under HKFRS, details of which are set out
in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

Float Limited (“Float”) is a limited company incorporated
in Hong Kong, wholly-owned by Ms. Hung Cheuk Man,
daughter of Mr. Hung Yau Lit (also known as YY Hung), a
controlling shareholder and an executive Director of the
Company, and is therefore a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules.

On 27 March 2020, the Company entered into an agreement
(the “Float Sales Agreement”), effective from 1 April
2020 to 31 March 2023, with Float, pursuant to which the
Company agreed to supply and procure its subsidiaries to
supply to Float intimate wear and sportswear products for a
term of three years. Under the Float Sales Agreement, the
price of the sales of intimate wear and sportswear products
by the Company to Float shall be determined on an arm’s
length basis with reference to (1) the cost of production and
the expected gross profit margin, (2) the average selling
price of the products of comparable nature and scale and
accepted by an independent third party in the twelve-month
period prior to the relevant transaction, (3) where there is
no such average selling price available, any most recent
available selling price of products of comparable nature and
scale offered by the Group and accepted by an independent
third party with reference to the latest available market data,
and (4) the prevailing market price for the sale of products
of comparable nature and scale, which should be in any
event no less favorable to the Group than is available to
independent third parties.
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In view of the expiry of the Float Sales Agreement, on
30 March 2023, the Company entered into a new sales
agreement with Float (the “2023 Float Sales Agreement”),
with effective date on 1 April 2023, pursuant to which the
Company agreed to supply and procure its subsidiaries to
supply Float intimate wear and sportswear products for
a term of 3 years expiring on 31 March 2026. The price
determination terms are the same as the Float Sales
Agreement and were determined on an arm'’s length basis.

The 2023 Float Sales Agreement became effective on 1
April 2023 and is valid until 31 March 2026. The parties to
2023 Float Sales Agreement may negotiate to extend the
agreement for a further term of three years within two
months before the expiry of the three-year term of the
agreement.

The proposed annual cap for the amount payable by Float
to the Group for the years ending 31 March 2024, 2025
and 2026 is HK$20.0 million, HK$25.0 million and HK$30.0
million, respectively. The actual transaction amount for Fiscal
2024 with Float was HK$6.2 million and the annual cap has
been kept. Details of the 2023 Float Sales Agreement were
set out in the announcement of the Company dated 30
March 2023.

The transactions contemplated under the 2023 Float Sales
Agreement also constitute related party transaction of the
Company under HKFRS, details of which are set out in note
32 to the consolidated financial statements.

Zhaoging Leasing Agreement — Production Premises

Regina Miracle Technology (Zhaoging) Co., Ltd. (“RM
Technology”) is indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Hung Yau
Lit (also known as YY Hung), a controlling shareholder and
an executive Director of the Company, and is therefore a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

RM Technology entered into (i) a property leasing agreement
(the 2023 RM Innovative Property Leasing Agreement”)
with Regina Miracle Innovative Technology (Zhaoging) Co.,
Ltd. (“RM Innovative"”) on 29 June 2023 and (ii) a factory
leasing agreement (the “2024 Lijing RM Factory Leasing
Agreement”) with Lijing Regina Miracle Intimate Apparel
(ZhaoQing) Co., Ltd. (“Lijing RM") on 25 March 2024. Each
of RM Innovative and Lijing RM is an indirectly wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company.

FERE2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEEHE

A Float 85 & 1% JEm + 7202343
HA308 - ANA B ELFloats] 375 4 & 17
% ([2023FFloat$y &1 ) 72023
FARVBER - Bt - ARARER
Float fH fi& 2 {2 {5 £ Fff B8 /2 & 3] Float
B S AKX RESREER - A=
F - HE2026F3A318EM ° EEIK
FEFloatif & AR - WIE A FIR
AIETE -

20234 Float i85 1#53% B 72202354 A
1HER  R—EHEBME2026F3 31
H ° 2023 Float$H E Wil 075 Al A
E=FFEEMRI M E A AEITE
AR R FAE—PER=F o

B 2202445 ~ 20254 202643 A31
HILFE © FloatfEfR AEBE N EZH
EERSES R ABE200E8ET
B 25 08T KB E30.08ET - B
202481 5 » BAFloat BB R S5 &5 B
BHe2EETL AFELR-BH
2023F Float$H E M M FIBE R AR
AIHEIA2023F3 A30HMIAE ©

2023F Float$EE 1 THH#EITHR
SRBEBMFEHREELNTERAA
AMBER RS - BEFBEHIINE
& ISR EMIFES2 -

EEREHE - LERE

HEREMER(ZRE) BRI ([#BR
ME D AR EERRRFRTES
HFE (R B RERE2ER
B Rl RIEEMRABARREN
BEAL -

B IRRIFL ()2 20234F6 A29H HE 2
REAIRR(EE)BRAR([ DR
BEl DI MERE R ([2023F 4
DIRBAIMERERE ) Ki) 12024
FIABANEBRHELEANK(EE)S
RAal((BREDRDIIVBREEE
(20245 B R EVIRBERER
B HPREZSEANEREDESH
AARNRNEEEEWNBAR -

53



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

54

Under each of (i) the 2023 RM Innovative Property Leasing
Agreement and (ii) the 2024 Lijing RM Factory Leasing
Agreement, RM Technology agreed to lease (i) floors
of 50,638 square meters of production premises (the
“Production Premises”) to RM Innovative and (ii) floors
of 104,500 square meters of the Production Premises to
Lijing RM, respectively. The rent under both agreements
was determined on the basis of arm’s length negotiation
between the parties after taking into account the market
rent and various conditions of the Production Premises
which are located at Zhaoging Industrial Park (industrial
ecological clusters), Zhaoging, Guangdong Province, PRC.

The 2023 RM Innovative Property Leasing Agreement
became effective on 1 July 2023 and is valid until either (i)
the expiry of a period of 12 months or (i) RM Innovative
may terminate the agreement before the expiry of its term
by giving a six months’ notice to RM Technology.

The 2024 Lijing RM Factory Leasing Agreement became
effective on 1 April 2024 and is valid until either (i) the expiry
of a period of 12 months or (ii) Lijing RM may terminate
the agreement before the expiry of its term by giving a six
months' notice to RM Technology. Each of RM Innovative
and Lijing RM may, by giving RM Technology a three
months’ notice before the expiry of its agreement, request
for the renewal of its respective lease.

The rent payable to RM Technology by each of (i) RM
Innovative under the 2023 RM Innovative Property
Leasing Agreement for the year ended 30 June 2024 and
(i) Lijing RM under the 2024 Lijing RM Factory Leasing
Agreement for the year ending 31 March 2025 is RMB8.0
million (equivalent to approximately HK$7.9 million) and
RMB15.0 million (equivalent to approximately HK$16.6
million), respectively. Details of each of (i) the 2023 RM
Innovative Property Leasing Agreement and (ii) the 2024
Lijing RM Factory Leasing Agreement were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 29 June 2023 and 25
March 2024, respectively.

The transactions contemplated under the 2023 RM
Innovative Property Leasing Agreement and the 2024 Lijing
RM Factory Leasing Agreement also constitute related
party transaction of the Company under HKFRS, details of
which are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Zhaoging Leasing Agreement — Living Units

Regina Miracle Investment (Zhaoging) Company Limited
("RM Investment") is indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Hung
Yau Lit (also known as YY Hung), a controlling shareholder
and an executive Director of the Company, and is therefore
a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

On 25 March 2024, RM Investment entered into a living
units leasing agreement (the “2024 Lijing RM Living Units
Leasing Agreement”) with Lijing RM, pursuant to which
Lijing RM agreed to lease 192 apartment units located at
Building 4, Poly Heyue Garden, No. 8 Yanyang Avenue,
Zhaoqing New District, Zhaoging, Guangdong Province,
PRC, with a gross floor area of approximately 20,117 square
meters, and 192 parking spaces (the “Premises”) from RM
Investment for a term of one year. The rent was determined
on the basis of arm’s length negotiation between the
parties after taking into account the market rent and various
conditions of the Premises.

The 2024 Lijing RM Living Units Leasing Agreement became
effective on 1 April 2024 and is valid until either (i) the expiry
of a period of 12 months or (ii) Lijing RM may terminate the
agreement before the expiry of its term by giving a three
months’ notice to RM Investment. Lijing RM may, by giving
RM Investment a one month's notice before the expiry of
the agreement, request for the renewal of the lease.

The rent payable by Lijing RM to RM Investment under the
2024 Lijing RM Living Units Leasing Agreement for the
year ending 31 March 2025 is RMB1.8 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$2.0 million). Details of the 2024 Lijing
RM Living Units Leasing Agreement were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 25 March 2024.

The transactions contemplated under the 2024 Lijing RM
Living Units Leasing Agreement also constitute related
party transaction of the Company under HKFRS, details of
which are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Annual Review of the Continuing Connected
Transactions

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the
transactions have been entered into:

(@) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(c) according to the agreements governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company's
auditor was engaged to perform certain procedures in respect
of the continuing connected transactions set out above in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 "Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified
letter containing its findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions.

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions which are required
to be disclosed by the Company for the year ended 31 March 2024
in accordance with the provisions concerning the disclosure of
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the material related party transactions undertaken by
the Group in its normal course of business are set out in note
32 to the consolidated financial statements. Those related party
transactions/continuing connected transactions under the Listing
Rules, which are set out in the paragraph headed “Connected
Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions” on pages
49 to 56, have complied with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at 31 March 2024, none of the Directors is interested in any
business, apart from the Group’s businesses, which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of the Group.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE THE COMPANY’S
SECURITIES AND EQUITY-LINKED
AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” above, at no time during the year was the Company, or
any of its holding companies or subsidiaries, or any of its fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or
chief executive of the Company or their respective associates (as
defined under the Listing Rules) to have any right to subscribe for
securities of the Company or any of its associated corporations
as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")
or to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, nor did
the Company enter into any equity-linked agreement.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2024, the Directors and the chief executives of
the Company had the following interests and short positions in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules were as follows:

Name of Director Nature of Interest

EEng

Hung Yau Lit (also known Beneficial owner; Interest in
as YY Hung) controlled corporation

AR (X B ) BmBEAA

SEHAE R

Yiu Kar Chun Antony Beneficial owner
S BamEAA
Liu Zhengiang Beneficial owner
2ER BEmEAA
Chen Zhiping Beneficial owner
PR BRERA
Sze Shui Ling Beneficial owner
HEREIS BERERA

M2024F3A31H - EZERARAHERITH
ABRARE REMEEEE(EELESFRY
ERBIEXVER) A REES K HAE KIS
32EEBR A AR AT HFENEZMA
SARE TR B SRCIFTE LB ITAES
EITHEFRHHIZETAESITHNE R AR
REBWHZFORG - RN RERE
MRS AR

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in

Number of the Company
Shares (%)
IHARA T RE
i E N
R EE (ADL)
836,023,000 68.29%
(Long position)
(Note)
(FE)
(PEE)
305,000 0.02%
(Long position)
(5F7)
200,000 0.02%
(Long position)
(&)
200,000 0.02%
(Long position)
(#F &)
200,000 0.02%
(Long position)
(% E)

Note: Amongst these 836,023,000 shares, 648,000,000 shares are beneficially
owned by Regent Marvel Investment Holdings Limited which is wholly
owned by Mr. Hung Yau Lit (also known as YY Hung). By virtue of the
SFO, Mr. Hung is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Regent
Marvel Investment Holdings Limited. Mr. Hung is also the beneficial
owner of 188,023,000 shares.

Bf5F : 7E 7% 836,023,000 i i% 15 &+ 648,000,000 %
% 17 B Regent Marvel Investment Holdings
Limited (LM E (X BANE) c £ EH
BIERHEAR - BEIZHFRAEGRE - HEE
113 A Regent Marvel Investment Holdings
Limited T A BRI R B A o HELETAR
188,023,000l I E &= A A °
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE

COMPANY

As at 31 March 2024, according to the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO and so far as
is known to the Directors, the following persons or corporations
(other than the Directors or the chief executives of the Company)
had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the

SFO:

Name of Shareholder

g

Regent Marvel Investment
Holdings Limited

Choy King Ngor
B

Hui Ching Lau

ThiE 2
ELF/ﬁ i

King Terrace Limited

Yiheng Capital, LLC

Nature of Interest

ERME
Beneficial Owner
BEmEA A

Interest of spouse

[t e

Interest in controlled
corporation
Ry EE R

Beneficial Owner

EEHEBA

Beneficial Owner

EEHEBA

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEEHE

R2024F3A318  REFEHFLBAEKLIE
BKRARRATFHFENELM  RESEA
IERESBATA - THALTTEB(ESHAR
Al EITEA BBRIN) RAR RIH AR5 K& A8
BARR 1D R B IR IR B H M E KA EXVED S
2 %35 ERRUE SRR AR 2 B 48 5 AR 2 B4

B

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in

Number of the Company
Shares (%)
hAR AT B RE
N
RGEE (ADLL)
648,000,000 (L) 52.93%
(Note 1)
(P&
836,023,000 (L) 68.29%
(Note 2)
(Pi&E2)
98,419,000 (L) 8.04%
(Note 3)
(PI&E3)
98,419,000 (L) 8.04%
(Note 3)
(PI&E3)
99,056,280 (L) 8.10%

L — Long Position
S — Short Position

» -
|

S
o m
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EEEHE

Notes:

1. Regent Marvel Investment Holdings Limited is beneficially and wholly
owned by Mr. Hung Yau Lit (also known as YY Hung). By virtue of the
SFO, Mr. Hung is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Regent
Marvel Investment Holdings Limited.

2. Ms. Choy King Ngor is the wife of Mr. Hung Yau Lit (also known as YY
Hung) and is deemed to be interested in the shares which are interested
by Mr. Hung under Part XV of the SFO.

3. King Terrace Limited is beneficially and wholly owned by Mr. Hui Ching
Lau. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Hui is deemed to be interested in the
shares held by King Terrace Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the Directors
were not aware that there is any other party (not being a Director
or chief executive of the Company) who, as at the date of this
annual report, had an interest or short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company, which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO or recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, there has been
sufficient public float of more than 25% of the Company's issued
shares up to the date of this report as required under the Listing
Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” section on
pages 62 to 83 of this annual report.

FaE -

1. Regent Marvel Investment Holdings Limited
HHE (R BRI AL BERa R EHER -
RIEE S REIEED) - LR B Regent
Marvel Investment Holdings LimitedFT#5 4 &)
Rt eh A AR o

2. BRBATRABRE(XERHE) RENE
T REBEESFEHEGEROISEXVER - FRE RN
HEERBRENROTHEERES -

3. King Terrace Limited 7T/a Mt £ BEm L2 E
BH - RIBEFESFRHEEA - FFEERREAR
King Terrace Limited BT 5 &) i& {5 = ¥ A 4

2% o

m

br EXATIEETE AN - 1R2024F3A31H * &
WA MEE EMEMAT(WIFESHAR
Al TERA B )R A F iR A HITE AR B
D RABBR D P B IREE S M E G S
XVELEE2 235 EDRME X B AR Rl FR B i
mBORE - WIRIEE F R HE 0] F 336k
SER AR RAE T 7 E M E A s soA

A

El o
NRERERTRE

RERRBIAIERNAHENKRESA
o BEAREAHIL - ARFC#HITRNG
THEB2B% M AR - A LMRRIR
e

TEER

RRBRMNEBEERERTREANAER
MEE62ZE83E M REE AE |4 -
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER BALANCE
SHEET DATE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there were no other
significant events affecting the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries after the balance sheet as at 31 March 2024 requiring
disclosure in this annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2024 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, who
will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. A
resolution for re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as
the independent auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Hung Yau Lit (also known as YY Hung)
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 26 June 2024
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FERRHRER

R FRATHEEID - 702024F3 A31 B A
Hi% o BER TR FERQ R SEEAMN
BRARMABERAFERFEENEMEAEE -

D

HZE2024F3A31HILFEMERE MERE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SEEREE

The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report
(the “Corporate Governance Report”) in the Group’'s annual
report for the year ended 31 March 2024.

COMMITMENT TO CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

The Board and the management of the Group are committed
to the maintenance of good corporate governance practices
and procedures. The Company believes that good corporate
governance provides a framework that is essential for effective
management, a healthy corporate culture, successful business
growth, enhancing the Company’s value and bringing value to
the shareholders. The corporate governance principles of the
Company emphasize a quality Board, sound internal controls, and
transparency and accountability to all shareholders.

Corporate Governance Practices

The Company has implemented and applied the principles
contained within the recommended best practices as set out in
Part 2 of the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code") contained
in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules, including reflecting those
principles in the Company’s relevant policies. The Board has
reviewed the Company's corporate governance practices and is
satisfied that save as disclosed below, the Company has complied
with all code provisions of the CG Code for the year ended 31
March 2024.

According to code provision C.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG code, the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The Company
has appointed Mr. Hung Yau Lit (also known as YY Hung) as both
the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
The Board believes that vesting the roles of the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer in the same individual would enable
the Company to achieve higher responsiveness, efficiency and
effectiveness when formulating business strategies and executing
business plans. The Board believes that the balance of power
and authority is sufficiently maintained by the operation of the
senior management and the Board, which comprises experienced
and high-calibre individuals. The Board currently comprises five
executive Directors (including Mr. Hung Yau Lit (also known
as YY Hung)) and three independent non-executive Directors
and therefore has a fairly strong independence element in its
composition. The Board will nevertheless review the structure and
composition of the Board from time to time in light of prevailing
circumstances, in order to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance practices of the Company.

EESMRARANEBEE2024F3A318 1
FENFRIEEACEE ARE ([EEAR
Hwe]) o

W RERHARE

EXghAEEERERNBIRIFNEE
BABHALER - ARAMEE - RFNEE
BARERERE - BELEUE - KINER
R - RAARAREELARRWEREEBR
H—ERAT HBRAOIEZR - ARBHDREER
RAZEREENESS  RENAIEE
RS2 RRRABERERMEN -

TEERER
RABIEBITRIER LR AIKIERCT FTEi i
¥ERTA([EERTADE-_BHEZ
SEFRAINORE - BIEEARRQFNIEE
B RMZERA - EFSEHEAEAQAN
TEERER  WEMRTUEESEIN - K
NEIREZE2024F3A3 1A ILFE—HET
EERSFRIFEATA SFAES -

REBELEEARTRE MO MTAKEX
C21 EFEMRERUTENACEEME
D WAERE—AFRE - RRABEEEH
BE(XEBHEHE) RERERRLEREFE
HiTE - EFEHE TREREFATEN
ABHR— ABESEARBRGIETEBEE
B MMITERSA BN EGEE AMERER
Wz  EEGHE SAEEREREESH
KREEREBE AR - HERRIAMS
BAEERTE - EFERNHARNTE
E(BEAHE(RBHABR)EE) M=
VIFRITERAN - RItEEARAAHREES
RBIE o AT ERS DB RBEFRTH
A EREHEE AR - AR D FR
BKFEEERER
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Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code")
as set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules as its code of
conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions. Upon specific
enquiries being made with all Directors, each of them confirmed
that they have complied with the required standards set out in the
Model Code for the year ended 31 March 2024.

THE BOARD

Roles and Responsibilities

The Board, led by the Chairman, Mr. Hung Yau Lit (also known
as YY Hung), determines and monitors the overall strategy
and policies, annual budgets and business plans, evaluates the
performance of the Group, and supervises the management of
the Company.

The Board is accountable to shareholders for the activities and
performance of the Group and its primary functions cover, among
other things, the formulation of overall strategy, the review of
the corporate and financial policies, review and assessment
of the Company’s financial reporting, internal control and risk
management systems and the oversight of the management of
the Group’s business and affairs. In addition, the Board has also
established five Board committees, namely the audit committee,
the nomination committee, the remuneration committee,
the environmental, social and governance committee, and
the executive committee, and has delegated to these Board
committees various responsibilities set out in their respective
terms of reference.

While the Board is collectively responsible for the management
and operations of the Company, the Chairman of the Board
provides leadership to the Board in carrying out its duties. The
Executive Directors, together with the senior management of the
Company, are delegated with responsibilities in the day-to-day
management of the Company and make operational and business
decisions.

ERER/RE

ESETREXS
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Composition

The Board currently has eight Directors comprising five executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors (the
“INEDs"”). The Directors for the year ended 31 March 2024 and
up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Hung Yau Lit (also known as YY Hung)
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Yiu Kar Chun Antony (Chief Financial Officer)

Mr. Liu Zhengiang

Mr. Chen Zhiping (Chief Operating Officer)

Ms. Sze Shui Ling

Independent non-executive Directors
Dr. Or Ching Fai

Mrs. To Wong Wing Yue Annie

Ms. Tam Laiman

The members of the Board represent a wide background and rich
industry experience with appropriate professional qualifications.
Please refer to the section headed “Profile of Directors, Senior
Management and Company Secretary” of this annual report for
the profiles of the Directors. Save as disclosed in the section
headed "Profile of Directors, Senior Management and Company
Secretary”, the Directors have no other financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationships with one another.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company are served by Mr. Hung Yau Lit (also known as YY
Hung) and have not been segregated as required under code
provision C.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code. The Board is of the
view that such arrangement provided the Group with strong
and consistent leadership to the Company and allowed for more
effective and efficient business planning and decisions as well as
execution of long term business strategies.

EEeEREEN\BREFE  ETRABANT
EER-—ZABUIENTES([BILEYT
BE) - REZE2024F3831BILFERE

EAREAHNESR
HITEE
BRI (R AR 2E) e
(ZEREFEHITE)
WESRELE(BEHIHEE)
EIE: S
REFELE(EELEER)
MR Lt
BUHHITEE
fEEE L
B Exmzt
BENZL

EEgNEEREMR  TEERYE BA
BEENEXER -FHUSESNEESR
F - FLHAFRES  SRERERAR
WENRE 8- BIEF SATEER
REAMENERE | —HAREEI BRI
REEEMI TS 27 RBAEMER
HERARAA -

FEREFEHITE

KRR EFERERITE R ACBREE(X
BHONZE) o — AERRT - B RIRED
EERTAE DB TRIEXC. 2188
EHED - ESERAELTHARE@EHR
RATEY M ERMEE  ANMELEAM
REEUNGEHEBRETARUARETRE
TSRS -

64 REGINA MIRACLE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 4 1REIM (1) AR A 5



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Independence of INEDs

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Board had three
INEDs, representing more than one-third of the Board, and at
least one of them has the appropriate professional qualification of
accounting or related financial management expertise as required
by Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
of the three INEDs in respect of his/her independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that
all the INEDs are independent parties in accordance with the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules and free of
any relationship that could materially interfere with the exercise of
their independence judgements.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code stipulates that every
Director, including those appointed for a specific term, should be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
Each of the executive Directors has renewed the service contract
with the Company for a further term of three years commencing
on 11 September 2021. Each of the INEDs has renewed the letter
of appointment with the Company for a further term of three
years commencing from 11 September 2021.

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the
time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, then the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three
years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election. Further,
in accordance with Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy on the
Board or as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office until
the next following annual general meeting of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

In the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, Mr.
Hung Yau Lit (also known as YY Hung), Mr. Yiu Kar Chun Antony
and Mr. Liu Zhengiang will retire as Directors in accordance with
Article 84 of the Articles of Association and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election. Their biographical details will be
set out in the circular to be dispatched to the Shareholders with
the notice of annual general meeting.
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Meetings

The Board meets on a regular basis, and on an ad hoc basis,
as required by the business needs. During the year ended 31
March 2024, the Board convened four board meetings and one
annual general meeting (the “2023 AGM") to approve the final
and interim results announcements and financial reports, and to
discuss the overall strategy and monitor financial and operation
performance of the Company.

Attendance of each individual Director at the Board meetings and
the 2023 AGM during the year ended 31 March 2024 is set out in
the following table:

Number of
Board
meetings
attended
HEEEE
Name of Director =E P
Executive Director HITEE
Mr. Hung Yau Lit Vit 414
(also known as YY Hung) (RBHEHE)TE
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (TEREREHTE)
Mr. Yiu Kar Chun Antony thazinE 4/4
(Chief Financial Officer) (BEFEE)
Mr. Liu Zhengiang BB E 414
Mr. Chen Zhiping BEFEE 414
(Chief Operating Officer) (BEEEER)
Ms. Sze Shui Ling HEiER Rt 414
Independent non-executive Director ~ BU#EHiTEE
Dr. Or Ching Fai TEEEL 414
Mrs. To Wong Wing Yue Annie BExmzL 4/4
Ms. Tam Laiman FEXIT 4/4

23
EESTHREERMSTRETEE RN
HZE2024F3A31ALFE  EFE2AMAN
REBGEHENL AR BFARZ([20235F
BREBEAS])  UHLERPEFEHEER
ERMBIRE - Wi R RERAA
RN R EIERE -

TERFIIESEREENBE2024F3A31H
IEFEHRESGEHEK2023FRRBEF K

BIER

Attendance

Attendance in the 2023 Attendance

rate AGM rate
—AEHiE2023F

HEE RREEXE HE=R

100 Yes 100
z

100 Yes 100
z

100 Yes 100
z

100 Yes 100
z

100 Yes 100
z

100 Yes 100
z

100 Yes 100
z

100 Yes 100
z
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) setting out the approach to achieve diversity
on the Board in order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board
and to maintain the highest standards of corporate governance.
The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity
at Board level and has commitment to diversity at all levels,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, or profession experience.

All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, profession experience, skills and
knowledge. The ultimate decision will be made upon the merits
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

As of 31 March 2024, the Board had 5 male Directors (62.5%)
and 3 female Directors; and female representation at Board level
was 37.5%. Having reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and the
Board’'s composition, the Board is satisfied that the requirement
set out in the Board Diversity Policy has been met.

The Group has established goals to enhancing gender equality and
empowerment of women, cultivating young people. Please refer
to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report for the year
2023/24 for further details such as the number of workforce by
gender and objectives set.

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy on 26 November
2018 which sets out the selection criteria and nomination
procedures adopted to guide the nomination committee of the
Company to select and recommend candidates for directorship so
as to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company’s business.
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The factors listed below would be used as reference by the
nomination committee of the Company in assessing the suitability
of a proposed candidate:

o reputation for integrity;

o qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company's
business and corporate strategy;

. (in case of independent non-executive Directors)
requirement for the Board to have independent non-
executive Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules and
whether the candidate would be considered independent
with reference to the independence guidelines set out in the
Listing Rules;

o any potential contributions that the candidate can bring to
the Board;

° commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect of
available time and relevant interest; and

° any other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company’s business operation and environment as well as
the industry in which the Company operates.

The nomination committee may consult any source it considers
appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable candidates, such as
referrals from existing Directors, advertising, recommendations
from a third party agency firm and proposals from the
shareholders of the Company with due consideration given to the
criteria which include but are limited to the above-mentioned.

The nomination committee or the company secretary of
the Company shall convene a meeting upon receipt of any
nominations of candidates to evaluate such candidates based on
the selection criteria mentioned above to determine whether such
candidate is qualified for directorship. The nomination committee
should then recommend to the Board to appoint the appropriate
candidate for directorship. For any person that is nominated by
a shareholder of the Company for election as a Director at the
general meeting, the nomination committee and/or the Board
should make recommendation to the shareholders in respect of
the proposed election of Director at the general meeting. The
Board should have the final decision on all matters relating to its
recommendation of candidates to stand for election at any general
meeting.
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Mechanisms Ensuring Independent Views Available
to The Board

The Board has established and adopted mechanisms to ensure
that a strong independent element on, and independent views
and input are available to the Board (the “Mechanisms”) on 30
March 2023.

The governance framework and the Mechanisms are as follows:

(i) Composition of the Board and Board Committees

The Board endeavors to ensure the appointment of at
least three INEDs and at least one-third of the Board
members being INEDs (or such higher threshold as
may be required by the Listing Rules from time to
time).

INEDs will be appointed to other Board committees
as far as practicable to ensure independent views are
available.

(i) Independence Assessment

The nomination committee must strictly adhere
to the Nomination Policy of the Company and the
independence assessment criteria as set out in the
Listing Rules with regard to the nomination and the
appointment of INEDs.

The nomination committee shall review annually
each Director’s time commitment and attendance to
meetings.

Each INED is also required to inform the Company as
soon as practicable if there is any change in his/her
own personal particulars that may materially affect his/
her independence.

The nomination committee is mandated to assess
annually the independence of all INEDs by reference
to the independence criteria as set out in the Listing
Rules to ensure that they can continually exercise
independent judgement.
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(iii) Board Decision Making

INEDs (as other directors) can share their views and
opinions freely through regular meetings with the
Board.

INEDs (as other directors) are entitled to seek
further information and documentation from the
management on the matters to be discussed at board
meetings. They can also seek assistance from the
Company’s company secretary and, where necessary,
independent advice from external professional advisors
at the Company’s expenses.

INEDs (as other directors) shall not vote on any board
resolution approving any contract or arrangement in
which such Director or any of his/her close associates
has a material interest.

The Chairman of the Board shall at least annually hold
meetings with INEDs without the presence of other
Directors to discuss major issues and any concerns.

The Board will review the implementation and effectiveness of
the Mechanisms on an annual basis.
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Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

All the Directors are encouraged by the Company to participate in
continuous professional development so as to equip themselves
with the latest developments of the Listing Rules and other
applicable legal and regulatory requirements, industry knowledge
and managerial skills in relation to the operation of the Group's

business.

All Directors have provided to the Company with their training
records and such records have been maintained by the Company
for accurate and comprehensive record keeping. Based on
the details so provided, a summary of training received by the
Directors for the year ended 31 March 2024 is set out as follows:

Name of Director

Executive Directors
Mr. Hung Yau Lit
(also known as YY Hung)
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Yiu Kar Chun Antony
(Chief Financial Officer)
Mr. Liu Zhengiang
Mr. Chen Zhiping
(Chief Operating Officer)
Ms. Sze Shui Ling

Independent non-executive Directors
Dr. Or Ching Fai

Mrs. To Wong Wing Yue Annie

Ms. Tam Laiman
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Reading journals
and updates on
relevant rules and
regulations and
the Company’s
industry
BT A R AR BE AR
KAERUR A RITE
OpSEi-g

Attending
seminars/
conferences/
forums
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Directors’ Liability Insurance and Indemnity

The Company has arranged for appropriate directors and officers
liability insurance to indemnify its Directors against liabilities
arising out of legal action on corporate activities. During the year
ended 31 March 2024, no claim had been made against the
Directors of the Company.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
the code provision A.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code. These include:
to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance; to review and monitor the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management; to review and monitor the Company's policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; to
develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual applicable to employees and Directors; and to review the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.

During the year, the Board reviewed the Company's corporate
governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management,
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model
Code, and the Company's compliance with the CG Code and the
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including the audit
committee, remuneration committee, nomination committee,
environmental, social and governance committee and executive
committee, each of which has the defined written terms of
reference that will be reviewed and updated, where necessary.
Copies of minutes of all meetings are kept by the company
secretary and open for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director. Each committee is required to
report to the Board on its decision and recommendations, where
appropriate.

Audit Committee

During Fiscal 2024 and up to the date of this annual report, the
audit committee comprised three INEDs, namely Dr. Or Ching
Fai, Mrs. To Wong Wing Yue Annie and Ms. Tam Laiman. The
chairman of the audit committee is Dr. Or Ching Fai who has
appropriate professional qualifications.
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The audit committee is established to, without limitation, assist
the Board in providing an independent review and supervision
of the Group’s financial and accounting policies, to review the
financial controls, risk management and internal control systems
of the Company, to oversee the audit process, and to perform
other duties and responsibilities as delegated by the Board.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the audit committee
members met two times with the Group’s senior management
and the external auditors to discuss and review, among other
things, the following matters:

o the interim results for the six months ended 30 September
2023 and the annual results for the year ended 31 March
2024 to ensure full, complete and accurate disclosure in the
aforesaid financial statements pursuant to the accounting
standards and other legal requirement for presenting the
same to the Board for approval;

o the terms and remuneration for the appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers as external auditors to perform the
agreed-upon procedures on the interim results for the six
months ended 30 September 2023 and the audit of annual
results for the year ended 31 March 2024;

o the independence of the external auditors especially for
those non-audit services; and

o the overall effectiveness of the Company’s internal control
and risk management systems.

Attendance of each individual member at the committee meetings
is set out in the following table:

Name of Director

Dr. Or Ching Fai LRy
Mrs. To Wong Wing Yue Annie ba E ok i+
Ms. Tam Laiman BEX LT
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Remuneration Committee

During Fiscal 2024 and up to the date of this annual report, the
remuneration committee comprised three members, namely Mrs.
To Wong Wing Yue Annie (the chairman of the committee), Mr.
Hung Yau Lit (also known as YY Hung) and Ms. Tam Laiman.

The primary responsibilities of the remuneration committee
include (but not limited to) making recommendations and
proposals to the Board in respect of remuneration policies and
structure for Directors and senior management’s remuneration
and on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the remuneration
committee held one meeting, in which it reviewed the existing
remuneration policies by reference with the market research
and gave recommendation of the remuneration packages and
performance-based bonus for executive Directors and senior
management to the Board for approval.

Attendance of each individual member at the committee meeting
is set out in the following table:

Name of Director

Mrs. To Wong Wing Yue Annie PR ok a2+

Mr. Hung Yau Lit (also known as YY Hung) s (R 228 ) s 4

Ms. Tam Laiman EEXZL

FHEES
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Number of
meeting attended  Attendance rate
HEERRE HE &R
A 100
A 100
A 100

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 35 to
the consolidated financial statements. In addition, pursuant to
the code provision E.1.5 of Part 2 of the CG Code, the annual
remuneration of other members of the senior management by
bands for the year ended 31 March 2024 is set out below:

Remuneration to the senior management

BREEERER

BEHIFBSHINNERE B ERERMFESS ©
AN - RIBEEEIRSTRIE o R ST RINE
XE15 BE2024FE3A3MBILFEEMS
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T :

Number of
senior management

by bands

B0 B A
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000

SREHEE AR

712,000,001 7C 2% #2,500,0007T 3
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Nomination Committee

During Fiscal 2024 and up to the date of this annual report, the
nomination committee comprised three members, namely, Mr.
Hung Yau Lit (also known as YY Hung), Mrs. To Wong Wing Yue
Annie and Ms. Tam Laiman. Mr. Hung Yau Lit (also known as YY
Hung) is the chairman of the nomination committee.

The primary responsibilities of the nomination committee include
(but not limited to) reviewing and making recommendations to
the Board on structure, size composition and diversity of the
Board, to oversee the identification and assessment of potential
board candidates, to provide oversight and direction in respect
of the succession planning for Directors and to determine the
composition of Board committees.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the nomination committee
held one meeting which dealt with the following matters:

° review of the Board composition and structure;
o review of independence of INEDs; and
° review of re-appointment of retiring Directors.

Attendance of each individual member at the committee meeting
is set out in the following table:

Name of Director
Mr. Hung Yau Lit (also known as YY Hung) S5/ ( X & tisze) s 4

P E oKzt
EEXZ L

Mrs. To Wong Wing Yue Annie
Ms. Tam Laiman
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Environmental, Social and Governance Committee
The Board has set up the environmental, social and governance
committee on 13 September 2021. The environmental, social
and governance committee comprises three members, namely,
Mr. Chen Zhiping, Ms. Sze Shui Ling and Dr. Or Ching Fai. Mr.
Chen Zhiping is the chairman of the environmental, social and
governance committee.

The primary responsibilities of the environmental, social and
governance committee include, but not limited to, advising and
assisting the Board in managing matters relating to environmental,
social and governance of the Group, such as governance, policies,
initiatives, performance and reporting.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the environmental, social
and governance committee held two meetings which dealt with

the following matters:

° review of the environmental, social and governance report
of the Group; and

° review of the sustainability report of the Group.

Attendance of each individual member at the committee meeting
is set out in the following table:

Name of Director

Mr. Chen Zhiping PRAETF AL
Ms. Sze Shui Ling pEiER
Dr. Or Ching Fai EEE L
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Executive Committee

The Board has set up the executive committee on 30 November
2015. The executive committee comprises all executive Directors
of the Company and the chairman of the Board shall be the
chairman of the committee.

The primary responsibilities of the executive committee include,
but not limited to, advising and assisting the Board in formulating
policies, monitoring the performance of management in carrying
out and implementing the policies laid down by the Board for the
Group, and handling and dealing with the bank-related transactions
and matters.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The Company engages PricewaterhouseCoopers as external
auditor. PricewaterhouseCoopers is responsible for auditing
and forming an independent opinion on the Group's annual
consolidated financial statements.

The audit committee reviews and monitors the external auditor’s
independence and objectivity and effectiveness of the audit
process. It receives each year a letter from the external auditor
confirming its independence and objectivity and holds meetings
with representatives of the external auditor to consider the scope
of its fees, and the scope and appropriateness of non-audit
services, if any, to be provided by it. The audit committee also
makes recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
retention of the external auditor.

Auditor’'s Remuneration

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the total fees paid/payable
in respect of services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers, the
external auditor of the Company, are set out below:
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Fees paid/payable

Services rendered Frig AR 21t BB

HK$'000

BT T

Audit services ERRT 3,300
Non-audit services FERS

e Transfer Pricing advisory o  EETERH 597

e Company Secretarial service o REWERD 357

. ESG Reporting service o RE - HeRELmERE 228

e Hong Kong Profits Tax services o EBFEERSE 219

Total Bt 4,701
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledged their responsibility to present
a balanced, clear and understandable assessment in the
consolidated financial statements of the annual and interim
reports, other price sensitive announcements and other financial
disclosures required under the Listing Rules, and to report to
regulators as well as to disclose information required pursuant
to statutory requirements. When the Directors become aware of
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that might
cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern, such uncertainties would be clearly and
prominently set out and discussed in detail in this Corporate
Governance Report.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities and opinion of the consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2024 is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 84
to 91 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL AUDIT

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has reviewed the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's risk management
once and internal control systems twice for the year ended 31
March 2024. The Board is of the view that the risk management
and internal control systems are effective and adequate.

Risk Management and Internal Control

To manage and monitor the various risk factors which the
Company may be exposed, the Board is responsible for
establishing and overseeing the Company's risk management and
internal control systems on an ongoing basis, and ensuring the
review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems has been properly conducted. The main features
of this system, which continues to operate, were described in this
Corporate Governance Report.

The Company has already reviewed its risk management
framework and processes and has implemented relevant
measures resulting from this exercise that aim to enhance
its framework and processes. In particular, the Company has
developed, approved and implemented a risk management
system, which is defined and supported by its endorsed
risk management policy. The terms of reference of the audit
committee have included its responsibility for an effective system
of internal control and risk management.

BEREFZ

EEWER  REFEAEFERTHHEEN
FAMBHE  HtRESRASEREL
AR AFTAR E M EL b R TS R R R B R F
B BT - QA BB B R IR &
BRBAEERMRENER - MEBFNE
HETARE BT E AN R AFEKLERINEN
HERNBERANERTRAREE - MAERD
EXERMET B RBEEH M RFA®
ZETHAREE -

ARG BYAZBMAEBAERRETRESR
NREZE2024F3A31 B ILFENGE AT
HREBROER IR AFREMAZINE
B B IRE -

Bk EE R A BEZ

HZE2024F3A3MHILFE EESEEB
EZZECRMNASERREENTNHEE
R — R R R EBEE 1 R R AR K
BRR - EFERA  RREELAIBELE
RRBER R -

R B B R A EREE 1R

REERESRAQR YN ZREARE
= EFeRAFERULEBAARRR
EERAMEERGNEE - WHERZER
AR E IR KR N EBEE RSB o It R AT
SEEE  HEX BN ALEERREN

AREERNERREEBERREFTCE
5 SR AR IR MAZ Fr MOARREE B © 5570
= AREDHE  HERER-ERER
AHEREERRMAER RFHRRE R
A BREZEENRBERNECBREESSA
BABEZERRREEZROBE -

78 REGINA MIRACLE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 4 1REIM (1) AR A 5



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Risk Governance Structure
The Company’s governance structure for its risk management
system is shown as below. Each party has well defined and
detailed roles and responsibilities.
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Risk Assessment Methodology BB A

The Company’s methodology for its risk assessment comprises
of four core stages (i.e. risk identification, assessment, monitoring
and reporting). These processes are performed at least once a
year to address changes in the Company’s business environment.

Review on the Effectiveness of Risk Management and
Internal Control Systems

The Board conducted an annual review on the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems, covering all material
controls such as financial, operational and compliance controls.
In addition, the Board has appointed an international accountancy
firm to review the internal control systems of the Company on an
on-going basis. The review covered the expenditure, production
management and fixed assets management of certain key
subsidiaries of the Company.
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Our Responsibility

Our Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that effective
and sound risk management and internal control systems are
maintained, while management is responsible to design and
implement an internal controls system to manage risks. The
Board is also responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of the
Company'’s risk management and internal controls system.

The risk management and internal control systems can provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss, and are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure in the process of attaining business
objectives. Based on the results of the annual review, the Board is
satisfied and confident with the effectiveness of risk management
and internal control systems currently put in place for the
Company.

Communication of Risk Events

Where risk events arise, our communications, both within the
Company and to external parties, are an integral part of the risk
management system. To enable the Company to make the
appropriate decisions and responses to mitigate or address
any risk event, relevant information on the incident needs to
be communicated by and to the right functions and individuals,
completely and accurately, and in a timely manner.

To ensure inside information of the Company is to be disclosed to
the public in a timely manner in accordance with the Listing Rules,
applicable laws and regulatory requirement, a framework has
been established to set out the procedures and internal controls
for the handling and dissemination of inside information.

Anti-Corruption

The Company has adopted an anti-fraud policy on 30 March 2022
("Anti-Fraud Policy") which sets out the responsibilities of the
internal audit department and employees and the Group’s major
anti-fraud measures and procedures. The Anti-Fraud Policy covers
activities such as corruption, conspiracy, embezzlement, money
laundering, bribery, and extortion, which could all involve an
element of fraud. The Anti-Fraud Policy is reviewed on a regular
basis and any convicted cases will be reported to the Audit
Committee and the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TREREE

SHAREHOLDERS'’ RIGHTS g RAER
The Company aims to establish fair and transparent procedures ARAREERL AT RBERANERF - FAE
to enable all shareholders an equal opportunity to exercise their R EE T E M S E AI5 15 R N T R
rights in an informed manner and communicates efficiently with BARNRBRERE - RIBABKEIEMAIAR
the Company. Under the Articles of Association and the relevant AARHBERELRETF  BREZHF(HEAa
policies and procedures of the Company, the shareholders enjoy, FEIATRER

among others, the following rights:

1. Convene an extraordinary general meeting/put

forward proposals:

Any one or more shareholders holding, at the date of
deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth (10%)
of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or
the Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business or resolution specified in such requisition;
and such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition at the Company’s Hong Kong
office at 10th Floor, Tower A, Regent Centre, 63 Wo Yi Hop
Road, Kwai Chung, Hong Kong. If within twenty-one days
of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company. The Company would take appropriate actions
and make necessary arrangements in accordance with the
requirements under Article 58 of the Articles of Association
once a valid requisition is received.

2. Propose a person for election as a Director:
As regards to the procedures for proposing a person for
election as a Director, please refer to “Procedures for
shareholders to propose a person other than a retiring
director for election as a director at a general meeting”
under the section headed “Policies and Guidelines” of the
Company’s website at www.reginamiracleholdings.com.

3. Put forth enquiries to the Company:
Specific enquiries by Shareholders requiring the Board's
attention can be sent in writing to the company secretary
at the Company’s Hong Kong office at 10th Floor, Tower
A, Regent Centre, 63 Wo Yi Hop Road, Kwai Chung, Hong
Kong.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SRERRS

INVESTOR AND SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

In order to develop and maintain a continuing and constructive
relationship with the shareholders, the Company has compiled
a shareholders communication policy and established various
channels of communication with the shareholders, such as
publication of interim reports and annual reports, press releases
and announcements of the latest development of the Company in
a timely manner. The shareholders are also encouraged to attend
the Company’s annual general meetings where the Chairman and
members of different Board committees are available to answer
Shareholders’ questions and exchange views with them.

Financial and other information in relation to the Group
has been published on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
website at www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website at
www.reginamiracleholdings.com.

The contact details of the Company are set out in the Company's
website to enable the shareholders to make any query that they
may have with respect to the Company. Shareholders can also
direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the Company’s
Hong Kong branch share registrar.

The Board has reviewed the shareholders communication policy
and consider the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders communication policy to be sufficient and adequate.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Law Kwan Chuen is the company secretary of the Company.
He is an employee of the Company and reports directly to the
Board and is responsible for, inter alia, providing updated and
timely information to all Directors from time to time.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, Mr. Law has complied
with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules and taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The Group has also dedicated great effort towards protecting the
environment and supporting society. For details, please refer to
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report for the year
2023/24.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this
annual report, the Company has not made any changes to its
Articles of Association. An up-to-date version of the Articles of
Association is available on both the websites of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange and the Company.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BYRHENRE

_n
pwc

To the Shareholders of Regina Miracle
International (Holdings) Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Regina Miracle
International (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages 92 to 191,
comprise:

° the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2024,
° the consolidated income statement for the year then ended,;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended,;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
comprising material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 March 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F, Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to revenue
recognition.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BYRHENRE

KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued)

Key Audit Matter

AR ESTETE ()

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BRESEE

Revenue recognition

LON:+4

Refer to Notes 5 and 36.23 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Revenue from sales of goods amounted to
HK$7,016,802,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024.
Revenue is recognised at the point in time when
control of the goods is transferred to the customer.

We focused on revenue recognition due to the large
volume and large number of customers involved with
goods distributed to different locations. Furthermore,
the magnitude of revenue is significant to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements. Therefore, we
identified revenue recognition as a key audit matter.
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In addressing this key audit matter, we carried out the
following audit procedures:

- We obtained an understanding of the Group’s
internal controls and assessment process of
revenue recognition and assessed the inherent
risk of material misstatement;

- We evaluated and tested, on a sample basis,
management’s key internal control procedures
over the revenue recognition;

- We examined the key terms of the customer
orders on a sample basis and assessed the
Group's revenue recognition policies to evaluate
whether they are in accordance with the
relevant accounting standards;

- We performed analytical reviews of revenue
such as comparing current period to prior
periods, analysing trends in sales by customers
and product types and identifying any unusual
or unexpected fluctuations;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BYRHERE

KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued) AR ESTETE ()
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BHEETER BMANET AR EREETER
Revenue recognition (Continued)
AR (&)

- We checked, on a sampling basis, revenue
transactions to customer orders, including the
performance obligations and shipping terms,
and examine relevant supporting evidence
such as purchase orders, invoices and delivery
records;

- We checked, on a sampling basis, revenue
transactions recorded before and after the
financial year end date to relevant supporting
evidence such as delivery records, to assess
whether they are recorded in the appropriate
accounting periods; and

- We tested samples of journal entries posted
to revenue accounts selected on risk based
criteria.

Based on the procedures performed, we found the
revenue transactions tested were supported by the
evidence we gathered.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BYRHENRE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BYRHENRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. WWe remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. \We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Kam Chiu, Raymond.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
ek

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024%63 A318 E[E

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T T IT

Revenue A 5 7,016,802 7,879,287
Cost of sales SHERAR 7 (5,433,235) (5,977,176)
Gross profit EF 1,583,567 1,902,111
Other income HAang A 6 24,257 38,007
Distribution and selling expenses SR IHE R 7 (152,270) (180,657)
General and administrative expenses — MR RITE X 7 (561,126) (701,748)
Research and development costs SR AR 7 (267,463) (235,765)
Other operating expenses Hih& 255 7 (173,296) (34,129)
Operating profit R 453,669 787,819
Finance income EUE AN 9 2,341 3,197
Finance costs B A5 R AR 9 (336,956) (293,532)
Finance costs, net B RS P AN SR 9 (334,615) (290,335)
Share of net profit/(losses) of PAREREARNEN

associates accounted for using Bt A RAF,(E518)

the equity method FE 18 33,123 (41,263)
Profit before income tax BRET BB ADERI 152,177 456,221
Income tax expenses FriSEifsZ 1 (9,002) (72,963)
Profit for the year attributable to FREQATEES

owners of the Company N ST 143,175 383,258
Earnings per share for profit AABEE AELGRB

attributable to owners of the EFREF

Company (expressed in HK cents (REREWLES)

per share)

— Basic and diluted —BEARNEE 12 11.7 31.3

The above consolidated income statement should be read in AR e 7= FE EABE P M R — O BORE o

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #,£20244E3 318 IF /&

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Profit for the year FREF 143,175 383,258
Other comprehensive loss: Hib 2 HEEE :
Items that have been reclassified or may =& #7548t i )R A 1£
be subsequently reclassified to profit B EEE A
or loss EH
Currency translation differences BEmE =R (341,114) (253,756)
Fair value gain/(loss) on insurance policy RERE N EKZ
investments (E518) 17 7,414 (10,662)
Fair value change on trade receivables BAFERFAEMEE
carried at fair value through other W AZIBREE 5 IR
comprehensive income (“FVOCI") RN QT EES (60,510) (49,843)
Reclassification of trade receivables at RHEEEEATE
FVOCI reserve to factoring interests FAHMEEWAR
and charges upon disposals B SRR
BHOBERENE
rEA 59,848 49,522
Share of other comprehensive FEME—EE & A RAY
income/(loss) of an associate Hip2mkA (FBE) 18 2,040 (15,307)
Items that will not be reclassified to BT B EH IR IE 7
profit or loss HH
Fair value gain on transfer of ¥FXraAvEERs
owner-occupied properties to HEMEN DT ERER
investment properties, net of tax (BEKRFEE) 15 77,245 -
Other comprehensive loss for the FRHMZEEE
year, net of tax (B MERBiE) (255,077) (280,046)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income RATEE AEN
attributable to owners of the 2E(EE), A
Company BE (111,902) 103,212

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income Filisrs 2R R BRI —(F6IE -

should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
HREEARER

As at 31 March 2024 720243 H31H

2024 2023
2024F 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T T T
Assets EE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M R MK 13 4,210,405 4,246,304
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14 468,678 478,359
Investment properties wEMHE 15 115,589 -
Intangible assets B EE 16 27,469 31,295
Insurance policy investments REEIRE 17 220,242 202,155
Investments in associates REE QT RIRE 18 396,682 381,505
Deposits and prepayments e R¥ENFIE 21 119,164 380,978
Deferred income tax assets ELEFTSIREE 26 52,882 57,316
5,611,111 5,777,912
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 19 1,225,092 1,437,829
Trade receivables 2 5 EINERR 20 1,027,483 710,534
Deposits, prepayments and %o - BAREREAME
other receivables &er] 21 111,486 74,347
Tax recoverable Al [ R IE 3,299 1,302
Restricted bank deposits ZIRHSRIT R 22 1,162 5,338
Cash and cash equivalents BeMIREEED 22 623,117 675,028
e 2991639 . 2,904,378
Total assets EEHAE 8,602,750 8,682,290
Equity e
Equity attributable to owners of RAREE AEGER
the Company
Share capital A% A 23 95,247 95,247
Reserves i 24 3,275,228 3,452,015
Total equity AR 3,370,475 3,647,262
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
HREEARR

As at 31 March 2024 7202453 H31H

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Liabilities =L
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Borrowings B 25 3,632,595 3,638,548
Other payables H{th e3R8 28 35,420 37,728
Lease liabilities HEAE 14 81,986 99,253
Deferred income tax liabilities ELEASHEE 26 80,403 40,691
3,730,404 3,816,220
Current liabilities FREBaE
Trade payables B SN 27 390,330 340,327
Accruals and other payables FEtE R R E A ERNRIE 28 413,770 426,399
Lease liabilities HEBE 14 40,658 61,194
Borrowings B 25 621,032 319,988
Current income tax liabilities BIHAFTISTHaE 36,081 170,900
oo eneeeeeeeoeieieeieieeieieceiecicececeeooooo.. R 1501871 . 1,318,808
_Totalliabilites  _ _ _____%8fes 5232275 ! 5135,028
Total equity and liabilities EERAEHEE 8,602,750 8,682,290

The consolidated financial statements on pages 92 to 191 were F92E 191 BEWERE BB IREK B 72202456 A
approved by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2024 and were 26 ESSRAWNRERESE -
signed on its behalf.

Hung Yau Lit Antony Yiu
Atk PhEER
Chairman Director
FiE EZE

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in Ltz A BEB EREEBEN T —OFRE -
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mERREER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 8 E 202443 A31H L F[E

Attributable to owners of the Company
AAREE AR

Share capital Reserves Total

& #at

IR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETIT BETT BT

Balance as at 1 April 2022 7A2022F4 518 &tk 95,247 3,541,010 3,636,257
Profit for the year FREF - 383,258 383,258
Other comprehensive loss Hith2HEEE
Currency translation differences MR E AR - (253,756) (253,756)
Fair value loss on insurance policy IRERER A EERE
investments - (10,662) (10,662)
Fair value change on trade receivables 1RAFEETAEMEE
carried at FVOCI WAFIERE 5 IR
BRI AT EZES - (49,843) (49,843)
Reclassification of trade receivables at R H & & IR AT @EE A
FVOCI reserve to factoring interests Hih2EWANE 5
and charges upon disposals WERREBES D EE
IRIEF B & - 49,522 49,522
Share of other comprehensive loss E{h—EiE A FA
of an associate Hiv 2 EE - (15,307) (15,307)
Total comprehensive income EREHEBALLLE
for the year - 103,212 103,212
Transaction with owners of HAATEBEARS
the Company
Dividends paid (Note 29) BB (i E29) - (192,207) (192,207)
As at 31 March 2023 7A2023F3H31H 95,247 3,452,015 3,547,262
Balance as at 1 April 2023 R2023F4 418 &G 95,247 3,452,015 3,547,262
Profit for the year FREF = 143,175 143,175
Other comprehensive loss Hit2mEER
Currency translation differences B E R - (341,114) (341,114)
Fair value gain on insurance policy (REEN QN EW S
investments - 7,414 7,414
Fair value change on trade receivables 1ZAFEETAEMEE
carried at FVOCI WWAFIBERE 5 IR
BRI A TEE S - (60,510) (60,510)
Reclassification of trade receivables at A H &% iR AT @EE A
FVOCI reserve to factoring interests HEi2mEmWANE 5 /E
and charges upon disposals WERRREBES D EE
RIEF B B - 59,848 59,848
Share of other comprehensive income  JE{h—fEEtE A aIH)
of an associate Hib2mA - 2,040 2,040
Fair value gains on transfers of owner- 33 &R EEREE
occupied properties to investment EYENNFERZE
properties, net of tax (BHERTIE) = 77,245 77,245
Total comprehensive loss FREZEEBEEE

for the year

- (111,902) (111,902)

Transaction with owners of RAEAARREEARS
the Company
Dividends paid (Note 29) EASAE B (FiEE29) = (64,885) (64,885)
As at 31 March 2024 M2024%F3A31H 95,247 3,275,228 3,370,475
The consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read IRE R BB R IE R AR —OFBOE o

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #,£20244E3 318 IF /&

2024 2023
2024F 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Cash flows from operating activities @%EQFE?@E%&E

Cash generated from operations LBEBMEES 30(a) 878,829 1,514,396
Profits tax paid f%ﬁ(ﬁmfrlj S5 (131,854) (4,163)
Net cash generated from operating RESEE TSRS FEE

activities 746,975 1,510,233

Cash flows from investing activities & IEFEESRE
Purchase of property, plant and BEYE  BELRE

equipment (375,911) (398,859)
Prepayments for purchase of property, BEEW¥ - HE MEE

plant and equipment and intangible AR EFEER

assets T8 k8 = (37,727)
Purchase of intangible assets BEREE (4,606) (2,968)
Purchase of insurance policy HERERE

investments 17 (11,481) (11,679)
Purchase of land use right BB (s 14 (58,290) -
Proceeds from disposal of intangible HE®EFEEMSIIA

assets 103 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - R K&EE

plant and equipment FriS5k18 30(b) 34,729 2,357
Proceeds from disposal of insurance ﬁ’%ﬁ?ﬁ}xéﬁﬁ@%&

policy investments 590 889
Acquisition of an associate U B — R B 2 R A 18 - (352,463)
Capital contribution to an associate m—HEEEAREE 18 - (76,758)
Dividend received from an associate W B — R R RIS 18 19,211 5,750
Interest received BUF 2,341 3,197
Net cash used in investing activities W& ESFTAE SR (393,314) (868,261)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FERETRER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #Z2024%63 A318 E[E

2024 2023
2024F 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT

Cash flows from financing activities &S IEFMEESRE

Proceeds from new borrowings I E RSk 30(c) 3,643,035 1,795,344
Repayments of borrowings EBEN 30(c) (3,447,944) (2,100,868)
Payment for lease liabilities HEaENZ 30(c) (54,239) (82,995)
Interest paid BFE (327,525) (284,656)
Dividends paid BRE (64,885) (192,207)
Net cash used in financing activities mEZSMAREFE (251,558) (865,382)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash RERBRESLEEY

and cash equivalents B, G ) S 102,103 (223,410)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F#IE& KIREEEY

of the year 675,028 995,030
Effects of exchange rate changes on EXEHHREIRE

cash and cash equivalents LB E (154,014) (96,592)
Cash and cash equivalents at end FRAEGRIBEEEY

of the year 22 623,117 675,028

The consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in GREIR G E IR PE BRI PR — O BIE -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

Regina Miracle International (Holdings) Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
21 September 2010 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law (2010 Revision) of the
Cayman Islands. The Company has its primary listing on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The address of
the Company's registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are
principally engaged in the manufacturing and trading of
intimate wear, sports products, consumer electronics
components, bra pads and other accessory products and
footwear.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in thousands of Hong Kong Dollar (“HK$'000"), unless
otherwise stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all
the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

These consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS") and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap.
622. These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified
by the revaluation of trade receivables carried at FVOCI,
investment properties and insurance policy investments
which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity or areas
when assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.
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ME-— LM REBBMERSMER
AAEl e ARREIFMMFEEA IR
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands °
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A1) REBEDIF6228 R RHEHI)HE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 2 wREEEH

(a) New and amended standards adopted by the (a) XEBCRMIFET R EIEET
Group ZE A
The Group has applied the following new and amended REBER2023F4 A1 BREHNEE
standards for the first time for their annual reporting period REHR B RER T35 R&(EET
commencing 1 April 2023: A8
HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Statement 2 (Amendments)
ERGFHEAE I REEMERE  SETEEREE
R EHRE B 25 (BRI A)

HKAS 8 (Amendments) Definition of Accounting Estimates

AR GFHEAIESRE (BETA) FEEEES

HKAS 12 (Amendments) Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

ARG ERE 125 (1BFTA) B-RHEEMEE KB REBELNE

HKAS 12 (Amendments) International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules

BB ERE 125 (1BFTA) BRI 2 — S AT — AR HR Al

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

BB BERELERNETHR REEH

HKFRS 17 (Amendments) Amendments to HKFRS 17 — Insurance Contracts

BRMBRELRNENTRUEEIAR)  BEUBREERE17TREER] —REE L

HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 — Comparative Information

BB B ELERNETHR BRFER AR BEREERIE 75 REBMEREERE% — LLBRER

The adoption of these new and amended standards did not FRANZE ] RS 5T ZE RS 38 1+ 5

have any impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods MERNSBTETMNTE - BIEH

and are not expected to significantly affect the current or TEHERIRRPEENEATE -

future periods.
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(b)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RBRRME

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 2 mEEEmW

Amended standards and interpretation not yet (b) AEEERKMWWEIETER R

adopted by the Group 2E

The following amended standards and interpretation have THZETERARZREBE 86 - B

been issued that are not mandatory for financial year ended HAEREE2024F3A31HILFBFE

31 March 2024 and have not been early adopted by the BEIER  MAEE Y RIZEEESY

Group:
HKAS 1 (Amendments) Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 1 April 2024
ARG EAZE 1R USETA) BESEARENIERSE 20244818
HKAS 1 (Amendments) Non-current liabilities with Covenants 1 April 2024
ARG EAZE 1R USETA) M2 eamIEm B B & 20244818
HKFRS 16 (Amendments) Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 1 April 2024
AR BmELNE 165 (EFIA) SRELMEERE 20244818
HK Int 5 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification 1 April 2024

BN (KEFT)

HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7
(Amendments)
BAGHERIE TR RE BV
SRR FE 75 (BETA)
HKAS 21 (Amendments)
ARG ERE2195(BF]A)
HKAS 28 and HKFRS 10
(Amendments)

by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause
MR ED| —ERAB S A 2RERGERAESR 20244818

B AN
SN0

=]

Supplier Finance Arrangements 1 April 2024
HIERRLE 2 HF 202454 71H
Lack of Exchangeability 1 April 2025
[r A Bkl 202554 A1H

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor To be determined
and its Associate or Joint Venture

BB GERE28R BB BEEREBENRNEEDE Y BNEE FETE
HAERIFE 1058 (1ERTAR) HELIEA
These amended standards and interpretation are not TEHIZ S MG ET R REABER A HRE
expected to have a material impact on the Group in the WA NRE M T EH A LB KA A
current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future AARRGEEERTE -

transaction.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

(c)

102

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Change in accounting policy on offsetting
arrangement in long service payment scheme in
Hong Kong

In June 2022, the Hong Kong Government enacted
the Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022
(the "Amendment Ordinance”) which will be effective
from 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date"”). Under the
Amendment Ordinance, any accrued benefits attributable to
the employer’s mandatory contributions under mandatory
provident fund scheme (“MPF Benefits"”) of an entity would
no longer be eligible to offset against its obligations on long
service payment (“LSP") for the portion of the LSP accrued
on or after the Transition Date. There is also a change in the
calculation basis of last monthly wages for the portion of the
LSP accrued before the Transition Date.

Prior to 1 January 2023, the Group applied practical
expedient in HKAS 19 paragraph 93(b) (the "practical
expedient”) to account for the offsetable MPF Benefits
as deemed employee contributions to reduce the current
service costs in the period in which the related services
were rendered.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting implications
of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong” (the “Guidance”) which provides clarified and
detailed guidance on the accounting considerations relating
to the abolition of the offsetting mechanism. The Guidance
clarified that following the enactment of the Amendment
Ordinance, LSP is no longer a “simple type of contributory
plans” to which the practical expedient had been intended

to apply.
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(c)

(d)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Change in accounting policy on offsetting
arrangement in long service payment scheme in
Hong Kong (Continued)

By following the Guidance, the Group has therefore
changed its accounting policy and ceased to apply the
practical expedient and reattribute the deemed employee
contributions on a straight-line basis from the date when
services by employees first lead to their benefits in terms of
the LSP legislation in accordance with HKAS 19 paragraph
93(a).

The abovementioned change in accounting policy does
not have material impact to the consolidated financial
statements as at 31 March 2023.

Adoption of Amendments to HKAS 12

The amendments narrow the scope of initial recognition
exemption such that it does not apply to transactions that
give rise to equal and offsetting temporary differences on
initial recognition such as leases and decommissioning
liabilities. The Group should recognise deferred income tax
assets (to the extent that it is probable that they can be
utilised) and deferred income tax liabilities at the beginning
of the earliest comparative period for all deductible and
taxable temporary differences associated with these
transactions. The cumulative effect of recognising these
adjustments is recognised in the opening balance of retained
profits, or another component of equity, as appropriate.

By adopting the above amendments, the Group should
recognise the temporary difference arising from right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period. The adoption of above amendments
does not have any material impact on the consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the
current period or any prior period and is not likely to affect
future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

3.1

(a)

104

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk factors

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
receivables, refundable deposits and other receivables,
cash and cash equivalents, restricted bank deposits, trade
and other payables and borrowings. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in Note 33.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks,
including cash flow interest rate risk, foreign exchange
risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk
management program focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group’s financial performance. The Group
does not use any derivative financial instruments to hedge
the risk exposures. Risk management is regularly carried out
by the senior management of the Company under policies
approved by the executive directors of the Company.

Cash flow interest rate risk

As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets
except for bank deposits, which earn low interest income.
The Group's operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates. The
Group’s exposure to changes in interest rates is mainly
attributable to its borrowings with floating interest rates.
Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk which is partially offset by cash
held at variable rates. The Group has not hedged its cash
flow interest rate risk. Details of the Group's borrowings
have been disclosed in Note 25.

As at 31 March 2024, if interest rates had been increased/
decreased by 100 basis points with all other variables held
constant, profit for the year would increase/decrease by
HK$35,305,000 (2023: HK$32,835,000), resulting from the
changes in finance costs of gross bank borrowings, net of
cash and cash equivalents.

3.1

(a)
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3.1
(b)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, the PRC and
Vietnam. Most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in HK$, Renminbi
("RMB"), Vietnamese Dong (“VND") and United States
Dollar ("US$"). The Group is exposed to foreign exchange
risk primarily through its sales, purchases and borrowing
transactions denominated in US$. The Group is presently
not using any forward exchange contract to hedge against
foreign exchange risk. The Group manages its foreign
exchange risks by performing regular reviews when
considered necessary and ensures that the net exposure
to foreign exchange risk is kept to an acceptable level from
time to time.

The directors considered the foreign exchange risk between
HK$ and US$ is minimal as US$ are reasonably stable with
HK$ under the Linked Exchange Rate System.

As at 31 March 2024, if RMB had strengthened/weakened
by 5% against HK$ with all other variables held constant,
profit for the year ended 31 March 2024 would have
been approximately HK$12,427,000 higher/lower (2023:
HK$17,579,000 higher/lower), mainly as a result of foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of US$ denominated
trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents
and restricted bank deposits held by the Group’s entities in
the PRC.

As at 31 March 2024, if VND had strengthened/weakened
by 2% against HK$ with all other variables held constant,
profit for the year ended 31 March 2024 would have
been approximately HK$92,365,000 higher/lower (2023:
HK$75,075,000 higher/lower), mainly as a result of foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of US$ denominated
trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents and
restricted bank deposits held by the Group’s entities in
Vietnam.
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3.1
(b)
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. The credit risk of
the Group mainly arises from cash and cash equivalents
(excluding cash on hand), restricted bank deposits, trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables. Management
has policies in place to monitor the exposures to these
credit risks on an on-going basis. The carrying amounts of
these balances represent the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

Risk management

As at 31 March 2024, cash and cash equivalents (excluding
cash on hand) and the restricted bank deposits of the
Group are all deposited or traded with major reputable
financial institutions located in Hong Kong, the PRC and
Vietnam, which management believes are of high credit
quality. Management does not expect any losses from
non-performance by these financial institutions. The Group
has no policy to limit the amount of credit exposure to any
financial institutions.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales of
products on credit terms are made to customers with
appropriate credit history. The Group has not determined
any credit limit for customers, however, the Group performs
periodic credit evaluations of its customers. The major trade
debtors have no history of default.

The Group also uses trade receivables factoring facilities to
manage the credit risk of its trade debtors.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group has two types of financial assets that are subject
to the expected credit loss model:

o Trade receivables; and

o Other financial assets carried at amortised cost
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

While cash and cash equivalents (excluding cash on hand)
are also subject to the impairment requirement of HKFRS 9,
as all banks are rated with a high credit rating, the identified
impairment loss is immaterial.

Trade receivables

The Group applies simplified approach to measuring
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all
trade receivables. To measure expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on nature of customer
accounts, the shared credit risk characteristics and the days
past due.

The Group uses two categories for those trade receivables
which reflect their credit risk and how the loss allowance is
determined for each of those categories.

Measurement of expected credit loss on individual basis

For trade receivables relating to corporate customers
which are listed entities with satisfactory credit history,
expected credit losses are assessed individually for
impairment allowance. As at 31 March 2024, the balances
of such individually assessed trade receivables and the
corresponding loss allowance are HK$562,786,000 (2023:
HK$396,747,000) and HK$1,797,000 (2023: HK$1,295,000),
respectively.

Measurement of expected credit loss on collective basis
Other than those trade receivables which were assessed by
individual basis, expected credit losses are also estimated by
grouping the remaining receivables based on shared credit
risk characteristics and collectively assessed for the risk of
default, taking into account the nature of the customer, its
geographical location and its ageing category, and applying
the expected credit loss rates to the respective gross
carrying amounts of the trade receivables. The expected
credit loss rates are determined based on historical credit
losses and are adjusted by management’'s assessment
to reflect the current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers
to settle the receivables.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on collective basis
(Continued)

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 March 2024 and
31 March 2023 was determined as follows:

0-30 days

Current  past due

k]

P8 0Z30R8

31 March 2024 HK$'000  HKS$'000
202453A31R ABTn  ERTn
Gross carrying amount KEAE 296,631 23424
Loss allowance BlakE (1,067) (368)

3.1
(c)
(1)

past due

b
31260H
HKS$'000
AR

4913

B 76 [ B B B ()

PR E & (#)
=& E R ()
EMEERE(E)

E SRR (&)
SEERNEERRE

IR EE - 202443 A31H K£2023
FIASNHEERBETENT

Over
31-60days 61-90 days 91-180days 180 days
pastdue  pastdue pastdue Total
k] k] k]
612908 91Z180R 1808 a5t
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
BETT  E¥Tn  AMTR  EETx
21,186 79,891 42931 474982
(371) (3,023) (3,523) (8,488)

(136)

0-30 days
past due
ki
0£30H
HK$'000

Current

Gl

31 March 2023 HK$'000

202353A318 BETT
Gross carrying amount FHEE 233,346 16,643
Loss allowance FERE (1,141) (369)

31-60 days
past due
jal:
312608
HK$'000
AT
15,137
(505)

Qver

180 days
past due
jal:i
Hi8180H
HK$'000

61-90 days
past due
jali
612908
HK$'000

91-180 days
past due
jal:i
912180H

HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT  BETR BATR
1,511 31,69 26559 324,891
(61) (2,439) 6,304 (9,809)

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure
of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group.

Loss allowance on trade receivables are presented as net
loss allowance in the consolidated income statement.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off
are credited against the same line item.

Reversals to the loss allowance were HK$819,000 (2023:
HK$2,245,000), relating to trade receivables, during the year
ended 31 March 2024.

B 5 RN A R TR AT E
B T LABEE o R & 3% AT U 0 TR B
KREREBABEEEAEEETLER
el e

g5 RN B RBEEN A WS
REVREBEREETE - HREO%
AT MH Bt AR—IRA -

HZE2024F3A31BIFE EHEH
JFE UK BR SR Y S 1B 5 i 1 B %6 819,000
70(20234F : ##52,245,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include deposits
and certain other receivables. These financial assets are
considered to be low credit risk primarily because historically
they had no history of default and the debtors had a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term.

The Group has assessed that the expected credit loss rate
of the deposits and other receivables is close to zero under
12 months expected losses method and thus no provision
was made during the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

Liquidity risk

The Group finances its working capital requirements through
a combination of funds generated from its operations and
bank borrowings. The Group’s policy is to maintain sufficient
cash and cash equivalents and have sufficient available
funding through committed credit facilities to meet its
working capital requirements. The directors believe that the
Group has maintained sufficient general banking facilities
for financing capital commitment in the near future and for
working capital purposes.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group held cash and cash
equivalents of HK$623,117,000 (2023: HK$675,028,000)
and trade receivables of HK$1,027,483,000 (2023:
HK$710,534,000) respectively, that are expected to readily
generate cash inflows for managing liquidity risk.

The tables below analyse the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on
the remaining period at the balance sheet to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the tables are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within
12 months equal their carrying balances, as the impact of
discounting is not significant.

The analysis shows the cash outflow based on agreed
scheduled repayments set out in the loan agreements, while
interest payments are computed using contractual rates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 UHXERBREE@m

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BMEEEEZE@®
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) FEELERE)

Within Between Between Over
1year 1and2years 2andS5 years 5 years Total

—£i —EmE MELE RENE At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETL BRI BRI BRI BRI

As at 31 March 2024 12024534310
Trade payables ECLANES 390,330 - - - 390,330
Accruals and other payables [t B R RAMEMNTE 225,220 - - 10,444 235,664
Lease liabilities HEBE 43,897 22,195 35,441 40,538 142,07
Borrowings and bank interest payables  f& 3% R R1THIE 661,399 2,279,669 1,482,545 - 4423613
1,320,846 2,301,864 1,517,986 50,982 5,191,678
As at 31 March 2023 1202363A31A
Trade payables B HEMER 340,327 - - - 340,327
Accruals and other payables [E:ER R EMEMNTE 243,145 - - 9,845 252,990
Lease liabilities HERE 65,438 37.115 54,791 27,362 184,706
Borrowings and bank interest payables  f& 3% R R1THIE 522,656 2,849,692 882,442 47515 4,302,305
1,171,566 2,886,807 937,233 84,722 5,080,328
3.2 Fair value estimation 3.2 A¥EfE

The table below analyses the Group's financial instruments TERBEFAEQFEEANGEERN

carried at fair value as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 by level BABESN D MAREER2024F &

of the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair 20233 A31 B AFESRAN SR T

value. Such inputs are categorised into three levels within a B ZSHABBEATEERRAS

fair value hierarchy as follows: BUAT=FER

o Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for o JERMSUMEREENAGRR
identical assets or liabilities (level 1). BIRFERE(E—A) -

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within level o E—RIEN - AEE(AMRE
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either %) sk (BN ERF L) B
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived SHOEENABHABUIR(E
from prices) (level 2). ZHR) e

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on o  WIHREAERMSHENEE
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) B EMNEASER AT TER
(level 3). BABR) (=) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Fair value estimation (Continued)
The following table presents the fair value hierarchy of the
Group's financial assets and liabilities that are measured at
fair value:

Level 1

-

HK$'000

BET T
As at 31 March 2024 M202453H31H

Assets BE

Insurance policy investments {REHRE =
Trade receivables carried at R A FET AEA
FVOCI ZEYAFIERA

B MR =

3.2

e RBRRME

BREREE @)

PRACIELNC Y
FRENEEMEAFES BB
AERAENATERR

Level 2
E-&

Level 3
E=&
HK$'000
BETT

Total
@ct
HK$'000
BET T

HK$°000
BT T

- 220,242

220,242

- 262,634 262,634

Level 1
&

HK$'000
BETT

As at 31 March 2023 M202353H31H
Assets BE
Insurance policy investments {REHRE -
Trade receivables carried at  #ZAFEFTAEM
FVOCI 2EYAFIERA
B RN -

Total
fmEr
HK$'000
BT

Level 3
£
HK$'000
BETT

Level 2
B8/
HK$'000
BT

- 202,155

202,155

- 158,633 158,633

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, there
were no transfers of financial assets and liabilities between
level 1, level 2 and level 3.

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets is based on quoted market prices at the end of
the reporting date. A market is regarded as active if quoted
prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange
or dealer, and those prices represent actual and regularly
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.
The quoted market price used for financial assets held by
the Group is the current bid price. These instruments are
included in level 1.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

3.2

112

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair values of derivative financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market are determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise
the use of observable market data where it is available and
rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all
significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are
observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

Financial instruments in level 3
If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the investment is included in level 3.

For the fair value of insurance policy investments that is
not traded in an active market, the Chief Financial Officer
with the assistance of external valuer determined its fair
value based on the higher of cash surrender value and fair
value determinated by discounted cash flow model. The
significant unobservable inputs that determine the fair value
is cash surrender value, which is contractually agreed upon
entering into the insurance contract.

The fair value of trade receivables carried at FVOCI is
determined using discounted cash flow. Future cash flow is
estimated based on the contractual amount, discounted at
quoted factoring rate with banks in Hong Kong.

As at 31 March 2024, if quoted factoring rate had been
50 basis points higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, there would have been approximately HK$116,000
(2023: HK$440,000) unfavourably/favourably change on the
fair value of the trade receivables carried at FVOCI.

3

3.2

BRERERE @)

AFEME (8)

BRI A
WIRNERMIGEENITESRMTEA
MR EFNAGERMNEE - LS G
BERMEENAATREHNTEBREME
g RELCBEBFEMHET -0
TARAFEREHZHERE AEE
BUEE  ZTERFIASE =4 -

EF=RELMTA

—IE 5 % IE B K A BRI IER IE
AEEMBHRE - AIREEIAE=
oo

RAFERERTLEEENREREN
AFEME - BFEMBEEIEEE
EM 015 B) TR BRRIR 2 EERRE
AR RERABEEN R FHEAR
BERE)ETHANTE BEQTE
MEATABRERABBELRRAS
BE  ERRBAQFILHERANT
HIE e

BAFEFAREMEEPAIIENE
HERBERAFEERMARSRE
BE AXRREREEARANEREM
it BEBRITHREE RS -

20243 A31H « HRWE X £
Ft,/ TBES01EE 2L - MATA HAih %
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U A B BR &9 B 5 FE UK BR 3R A FE A H
IR 4975 116,000 7T (2023 F : B &
440,0007T) KITFI /B FIEE) o

REGINA MIRACLE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED #2iREIFR(IZR)ER AT



3.2

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 UHEBREEm

Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.2 AFEMLF @

Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued) F=RELHTHE)

The following table presents the changes in level 3 TREFEZE20244F & 2023FE3 A31
instruments for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. BItFENSE=HRITEEF -
Insurance policy investments REKE

2024 2023

2024F 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT IT

As at 1 April RAH1H 202,155 201,935

Additions NE 11,481 11,679

Disposal & (808) (797)
Fair value gain/(loss) recognised to REM WAL

other comprehensive income N EWRS(E8) 7,414 (10,662)

As at 31 March M3A31H 220,242 202,155

Trade receivables carried at FVOCI R FEGARMEERAZFEGE

2024 AOVAC]

20245 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

As at 1 April ®4A1H 158,633 257,731

Additions INE 3,686,951 4,662,324

Disposals HeE (3,522,440) (4,711,579)
Fair value loss recognised to REA 2 E A TR

other comprehensive income NFEEE (60,510) (49,843)

As at 31 March M3A31H 262,634 158,633
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RBRRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Capital risk management
The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern so that it
can continue to provide returns for shareholder and benefits
for other stakeholders, and maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to shareholder, return capital to
shareholder, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group had a gearing
ratio of 105% and 93%, respectively. This ratio is calculated
as net debts (represented by bank borrowings less cash and
cash equivalents) divided by total equity. The gearing ratios
were as follows:

3

3.3

B 76 [ B B B ()

EXEBER
AEREREANBBRARELFE
LB KMEBRRREHRD
BRBEMMSAREEREN S - I
ERREERRBAREERKE -
REFXRABEARE - AEEA &
HERNTREOBESE - MR
REBEAR - BITHBRHHEERENR
DIEF

FEEBREEBBLRERER o
20244 220233 A318 © A&EE
BEABLEDHE105%K%I3% ° %
R A B EFE(BRITEZUNE S &
ReEBEY) MRS BEANE - BE
aELENT

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Total borrowings (Note 25) tEsk s EE (M3E25) 4,153,627 3,958,536
Less: )

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 22) e RESZEEY(M:E22) (623,117) (675,028)

Net debt aEFE 3,630,510 3,283,508

Total equity 48R 3,370,475 3,547,262

Gearing ratio EESM[BHE 105% 93%

The increase in gearing ratio from 93% as at 31 March 2023
to 105% as at 31 March 2024 was primarily due to the
decrease in the level of cash and cash equivalents held as at
the end of the year.

3.4 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities
No financial assets and financial liabilities were subject to
offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements or
similar agreements as at 31 March 2024 (2023: Same).
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EEBEBENEH2023F3A31HE
93% EFHZE2024F3A31HAI105% -
FEHRFABENRE LB 2FE
YK T B -

HiEeREERESRERS
202463 A31H BESRHEER
SRABEXRNIEE - ATRFIBNITLA
FREGSE PSR (2023F 48
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements used in preparing the financial
statements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that may have a financial
impact on the entity and that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less cost to sell.
These estimates are based on the current market condition
and the historical experience of manufacturing and selling
products of similar nature. Write-downs of inventories are
recorded where events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the balances may not be realised. The identification of
write-downs requires the use of judgement and estimates.
Where the expectation is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying value of inventories
and write-downs of inventories in the period in which such
estimate has been changed. Management reassesses these
estimates at each reporting date.

Impairment of trade receivables

The Group’s management determines the loss allowances
for trade receivables based on the assumptions about risk of
default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement
in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation which is based on the customer’s
past settlement pattern, existing market conditions as well
as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period. Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are
disclosed in Note 3.1(c)(ii).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

(c)

(d)

116

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Income tax and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong, the
PRC and Vietnam. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There are
some transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated
taxes based on estimates of whether additional taxes will
be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences would impact the current tax and
deferred income tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when management
considers it is likely that future taxable profits will be
available against which the temporary differences or tax
losses can be utilised. When the expectations are different
from the original estimates, such differences will impact the
recognition of deferred income tax assets and income tax
charges in the period in which such estimates have been
changed.

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant
and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
lives, residual values and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of property,
plant and equipment of similar nature and functions. It could
change significantly as a result of technical innovations and
competitor actions in response to severe industry cycles.
Management will revise the depreciation charge where
useful lives are different from previously estimated, or it will
write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based
on the information reviewed by the chief operating decision-
maker ("“CODM") that are used to make strategic decisions.
The CODM is identified as the Executive Directors of the
Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the CODM assessed
the performance of the Group mainly from the product
perspective. The Group is organised into five segments
engaged in manufacturing and trading of:

(i) Intimate wear — manufacturing and trading of bras, bra
tops, panties, shapewear and swimwear.

(i) Sports products — manufacturing and trading of sports
bras, sports leggings, sports shorts and sports tops.

(i)  Consumer electronics components — production and
trading of virtual reality (VR) headsets and tablet PC
accessories.

(iv/ Bra pads and other accessory products —
manufacturing and trading of bras pads, fabric masks,
one piece moulded hats and other accessory products
for further processing.

(v)  Footwear — manufacturing and trading of casual shoes.

The CODM reviews the performance of the Group on a
regular basis and reviews the Group's internal reporting
in order to assess performance and allocate resources.
The CODM assesses the performance of the operating
segments based on a measure of segment results, including
gross profit of the operating segments. Information relating
to segment assets and liabilities is not disclosed as such
information is not regularly reported to the CODM. Other
information provided to the CODM is measured in a
manner consistent with that as adopted for the condensed
consolidated interim financial information contained herein.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 2EER @
The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2024 are HE2024F3A31BIEFER DB FEE
as follows: I

Bra pads
Consumer  and other
Intimate Sports electronics  accessory
wear products components products Footwear Total
HE BAR
R EBER E7RAG HtE#ER 3] @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETR BETT BT BETR BETR
Total segment revenue AEBA
(Recognised at a point in time) (R E—E2H#7) 4121431 2,311,520 285,616 241,887 56,342 7,016,802
Gross profit/segment results £ /A% 976,881 493,713 52,743 50,678 9552 1583567
Other income HhlA 24,257
Distribution and selling expenses 7K &R (152,270)
General and administrative —RRABRES
expenses (561,126)
Research and development costs FF3A & (267,463)
Other operating expenses it Emx (173,296)
Finance income HHHA 2341
Finance costs BB (336,956)
Share of net profit of an FREREARR
associate accounted for Flb—HBEAF
using equity method ] 33123
Profit before income tax BT EREIER 152,177
Income tax expenses FIfEHAx (9,002)
Profit for the year ERai] 143,175
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 2HER @
Other segment item included in the consolidated income FIAEZE2024F3A31 B IEFEMGE
statement for the year ended 31 March 2024 is as follows: WEHRREM D LEE AT ¢

Bra pads

Consumer  and other

Intimate Sports electronics  accessory
wear products components products Footwear Total

HE BHRE
LEDAL BBER EYEf HtEKER L @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ARTT AT BT BRI BRI BT

Depreciation for property, TABERARNE -
plant and equipment and BERRENR
rightof-use assets included ~ EREEENE

in cost of sales 236,667 127,231 26,310 18,489 2,948 411,645
Depreciation for property, plant and equipment and right-of- M - BENREREARGERAEEETE
use assets of HK$411,645,000 has been charged in “cost 75 #E411,645,0007T ~ 75 % 98,866,000
of sales”, HK$98,866,000 has been charged in “general 70 N 7 #7,060,000 7T B 2 BllEE AT §4
and administrative expenses” and HK$7,060,000 has ERA] [ —RRITHRAS | R
been charged in “research and development expenses” ] e

respectively.

FFIR4E2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24 119



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 2EER @
The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2023 are HE2023F3 A3 HILFERN D IS
as follows: I

Bra pads
Consumer and other
[ntimate Sports  electronics accessory
wear products  components products Footwear
T
HK$'000 i HK$'000 HK$'000
BETTL L BT BT
Total segment revenue AEBA
(Recognised at a point (RE-BHER)
intime) 4424824 2,436,331 371,478 322,640 324,014 7,879,287
Gross profit/segment results £/ D %4 1,108,426 566,465 81,561 72,19 73465 1,902,111
Other income HioA 38,007
Distribution and selling expenses A R HERR (180,657)
General and administrative —RRABRES
eXpenses (701,743)
Research and development costs FF3A & (235,765)
Other operating expenses it Emx (34,129)
Finance income BB 3197
Finance costs BB (293,532)
Share of netloss of an EREREARR
associate accounted for il N
using equity method EiEFE (41,263)
Profit before income tax BT EREIER 456,221
Income tax expenses FIfEHAx (72,963
Profit for the year ERai] 383,258
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 Z2EER@
Other segment item included in the consolidated income HIABZE2023F3A31 B IEFERERE
statement for the year ended 31 March 2023 is as follows: WEHRREM D LEE AT ¢

Bra pads

Consumer and other

[ntimate Sports  electronics accessory
wear products  components products Footwear

BRI EHER Hihl & f
HK$'000 HK$'000 ’ HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BT AT BRI BRI BT

Depreciation for property, SAHERRANE -
plant and equipment and BERRENR
rightof-use assets included ~ EREEENE

in cost of sales 228,029 125,810 31,392 22,047 15,670 422,948
Depreciation for property, plant and equipment and right-of- M¥ BMEERRBEURERESR
use assets of HK$422,948,000 has been charged in “cost T B 78 # 422,948,000 7T ~ B
of sales”, HK$114,664,000 has been charged in “general 114,664,000t & & # 17,770,000 L2
and administrative expenses” and HK$17,770,000 has DRIFTANSEERA] « [ RITEH
been charged in “research and development expenses” SRR -

respectively.
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e RBRRME

5

122

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5

Revenue from external customers based on the destination
of the customers are as follows:

D EE R @)

RIEES B A0 E 5 BNBES KA
o -

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$’000 HK$'000

BET T BT

United States EJE| 3,243,601 3,810,347
The People’s Republic of China FhiEE A RHLFIE

("The PRC") ([E]) 1,383,477 1,380,621

Europe BN 836,191 1,001,588

Japan B 454,311 499,943

South-east Asia (Note a) REgos(M5Ta) 270,680 251,134

Hong Kong ) 110,685 147,697

South Asia (Note b) m 2 (MI7Eb) 69,307 95,722

Other countries/regions (Note c) HEMmER R (M) 648,550 692,235

7,016,802 7,879,287

Note a: Includes Malaysia, Indonesia, Singapore, Philippines, Vietnam
and Thailand.

Note b: Includes Bangladesh, Sri Lanka and India.

Note c: Includes Canada, Taiwan, Australia and others.

No analysis of segment assets or segment liabilities is
presented as they are not regularly provided to the Executive
Directors.

Non-current assets, other than deposits, deferred income
tax assets and insurance policy investments, of the Group
are located in the following geographical areas:

Fitta : IEERES - DEEHED - FNK -
JERE - WEREM -

ffstb : &N - BIEWRRENE -

fifsc : BFEMER

BRI EEHRARNTESRED A
ESNHEENER  BMAEZT

SN R Eotth

BE
153)

BEERIDBEENIN -

AEBEWIFRBEEBRES - BT
BRBEEERREREINURATIH

B

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT TEEEF T

Vietnam e 3,845,888 4,144,573
The PRC & 1,366,768 1,322,687
Hong Kong HE 115,357 45,280
5,328,013 5,512,540
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FEMBRRMEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 2HER @

An analysis of the Group’s major customers, each of which ZEEAEE10% KA LN AR
accounts for 10% or more of the Group's external revenue, is AEEFEZELOTWMT ¢

as follows:

Customer Location Segments 2024 2023
BF g 2% 2024 2023F

HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETT

Customer A ZEFA United States 6 Intimate wear and sports ~ BE S AKX REFER

products 1,155,020 1,160,453
Customer B EFB Japan = Intimate wear and sports ~ BE S AKX REFER
products 968,639 1,009,790
As a practical expedient, no disclosure was made for the ERAIITHRERE  BAREABBEANE
aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to the AAEREEHRR—FIUATEHN
performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially — &85 - WMF2024F3 A31 B E 5k
unsatisfied) as at 31 March 2024 (2023: Same), because SEEERARBIT(HH S EKRET)E
such performance obligations are part of contracts having an HEEHR ZERBTEIELHE (2023
original expected duration of one year or less. & MER) -
OTHER INCOME 6 HwA
2024 AOAC]
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Scrap sales income EEREMEE IR A 14,205 12,485
Government grants BB 947 21,511
Realised (loss)/gain on HERSBREHE IR
disposal of insurance (E18), Wz
policy investment (218) 92
Others Hih 9,323 3,919
24,257 38,007
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REMBRRMEE

7 EXPENSES BY NATURE 7 EMEESHBEX
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T T IT
Amortisation of intangible assets mpEERE (1)

(Note 16) 7,613 8,075
Auditor's remuneration ZEENEN S

— Audit services —ZH R 3,300 3,450

— Non-audit services — RS 1,401 2,280
Depreciation of property, plant and WE - BEMRETE

equipment (Note 13) (fF3E13) 462,182 470,180
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAEEENTE (FF14)

(Note 14) 55,389 85,202
Bank charges RITE A 4,537 6,474
Consumables FEM 224,726 232,213
Cost of inventories sold (Note 19) EEFEMA(FIEE19) 2,723,889 2,952,427
Reversal of loss allowance of trade B 5 IR E

receivables (Note 20) E R (3E20) (819) (2,245)
Donations B 988 353
Employee benefit expenses (Note 8) (B EEFIBIS (MI3F8) 2,385,068 2,741,419
Restructuring costs (Note) EHAMKA(FFE) 173,296 34,129
Freight and transportation expenses BiENERMAYT 43,057 72,266
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, HEDE  HELEE

plant and equipment, net (Yzs) /B85 (4,611) 1,394
Gain on disposal and modification of HEMETFERAEEERS

right-of-use assets (2,294) (672)
Expense relating to short-term leases  HRIEEATHE NI (Hi3E14)

(Note 14) 50,590 26,563
Utilities NARS 171,761 172,084
Others Eb 287,317 323,883
Total cost of sales, distribution and SHEMA - DIERIEERY -

selling expenses, general and —MRITERFAS AR

administrative expenses, research LA R HL 45 0 Al S B 88

and development costs and other

operating expenses 6,587,390 7,129,475

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group incurred MizE : BE2024F3A31AIEFE @ A&H
exceptional severance payments of approximately HK$133,869,000 FYEHEECHERRLANER
and write-off of fixed assets of approximately HK$39,427,000 BEHORMEEDINERBNBE
as a result of the reallocation of production capacity and human 133,869,0007T X & /& & FE M sH 408 %
resources between Shenzhen and Zhaoging. 39,427,0007T ©
Such restructuring costs are charged to “other operating BRAEEKEREGRE KmRO Ef g
expenses” in the consolidated income statement. R PR -
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FEMBRRMEE

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 8 EEEAEX
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (BRESHE)
20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T SR IT
Wages, salaries, bonus and allowances T & - %% - JE4T o204 2,031,394 2,332,564
Retirement benefit costs — defined RIRERIBN AR — E R T8l
contribution schemes (Note (a)) (FI5E(@)) 244,171 269,467
Staff welfare and benefits B TREM & Fa= 105,767 139,388
Long service payment RERG S 3,736 -
2,385,068 2,741,419
(a) Retirement benefit costs — defined contribution (a) EBHRBERHRAE—EFEEKETE
schemes
The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to AEBLZHERTBEESNARHIER
join the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Baral([BEeTE])) BESE
Scheme”), a defined contribution scheme managed by an EEBBIXTATIERTEBHRET
independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, the Group 2l IBERESHE AEERHE
and its employees make monthly contributions to the BEXATAKREB AR (EE R
scheme at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined under AHEEED)5% M EVEL R - &K
the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. Both the Group's EEREESEENETAER LR AS
and the employees’ contributions were subject to a cap of #1,5007C + B ZE 2 ERHRAS
HK$1,500 on monthly basis and thereafter contributions are YEB FEMEHER -
voluntary.
The Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC and Vietnam are ZN/NGIY N e EaR ol oy =N bl
members of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme B b BT 2B ) B R B IR IR IR R A
operated by the local governments. The Group contributes ZIHMKE - NEBEZNBRAREEH
a certain percentage of the salaries of the subsidiaries’ EH—TFEENLER  BRFEEHK
employees, and has no further obligations for the actual b BIEFRERZRAKSSIGRNE
payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond the BRAB#E—FEMF - BREEEINK
annual contributions. The state-managed retirement plans AEEEMRNEEZNEHMRNE -

are responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to
the retired employees.

(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) EBEREHFAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest FRNAEEREGZSTATEERS
in the Group for the year include five (2023: five) directors (2023F : AB)EE - HFHHAHE
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown in 35H) DT R AL o
Note 35.
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REMBRRMEE

9 FINANCE COSTS, NET 9 MIBHAFHE

2024 2023
2024F 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T FEEET T

Finance income 0 TN
— interest income on bank deposits — IRITIFRF B U A 2,271 3,128
— other interest income — HF 2 HA 70 69
2,341 3,197

Finance costs BTN AR
- interest expense on bank borrowings  —$RITE A BRI (267,304) (234,841)
— factoring interests and charges —REFERER (59,848) (49,522)

—interest expense on lease liabilites  —fAE&EFEHY

(Note 14) (Mi5E14) (9,431) (8,876)
- unwinding interest — B EF B (373) (293)
(336,956) (293,532)
Finance costs, net BT PR N5 58 (334,615) (290,335)
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FEMBRRMEE
10 SUBSIDIARIES 10 KIBAF

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries as at 31
March 2024 and 31 March 2023:

TR ARK2024F3 318 K2023F3 A
3N EBMBEAR]

Registered
Place of capital/issued
incorporation and and fully paid Effective interest Principal activities and
kind of legal entity share capital held (%) place of operation
I A 3L st B HRER/
EERRER ERTRBERA FEERER(ASN) IEEEREEHY
2024 2023
2024 2023%
Directly held by the Company
KNREERE
Regina Miracle International ~ British Virgin Islands, US$100 100% 100%  Investment holding in the
(Holdings) Limited limited liability company 100%7T 100% 100% British Virgin Islands
B RER (12R)BR AT FERRHS REBRZHSETIRELER
BREFAT
Indirectly held by the Company
FRRBERE
Regina Miracle International ~ Hong Kong, limited HK$5,000,000 100% 100%  Trading of brassieres and
(Group) Limited liability company 755,000,007 100% 100% panties, and sports products
EDRER(EE)ERAR B BREALH in Hong Kong
REBEENERNE
AR EBEm
Regina Miracle International Hong Kong, limited HK$100 100% 100%  Trading of bra pads and other
Limited liability company 1007 100% 100% accessory products in
®YRERER AR B BREARF Hong Kong
REBERNMREMEHER
Honour First (Hong Kong) Hong Kong, limited HK$10,000 100% 100%  Provision of sales agency and
Limited liability company 10,0007 100% 100% information technology
ER(EE)BRAT B - BREFAF services in Hong Kong
REBRUEERER
AR RS
Regina Miracle Intimate The PRC, limited HK$300,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of brassieres and
Apparel (Shenzhen) liability company 71£300,000,0007T 100% 100% panties, and functional sports
Co., Limited mE - BRETAR products in the PRC
EREYRAK(AINERAT ReBEENERAE
ARIEE I ESER
Regina Miracle (Shenzhen) The PRC, limited liability HK$20,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of bra pads and
Limited company 78120,000,0007T 100% 100% other accessory products in

#YRAK(FIN)BRAF

E - ARAEAH
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REMBRRMEE

10 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

128

Place of
incorporation and
kind of legal entity

EMERLBER
HRERRRE

Indirectly held by the Company (Continued)

FLAARERE(ER)

Regina Miracle Innovative

Technology (ZhaoQing) Co., Ltd

RYREAME(ZR)BRAT

Lijing Regina Miracle Intimate
Apparel (ZhaoQing) Co., Ltd.
BREEVENK(EE)BERAF

Regina Miracle International
(Vietnam) Limited

%Y B (0R) BR AR

Regina Miracle International
(Vietnam) Limited

%Y B (0R) BR AR

Regina Miracle International
(Vietnam) Co., Ltd.

Regina Miracle International
Hung Yen Co., Ltd.

Regina Miracle Management
Limited
BYREBERAT]

Regina Miracle Fung Ying
Limited
37 Tl ] YN

The PRC, limited
liability company
FE - BREMLAF

The PRC, limited
liability company
HE - EREALA

British Virgin Islands,
limited liability company

RERAES
ARALAR

Hong Kong, limited
liability company
BE - BREMLAA

Vietnam, limited
liability company
e AREEAT

Vietnam, limited
liability company
e AREEAF

Hong Kong, limited
liability company
BE - BREMLAA

Hong Kong, limited
liability company
BE - BREMLAA

Registered
capital/issued
and fully paid

share capital
ZMER/
BRTRAERAE

RMB150,000,000
N
150,000,0007C

RMB115,890,000
AR
115,890,0007C

US$1
E

HK$10,000
757%10,0007C

US$932,743,336
932,743,336% 7T

US$102,985,243
102,985,243% 7T

HK$1
BB

HK$100
%1007

10 FMiEB2A T @)

Effective interest
held (%)

FEERER(BoL)

2024 2023
2024F 20235

100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

REGINA MIRACLE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED #¥ iR (IZR)ERA A

Principal activities and
place of operation

Manufacturing of brassieres and
panties and fabric masks in
PRC

ReREERERAERMOZ

Manufacturing of brassieres and
panties, and functional sports
products in PRC

R EEENERAEUR
D tHERER

Investment holding in the
British Virgin Islands
RERBRHBETRERR

Investment holding in
Hong Kong
REBETREER

Manufacturing of brassieres and
panties, bra pads and sports
products in Vietnam

R E R R
R REDER

Manufacturing of semi-finished
goods in Vietnam

Investment holding in
Hong Kong
REBETREER

Investment holding in
Hong Kong
REBETREER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2024, the Group
is eligible to nominate one Hong Kong incorporated entity
in the Group to be chargeable at the two-tiered profits
tax rates, whereby profits tax will be chargeable on the
first HK$2 million of assessable profits at 8.25% and
assessable profits above this threshold will be subject to a
rate of 16.5%. Hong Kong profits tax for other Hong Kong
incorporated entities in the Group has been provided for at
the rate of 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits.

The applicable tax rate for the PRC subsidiaries of the Group
is 25% for the year ended 31 March 2024 except for one
subsidiary that is subject to a reduced tax rate of 15% under
the High and New Technological Enterprise programme
(2023: Same).

According to a policy promulgated by the State Tax Bureau
of the PRC (the “PRC Tax Authority”) and effective from
2008 onwards, enterprises engaged in research and
development activities are entitled to claim 150% to 175%
of the research and development expenses so incurred in
a period as tax deductible expenses in determining its tax
assessable profits for that period (“Super Deduction”). The
PRC Tax Authority has further issued a notice to announce
on a further increase of the Super Deduction claim to 200%
from 2022 onwards.

The subsidiaries established and operated in Vietnam were
subject to corporate income tax at a rate of 20% (2023:
20%). In accordance with the applicable tax regulations,
preferential tax rates and tax holidays will be granted to new
investment projects based on regulated encouraged sectors,
encouraged locations, and size of the projects.

FERE2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24
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FrieHimx

H E2023F K2024F3A31HIEF
B AEEAREAEERN—HEE
ST Ak 37 B B H R4S A A AR Il A
MmERBE28 BITH ERT &M g E
8.25% M RBT RS - BBz KT
) FE FR T i B 542 16.5% Tt R -
AEBRNEMFTBSFMRLEEN
BB IF B IR (4 5 R B E A
16.5% B EEHR R o

B — K B A R IR S R T (218
BERE15% MR - HZE2024F
SABMALEFE A&EEFEMBE QA
KE AT R 525% (20234 : #HRA) °

RIEREBERFLG AR ([ RS #
78 |) T 78 75 5 2008 5 #E 4 3 B — TH I
BoOREMBIRINCERRAEET
HARE B ER W i ) B 1R 5% HA R E AE 9 B
RIS 150% = 175% H 3R 0] H0 F¢ B
X ([HBREEEM]) - FREBKHED &
— S HARE  SMBEEINRER
2022F #BiEE—H EFHZE200% ©

R R ILELRNME A FAEE20%
(202345 : 20% ) BIFE R AN 15
o MIBEARIEER  BRTFHRE
BEEMEEREREMBIEZRE
HENTTE  XuEwERLRIEERIEE
fE °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

11

130

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

Regina Miracle International (Vietnam) Co., Ltd. is subject
to a lower tax rate of 10% for fifteen consecutive years,
commencing from the first year of making revenue. In
addition, the subsidiary is entitled to full exemption from
corporate income tax for the first four years from the earlier
of (i) the year when profit is generated for the first time or
(ii) the fourth year of making revenue; and a 50% reduction
in corporate income tax for the next nine years, which is
offered by the Vietnam Government and is stipulated in the
subsidiary’s investment license. The first year of this tax
reduction period commenced in the financial year ended
31 March 2018. Starting from the year ended 31 March
2023, Regina Miracle International (Vietnam) Co., Ltd will be
paying the corporate income tax at a 5% reduced rate (with
a 50% reduction to its original 10% rate).

Regina Miracle International Hung Yen Co., Ltd. is entitled
to full exemption from corporate income tax for the first two
years from the earlier of (i) the year when profit is generated
for the first time or (ii) the fourth year of making revenue;
and a 50% reduction in corporate income tax for the next
four years, which is offered by the Vietnam Government and
is stipulated in the subsidiary’s investment license. The first
year of this tax reduction period commenced in the financial
year ended 31 March 2023.

The amount of taxation charged to the consolidated income
statement represents:

11 FISFHBRXwm

HRRER(BE)ARAFTBEER
ABFBRBEETAFERETREI0%
B - BN - BOESRF E Fki)E
FIRARNENF(RRFEBE) BT
BUER ZMBRAREEZHEHR
BN ERMBH  YREBNLFRZE
BE0%EMGHME  ZEERE
RBREBFS T  WHRZHER AW
BEFIBENGTR - BBHAAE—FH
HZE2018F3A31 B ILFABFE R °
A Z=2023F3A31 B L FERA - 4
ZRRBERE(ERE) BRARFRESN
EE% MM EMEH (RREF10%H
REER ERA50%) ©

BOESNEFHEERAET
FUARFERE)REMF  Regina
Miracle International Hung Yen Co.,
Lid. B REZ B R MM S - &
BUNERNZE0%EMEREE
ZEEVEHBERNG T WRZ
MEABIMIRERT AT AT 8E o R
HE—F 2 NEE2023F3 431 A L
B ERE -

ERGalmk T NBReRIBESEN
T

BIEAPT1S

Current income tax

— Hong Kong profits tax —BBNER 8,927 39,768

— PRC enterprise income tax — R EER 4,080 3,646

- Overseas income tax —BINTIEHL 11,521 9,520
(Over)/under provision in prior years RBEFE

(ERERE) BETE (29,490) 27,604

Deferred income tax (Note 26) RIEFTS L (MI7E26) 13,964 (7,575)

Income tax expenses PRISHR X 9,002 72,963

REGINA MIRACLE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED #¥ iR (IZR)ERA A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

11

The taxation on the Group's profit before income tax differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the
weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the group

companies as follows:

e RBRRME

P& X )

762 [ B P 1S 0 BTt A 9 B TR B PR R
308 FA 70 R [ 2 R]0as M) O A0 S 1 B R
BHMEREEERENT

2024
20244

2023
20234
HK$'000
BT T

HK$'000
BT T

Profit before income tax R PSR AT 152,177 456,221
Tax calculated at domestic tax REANEE R EER
rate applicable to profits piagallzolEAE R = o
in respective jurisdictions TiE (36,425) 45,728
Tax effects of: Mg E
Income not subject to tax BERHEERA (9,301) (3,404)
Super deduction FRREH A - (22,535)
Expenses not deductible for AR R BA S
taxation purpose 12,477 16,262
Utilisation of previously AL RIARERMTIEESE
unrecognised tax losses - (28)
Tax losses for which no deferred MERERIEESHIE
income tax asset was recognised BENTIEEE 77,206 4,088
Tax effect of share of FEIGEE S DR (46 F)) 18
net (profit)/loss of associates SRR TS A (5,465) 5,248
(Over)/under provision in prior years BEEE
(EBRERHE) BB (29,490) 27,604
Income tax expenses FriSFif > 9,002 72,963
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

1
(a)

132

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)
OECD Pillar two model rules

The Group falls in the scope of the OECD Pillar Two model
rules. Pillar Two legislation was enacted in Vietnam, and
will come into effect from 1 January 2024. As for Hong
Kong, the legislation has been open for public consultation.
Meanwhile in the PRC, there has been no public
announcement regarding the enactment of Pillar Two as
of the date of the report. The Group applies the exemption
to recognising and disclosing information about deferred
income tax assets and liabilities related to Pillar Two income
taxes, as provided in the amendments to HKAS 12 issued in
July 2023.

Under the legislation, the Group is liable to pay a top-up tax
for the difference between the Global Anti-Base Erosion
Proposal ('GloBE’) effective tax rate for each jurisdiction and
the 15% minimum rate.

Due to the complexities in applying the legislation and
calculating GloBE income, the quantitative impact of the
enacted or substantively enacted legislation is not yet
reasonably estimable. Therefore, even for those entities
with an accounting effective tax rate above 15%, there may
still be Pillar Two tax implications.

11
(a)

P& X )

RESFERRAEASIE &K
# Al
AEBBREBESIFERRMB/T
ZEARAMEE - BEERAIE
ZNA B2024F 1 A1TREERK © 7%
ERENBBET ARG o BER
SHEAL  IHEERERPEDE
BRMBAMAE - BIFEN2023F7 A%
BB G ERIE 125 (BT A) T
B  AEEERARPEIAREE
ERAIH_FEHMNETEMSHIEEL
ERAEER -

REFEVE  AEEBEENREE
AZEZERAHEEZRREAHRET R
([GloBE ) Y E IR B R B AR K 16%
Z B R -

R EASOE KAt H GloBEWAE R -
BARARREBAKELBMENE
e EBELAIEMET - At - 5T E
BRHEESME%NZFERIDAIGER
BT E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE 12 SRER
(a) Basic (a) E&
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit SRERNBFIIZA N TEE AEL S
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted TR AF AR BT @A INEF 58
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. =tE o
2024 2023
20244 20234
Profit attributable to owners of NAREE AEERET
the Company (HK$'000) (BEEFIT) 143,175 383,258
Weighted average number of BEITE RN
ordinary shares in issue ('000) FHE(TR) 1,224,250 1,224,250
Basic earnings per share FREREF]
(expressed in HK cents per share) (LAFRRBNLZS) 11.7 31.3
(b) Diluted (b) #%
Diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 March HE2024F 2023331 B IEE
2024 and 2023 are the same as the basic earnings per share E - AR EBEITBEEE L @A
as there were no potentially dilutive ordinary shares issued. B EEE R G AR EARZRNFER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13 Y% BERRE

Leasehold Plantand ~Office furniture  Computer Motor ~ Construction
Buildings improvements  machinery  andfixtures  equipment vehicles i progress Total

HOBER

B BMEMS ERRAE BRME WM % s &
HK§ 000 HK§1000 HKS 000 HK§1000 HKS 000 HK§1000 HKS 000 HK§'000
ToESTL BRI MERL ML T T BT

Year ended 31 March 2023 BENBEIRNALER

Opering net book amount EEETE 1386301 131255 140191 17713 51,151 10534 pRTTI TR
Additons P 1628 85471 154930 21206 12,454 2300 137 279,366
Disposelsifiteof & /Kl - (1,787 f1,147) (681) (13%) - - B751)
Transfer-n/lout) £)\/(1) - 1692 3310 778 163 - (62,640) -
Depreciation i (6979 (157588 [152969) 159,665) 26,121) (4,059 N 1)
Currency trangation differences ~ EE#EEEE (22,640) (29,661) 7911) (2,686) (1,153 (306) (2481) (96,839)
Closing et book amount EXERFA 1293490 128691 1388143 93097 10818 8490 186350 4246304
Asat 31 March 2023 H22BEIANR

Cost W 16043 22080 25800 BI7119 253619 1587 106350 7366287
Aecumulated depreciaton EirifE B0 4918 (1130887 @400 (212831 (37,87 - BN
Net book amount R 1293090 1286910 1388143 93097 10818 8490 196350 4246304

Year ended 31 March 2024 BENUFIENALEE

Opening net book amourt EERIA 1293494 135912 1388143 93097 404818 8,490 186350 4246304
Addiions i 28333 85,621 112113 32,018 10,260 6,678 95,074 625,09
Disposalsite-off e /i - (60,008) (8,397) (972) (146) 22 - (69,545)
Transfern/out] £)/ih) 1414 69,545 2210 9240 3,449 = (91,978) =
Depreciaton ik (651 (162722 (155,849) (43,080) (21,256) (3624) - 62
Curency renslaton differences ~ §¥AEEE (41,519) (35,274) (44.220) (3,066) (1,160) (296) (3,726) (129,268)
Closing net book amount EXEETE 1467130 1133074 1294053 81,231 31965 11,226 185720 4210405
As at 31 March 2024 H2024%3R31R

Cost i 1964255 223956 244799 531,352 247691 47,003 165720 7553906
Accumulated depreciation ZHIE (397,125) (1,090,882  (1,153,876) (450,115} (215,726 (36,777) - (333501)
Net book amount ETEE 146730 1133074 1294083 81237 31965 11,26 15720 4210405
Depreciation expense charged in consolidated income PR W R IR ERZ T ¢

statement is as follows:

Cost of sales HERA 379,198 371,218
General and administrative expenses — MR M ITE R 75,955 91,869
Research and development costs T EE AR AR 7,029 7,093

462,182 470,180
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

14 LEASES 14 #HE
(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance (i) REEEEEEXREIANESE
sheet

Right-of-use assets RAREE

Leasehold
land and
land use
rights
HETHE
BF Bfs LTiERRE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETTE  BETR  B%TR  B%TR

Total

Buildings Equipment

Year ended 31 March 2023 B E2023%3H31H
LEE
Opening net book amount FHREFE 121,021 12,688 347,877 481,586
Additions NE 94,496 12,221 - 106,717
Disposals HE (4,174) - - (4,174)
Depreciation (Note 7) e (KIEE7) (75,227) (714) (9,261) (85,202)
Modification of lease e - (6,437) - (6,437)
Currency translation differences EmE s (6,837) (165) (7,129) (14,131)
Closing net book amount EREmEE 129,279 17,593 331,487 478,359
As at 31 March 2023 R2023%3H31H
Cost 3% 444,703 19,191 386,574 850,468
Accumulated depreciation 2:tinE (315,424) (1,598) (55,087) (372,109)
Net book amount EmFE 129,279 17,593 331,487 478,359
Year ended 31 March 2024 B Z2024%3A831H
LEE

Opening net book amount FHIREFE 129,279 17,593 331,487 478,359
Additions NE 10,369 16,588 58,290 85,247
Disposals e (12,388) - - (12,388)
Depreciation (Note 7) e (KIsE7) (43,461) (2,161) (9,767) (55,389)
Modification of lease Hes - 574 = 574
Transfer to investment property BRERENE

(Note 15) (F5E15) = - (12,596) (12,596)
Currency translation differences B E AR (5,193) (484) (9,452) (15,129)
Closing net book amount FEREMFE 78,606 32,110 357,962 468,678
As at 31 March 2024 R20245%3831H
Cost B 418,259 35,875 416,518 870,652
Accumulated depreciation 2:HE (339,653) (3,765) (58,656)  (401,974)
Net book amount REFE 78,606 32,110 357,962 468,678
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

14 LEASES (continued) 14 BHE @)

(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance (i) REEEEEBRBANSE
sheet (Continued) (%)
Right-of-use assets (Continued) EHELE(E)
Depreciation expense of HK$32,447,000 (2023: HK$51,730,000) Y e B #32,447,0007T (20234 -
has been charged in “cost of sales”, HK$22,911,000 (2023: 7 #£51,730,0007T) & #22,911,000
HK$22,795,000) in “general and administrative expenses” 7t (20234 : #&#22,795,0007T ) K&
and HK$31,000 (2023: HK$10,677,000) in “research and #31,0007T (20234 : 7#%10,677,000
development expenses”, respectively. TL)ERAEISEENA] - [ R RIT

BFIS | R [ AT BB S IR Bk

Lease liabilities HESE

2024 2023
20244F 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEET T BT T

Non-current FESRE
— Buildings —EF 49,510 81,666
- Equipment — &1 32,476 17,587
81,986 99,253

Current RE

— Buildings —EF 39,347 60,046
— Equipment — R 1,311 685
— Leasehold land and land use rights — T 4 Jo o+ b {sh FRAE = 463
40,658 61,194
122,644 160,447

136 REGINA MIRACLE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED #2{REIR(IZR)ER QR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

14 LEASES (continued) 14 HE @)
(ii) Amounts recognised in the consolidated income (i) REEREREANSE
statement
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT IT
Depreciation charge of FREESE
right-of-use assets TERX
Buildings Etes 43,461 75,227
Equipment B 2,161 714
Leasehold land and land use rights ~ FA& 4 b &2 + {5 FA4E 9,767 9,261
7 55,389 85,202
Interest expense B
(included in finance costs) (FTABFTERAR) 9 9,431 8,876
Expense relating to short-term leases B4 AR EH AN < 7 50,590 26,563
60,021 35,439
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the total cash outflow HE2024F3A31BILFE - BEHA
for leases were HK$104,829,000 (2023: HK$109,558,000). ERE N L BEERE104,829,0007T

(20234 : #1109,558,0007T) °

(iii) The Group's leasing activities and how these are (iii) 2EENHEEEBREARAN
accounted for

The Group leases various offices, factories, equipment AEBEHEETHAE  BE - &i#
and staff quarters. Rental contracts are typically made in LETIEE HEAHN—RBEHEE
accordance to the lease terms. AT AL ©

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and HEBRFIRERIEREITER - &R
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The BgHEB TR - HEwEIL &N
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than FARHE  HEHEAREEEERS
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by A ERRIN c HEEETERE
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for EERERMD o

borrowing purposes.
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e RBRRME

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

15 REWE

2024
20245
HK$°000
BT

As at 1 April 2023 7R2023F4H18
Transfer-in from right-of-use assets (Note 14) B{FREEEE A (Ft:X14) 12,596
Fair value gains N EWE 102,993
As at 31 March 2024 M202463A31H 115,589

The Group has changed the use of certain leasehold
land and land use rights in the PRC as at 31 March 2024
from owner-occupied to held for earn rentals and capital
appreciation. Prior to the change in use, the relevant
buildings were classified as right-of-use assets and had
been measured at its cost less accumulated depreciation.
Upon the change in use, these buildings are stated at their
fair value. The Group valued using the sales comparison
approach based on recent sales of comparable properties in
the proximity of the area. This resulted in a level 2 fair value.
The Group engaged an external, independent and qualified
valuer to determine the fair value of the Group’s investment
properties at the date of change in use.

As a result of the revaluation these residential properties and
the corresponding right-of-use assets have been transferred
to investment properties measured at fair value. A
revaluation surplus of HK$102,993,000 has been recognised
in other comprehensive income on the same date.

M2024F3A31H » AEEEHHEH
ATHEL R T FRENRRS
¥TXTBRNARBERIES REARE
B B ABA - HEABFHEAE
FRiEEE  WIREKARZFHTERT
2 FWARRE  ZZFEFEAFE
PR o AREEBIRAP TG 1] & L
VIR E B EANEE RS
TEE  UWEZRRAFEFZ - A%
EZEINIB LA ERGEMEBEER
EEREVERERABREAMNQF
=

EXMMER  ZEEEWERBEE
AREEECERERATEFENR
B - EfHAERE102,993,0007T
ERFABEEMEEEARER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

16 BLEE

Computer
software

e
HK$'000
BT T

As at 1 April 2022 M2022F4H18
Cost B X 109,186
Accumulated amortisation Sty (71,727)
37,459
Year ended 31 March 2023 BiE£2023F3A31HLFE
Opening net book amount FHRREFE 37,459
Additions INE 2,968
Amortisation (Note 7) B (M3E7) (8,075)
Currency translation differences B E (1,057)
Closing net book amount FAREmFE 31,295
As at 31 March 2023 "2023F3H31H
Cost D% 109,789
Accumulated amortisation S ic (78,494)
31,295
Year ended 31 March 2024 BZE2024F3A31BLFE
Opening net book amount FHREFE 31,295
Additions RE 4,606
Disposal e (103)
Amortisation (Note 7) B (M3E7) (7,613)
Currency translation differences B (716)
Closing net book amount FAREmIFE 27,469
As at 31 March 2024 71202453 H31H
Cost [BEN 112,403
Accumulated amortisation e i (84,934)
27,469

Amortisation of intangible assets is included in “general
and administrative expenses” in the consolidated income

statement.

RMITHFX ] -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

17 INSURANCE POLICY INVESTMENTS 17 RERE
2024 2023
2024F 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT
Non-current assets REBEE
Insurance policy investments RERE 220,242 202,155
Movement of the insurance policy investments is as follows: REFENEBOT -
2024 2023
2024F 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
As at 1 April R4A1H 202,155 201,935
Additions NE 11,481 11,679
Disposal HE (808) (797)
Fair value gain/(loss) recognised to other M E b2 U AFERH
comprehensive income AN AW (F1E) 7,414 (10,662)
As at 31 March M3A31TH 220,242 202,155
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the insurance policy A2024F 20233 A31H @ (FEIH
investments are measured at fair values, which approximate B ERREBEAENAEEE S -

to their surrender values.

The insurance policy investments are denominated in the RELE T EESIE -
following currencies:

2024 2023

202445 20234

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

uss =TT 153,370 141,998
HK$ Pt 66,872 60,157
220,242 202,155
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

18 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 18 REEE RRMIRE

2024
20244

HK$'000
BT T

2023

20234
HK$'000

BT

— Investment in VSCO —FAVSCORRE 383,912 369,157

— Investment in Harmony — R EHFIEREAT
Pharmacare Limited & 12,770 12,348
396,682 381,505

The movements of share of net assets of investments in
associates during the year are as follows:

FARBERRNKEREEEFE

SHIT

2024 AOVAC]
20245 20234F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BB T T
As at 1 April RAA1H 381,505 14,406
Acquisition of VSCO (Note (a)) UZBEVSCO (M 7E(a)) = 352,463
Capital injection in an associate R—HEE A ATEE - 76,758
Share of net profits/(losses) of FEREE A AT
associates KR (B8 ) FEE 42,281 (31,804)
Elimination of unrealised profit with an ¥4 8 — BN 58
associate AR g A (9,158) (9,459)
Dividends received from an associate  UER— R4 A TR S, (19,211) (5,750)
Share of other comprehensive (L — B R R
income/(loss) of an associate Hi2mmA (EE) 2,040 (15,307)
Currency translation differences ErihE R (775) 198
As at 31 March MR3HA31H 396,682 381,505
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

18
(a)

142

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Acquisition of VSCO

On 25 January 2022, Regina Miracle Fung Ying Limited
("RM Fung Ying”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a joint venture implementation
agreement (“Agreement”) with ASLA US Holdings LLC and
Victoria's Secret & Co. (collectively, the “Sellers”) where
the Sellers agreed to sell 49% of VSCQO's equity interest
for a cash consideration of US$45,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$352,463,000). The transaction was completed on 6 April
2022.

According to the Agreement, the Group appointed two
out of five directors in the Board of VSCO and accordingly,
VSCO is treated as an associate of the Company.

During the purchase price allocation process, the Group has
identified right-to-use of a trading license granted by the
Seller to be an intangible asset of VSCO as at the acquisition
date. However, as the estimated benefits from the right-to-
use, after deducting the royalty fee to be paid to the Sellers,
is close to zero, no fair value adjustment has been made in
regard to the intangible asset.

18 REFE N TMNRE @)

(a)

I EVSCO

202291 A25H » AREI 2 EH B
NAKELRERERAR([HE ]
@ & | ) B2 ASLA US Holdings LLC &
Victoria's Secret & Co.(#fE &7 1)
FusEBEmpE(TZBE]) B
It & 5 R E AR £ 1 {845,000,000
ET(HE R B#352,463,00000) B &
VSCOHI49% IR #E 7% X 5 B2 722022
FA4R6H5EHK °

REBEZWEE - EVSCOEEEMA A
B AEECZAEMBES - &
VSCOMAR RA R B HVEE 2 7] o

RBESEBREY  AEECHKE
TERBOR S EER RS
VSCOR YR A BB B & - A1 -
BRAE RN G MmN MRS R E
AXAEFEEREOIT  RUE
HELEEFDAHERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

18 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18 REZERATNKRE @)
(a) Acquisition of VSCO (Continued) (a) UWEBVSCO(#)
The following table summarises the purchase price TREMNRWEBBHOKEES X
allocation and the notional goodwill as at the acquisition ZERE
date:
HK$'000
BT T
Cash consideration paid ENHEENRE 352,463
Recognised amounts of fair value of AEBIEWBEEFER
net identifiable assets acquired and EREEETFEATEN
liabilities assumed ERASHE
Current assets MENEE 329,447
Non-current assets IERBEE 995,195
Current liabilities RENEE (346,773)
Non-current liabilities E S EI=E (679,286)
298,583
Multiplied by: % of ownership interest acquired 3 : {52 W AE RN B DL 49%
Net identifiable assets acquired AI#A BN E B E S E 146,306
Add: Notional Goodwill (Note) e aEEmEREE) 206,157
Net assets acquired BURBEEFE 352,463
Note: Through the investment of VSCO, the Group penetrated into the ffsE . AEBBB/VSCOBREH ZHBE AN
retail business of an international brand in Mainland China. The B RENSEEL  ZEHERR
notional goodwill represents the market presence and established VSCORH B A B T 5 R B3 R B & H)
retail network of VSCO in Mainland China, and the synergies by TEBRKUARAZHE DR ERAEE
contributing the Group's expertise in the manufacturing technology R R T 2 5 A0 N B SR S SR D 175 R AR
know-how and products to the associate. JE -
(b) Summarised financial information of VSCO (b) VSCOWEIBEERBE
Set out below are the summarised financial information of TREFIVSCOMFEERHEE -
VSCO.

2024
20244

HK$'000
BT

Profit or loss and other comprehensive loss Bz Rk EM2EEE

Revenue A 1,882,169

Profit for the period B A 85,424

Other comprehensive income HEa 2wl A 4,164
89,588
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REMBRRMEE

18 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18 REEZE N TIMNRE @)
(b) Summarised financial information of VSCO (b) VSCOWIEITEE REEE (&)

(Continued)

2024
20244
HK$'000
BET T
Assets and liabilities BEEREE
Current assets BN EE 565,618
Non-current assets JEMBNEE 526,801
Current liabilities B EE (472,561)
Non-current liabilities EREaE (290,571)
Net assets BESE 329,287
Reconciliation to carrying amount EAVSCOMIRE M
of the investment in VSCO IR E AR
As at 1 April 2023 M2023F4/18 369,157
Profit for the year F R T 85,424
Other comprehensive income for the year FAEMEERA 4,164
Closing net assets FREEFE 329,287
Group's share in % REEEE(AEDLETR) 49%
Group's share of closing net assets in VSCO  ZARE&EEfE(GVSCOFEREEFE 161,351
Add: Notional Goodwill I T 206,157
Less: Elimination of unrealised profit with A A TR
an associate IR I I 8 (9,159)
Add: Currency translation differences - B¥nEESE 774
359,123
Pursuant to the Agreement, RM Fung Ying has provided WBiEZhE  EPRLEBOERS N
a general guarantee to the associate for additional funding RIEXR  BERBEF =F AR
of up to US$39,000,000 (equivalent to HK$305,468,000) HNE & B = 39,000,000 T (FHE R
within three years from the acquisition date, upon the 75 #305,468,0007T ) [AI B & A AR
demand from the associate to finance its working capital —MRER AEEBEBEESHERERE
requirements. & e
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRENE

19 INVENTORIES 19 F&
2024 2023
2024F 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT
Raw materials B 551,748 568,720
Work-in-progress TR 441,399 551,491
Finished goods BIAY &R 235,693 320,066
1,228,840 1,440,277
Less: provision for impairment T BB RS (3,748) (2,448)
Inventories, net FEF%E 1,225,092 1,437,829

The costs of inventories sold recognised as expense and
included in “cost of sales” amounted to approximately

HK$2,723,889,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023:
HK$2,952,427,000).

20 TRADE RECEIVABLES

HE2024F3A831HILFE - FER AR
TWEFAMEERK INEETFTERAR
#4958 162,723,889,000 7T ( 20234 -
75 1£2,952,427,0007T ) °

20 EZBUHRA

2024
20244

2023
20234
HK$'000
BT T

HK$'000
BT T

Trade receivables =) N
— carried at amortised cost — R SR AN B BR 775,134 563,005
— carried at FVOCI —RAFEFAHMEE
W A FBR 262,634 158,633
1,037,768 721,638
Less: loss allowance of trade B B S EREERR
receivables EriE R (10,285) (11,104)
1,027,483 710,534

The carrying amounts of trade receivables carried at
amortised costs approximate their fair values.

FEHRE2023/24

RHEHR AT BREV B 5 FE YRR KA BR
EEEEQNFERE -
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e RBRRME

20 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

(a) As at 31 March, the ageing analysis of gross trade
receivables based on invoice date were as follows:

20 ZEFREWER @)

(a) M3A31H ' BFEBEFAFEREE
B HETE R DTN

2024 2023

20245 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT

0-30 days 0Z30H 639,179 356,792
31-60 days 31E60H 145,248 207,241
61-90 days 61Z290H 87,833 47,687
Over 90 days #BiB90H 165,508 109,918
1,037,768 721,638

The credit period granted by the Group is generally 30 to 90
days. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

(b) As at 31 March, the carrying amounts of gross trade
receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

AEBEBEHNEER —MA30EW
H o RNEBEWESB T ERRIEE
R o

(b) M3A31E ' BSREWBEREZENERER
BT EEEHE -

2024 2023
20245 20234

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BT I

uss$ E 742,808 473,378
RMB AR 254,352 247,706
HKS S 40,194 506
VND WEE 414 48
1,037,768 721,638

(c) As at 31 March 2024, included in the Group's trade
receivables were amounts due from related parties of
approximately HK$80,842,000 (2023: HK$67,610,000) (Note
32(c)).

(c) M2024%3F318 Bt AREE
BB 5 e AR 3B FE U BE i 5 e
4975 # 80,842,000 7T (20234 : B
67,610,0007T) (FI7¥32(c)) ©

146 REGINA MIRACLE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED # R iREIBL () ER A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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20 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 20 E5EWERF @)
(d) Impairment and risk exposure (d) BEKRRE
The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to ANEBEREBV IS REERF RS
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime WA= HEERE  ERmEe™
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. Note 3.1(c) SRR E B EEFERNBAES
(ii) provides details for the calculation of the expected credit BEE - SR B BT ER
loss and credit risk exposure. HEEEBEREERBIFS -
Movements in the Group's provision for impairment loss 202493 A31H K&2023F3A31B AR
allowance for trade receivables as at 31 March 2024 and 31 EETIREFEWERNREEER
March 2023 as follows: HEHWT
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
As at 1 April ®4A1H8 11,104 13,349
Reversal of loss allowance FRNBEERD
recognised in profit or loss during B O SRR
the year (819) (2,245)
As at 31 March H3A31H 10,285 11,104
21 DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 21 & ﬁ; - FEAARERAEAME
RECEIVABLES WKIE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Non-current portion FREET D
Rental, utilities and other deposits e - AARBEEMIZE 9,974 5,901
Prepayments for purchase of property, BEEME - = &R ES
plant and equipment TE A 107,715 374,760
Other prepayments H A I 308 1,475 317
119,164 380,978
Current portion BB
Rental, utilities and other deposits e ARRBREMmES 12,018 5,604
Prepayments for materials MR FER FRIE 31,134 23,967
Prepayment for subcontracting fee SBEANEMNRE 23,945 23,618
Other prepayments E B RE 10,533 11,425
VAT recoverable B EE 22,667 986
Other receivables A e Y R IE 11,189 8,747
e 1486 74,347
230,650 455,325
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21

22
(a)

148

DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

The carrying amounts of deposits and other receivables
approximate their fair values.

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables do not contain
impaired assets.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date
is the carrying value of each class of receivable mentioned
above. The Group does not hold collateral as security.

The carrying amounts of deposits, prepayment and other
receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

21

Re FANRERHEME

U FRIE ()

BeREMEBRFKBENREERZELR
HEMRE °

BE -~ AN FRIE RHE M E YRR T
BREBEEE -

RS RMAAENRSEERRA
EXRERNZEEKFENERE -
REEAN EE P mIERIER -

B - BN FR R E A B R FRR R
EENA TSR E

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT TSR T
RMB AR 132,837 376,565
VND WEE 47,451 45,811
HK$ ok 45,245 12,478
US$ E 5,117 20,471
230,650 455,325

CASH AND BANK BALANCES 22 BERBITEER

Cash and cash equivalents

(a)

RERRTEEY

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Cash at bank RITRE 622,491 674,466
Cash on hand FHEAe 626 562
Cash and cash equivalents HeRESZED 623,117 675,028

Note:

Cash and cash equivalents of HK$263,244,000 (2023: HK$216,060,000)
are held in the PRC and Vietnam as at 31 March 2024. They are subject
to local exchange control regulations, which provide for restrictions on
remitting capital from the country concerned, other than through normal
dividends.

fiiE

MR2024F3R31H - e MBS EMEE
263,244,0007T (20234 : #%216,060,0007T )
FEFERERAFE - ZEREYZEINEE
HIEPIRE - ZSEHINEEHIEIRERE
BERELESHRS] - MIFLBRBEEDA
HEFTBR I o
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FEMBRRMEE

22 CASH AND BANK BALANCES (continued) 22 BHERBITESHR@
ZREBITER

#2024F3A31H + RIFITERPIFA S
MR 77 B %5 1,162,000 7T (20234
75 #5,338,0007T ) fE R E BTLA
HekEUmBEE AR  EHOREF

(b) Restricted bank deposits (b)
As at 31 March 2024, restricted deposits of HK$1,162,000
(2023: HK$5,338,000) are held at bank accounts as reserves
for settling customs duties, cash collateral for the purchase
of petrol, electricity in Vietnam and certain property, plant

and equipment and capital contribution to a subsidiary in the BREETYWE BELRRENES
PRC. BEREBURE —FWBRREEMN R
1# o

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents and restricted bank

AEBNREMNRASEEYURZR

deposits are denominated in the following currencies:

HERITIFHIA TN EREEHE -

2024 2023

2024 20234

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Us$ ESS 360,625 334,367
RMB AR 217,331 129,860
HK$ B 36,648 147,018
VND MEE 9,415 68,674
EUR BT 148 361
Others Hib 112 86
624,279 680,366

23 SHARE CAPITAL

23 RA

Number of
shares  Share capital
RGEE [N
(thousands) HK$'000
(Fr%) BETT
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares at US$0.01 each FAXEEO.01 3= TR LA

As at 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023

M20224 818 ~ 20235 K&

and 2024 202493 A31H 50,000,000 3,875,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR
Ordinary shares at US$0.01 each HRRE(EO.01F TR LA
As at 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 1R20226F4R818 ~ 2023F &

and 2024 202493 H31H 1,224,250 95,247
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24 RESERVES 24 f#fE
Statutory Trade  Insurance
surplus ~ receivables policy  Investment
Share reserve  atFVOCI investments properties  Exchange  Retained
premium (Note) reserve  reserve  feserve  reserve  earnings
BOTE
ALL
i 2EHAN
L fife fiff  NERE  REEA
HK$'000 ’ ’ HK$'000  HK$'000
BRI BHTIL %M‘T';E ] L jEimm: T ’ﬂ?ﬁ
As at 31 March 2022 R2022E38317 1,705,969 91,976 (492) 15,497 - (49.824) 1777884 3541010
Profit for the year Efgi| - - - - - - 33m8 38328
Currency translation differences EhEER - - - - - (283,756) - (293,756)
Fair valug loss oninsurance policy ~ REREHNATEEE
investments - - - (10,662) - - - (10,662)
Fair value change on trade FATEAALBRZERA
receivables carried at FVOCI SIEME S RIS
LTEEY - - (49,843) - - - - (49,843)

Reclassification of trade receivables at  RHERSHATEA
FVOC reserve to factoring interests —~ Ef2ENANE S

and charges upon disposals UG ERENARE
REHERER - S 1./ - - - -9
Share of other comprehensive loss of  E(i—TBELANER
an associate 2EEE - - - - - (1530) - (18307)
Transfer to statutory reserve BRTITRE - 3886 - - - - (3,886) -
Dividends ke - - - - - - (192200 (192,207)
As at 31 March 2023 R202BE3A3A 1,705,969 95,862 (813) 4,835 - (318887) 1,965,049  3462,015
Profit for the year ERgR - - - - - - M3 143175
Currency translation differences ElnEEE - - - - - Mg - (Mg
Fair value gainon insurance policy ~ REREZHATEME
investments - - - 1414 - - - 1414
Fair value gain on investment properties & MENATENE - - - - 71,245 - - 71245
Fair valug change on trade receivables  RATHEFAZMAEIA
carried at FY/OC| SR B S RMER
AR - - (60510 - - - - (60510
Reclassification of rade receivables at - MHERERATEFA
FVOC reserve to factoring interests £ 2ENANZ
and charges upon disposals BB REENIEE
REHERER = - 59,848 - - - - 59,848
Share of other comprehensive loss of  ElE—TEEE A TR
an associate 2HFE - - - - - 2,040 - 2,040
Transfer to statutory reserve ERTITHE = 39 - - - - (392) =
Dividends el = = = = = = (64,885) (64,885)
As at 31 March 2024 R2024E38317 1,705,969 96,254 (1,475) 12,249 77245  (657,961) 2042947 3275228
Note: i
The balance mainly represents statutory surplus reserve. In accordance EREERETRMBER - REBERP BT
with articles of association of certain subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC, YA THBARSMEEZZMA - WEBAR
the subsidiaries are required to transfer 10% of the profit after taxation AIRERE G ERRRARBIEEF10%
prepared in accordance with PRC accounting standards to the statutory ERELATHE  EEAREFMRAN50%
reserve until the balance reaches 50% of the registered share capital. RiE o ZFRBARERDEMEENEER
Such reserve can be used to reduce any losses incurred and to increase FAVAIE IORAR A o

share capital.
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FEMBRRMEE

25 BORROWINGS

25 f&ERK

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
Bank borrowings IRITER

Non-current JETEH 3,532,595 3,638,548
Current binE2)] 621,032 319,988
4,153,627 3,958,536

Borrowings are analysed as follows: BRI

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEET T BT T
Non-current FERED
Portion of term loans due for M E2F R HEERN
repayment between 1 and 2 years FHERED 2,140,534 2,731,696
Portion of term loans due for R2E5F RHAEER
repayment between 2 and 5 years FHERED 1,392,061 906,852
3,532,595 3,638,548
Current B
Portion of term loans due for M ERDEEERN
repayment within 1 year TFHERED 277,631 106,334
Short-term bank loans MHESRITER 343,401 213,654
. 621,032 319988
4,153,627 3,958,536

As at 31 March 2024, bank borrowing of HK$54,190,000
(2023: HK$57,753,000) were secured by the Group's certain

MN2024 3 A31H » RITEIE
# 54,190,000 7T ( 2023 F : B &

insurance policy investments of HK$69,556,000 (2023:
HK$67,944,000). Other bank borrowings were secured by
corporate guarantees given by the Company and certain
subsidiaries of the Company.

As at 31 March 2024, total undrawn trade facilities
amounted to approximately HK$3,480,498,000 (2023:
HK$3,783,610,000).

57,753,0007T) A A S EE TIRER
& % ¥ 69,656,000 7T (20234 : B
67,944,0007T ) 1B - EMIRITIE K
AARR RARRETHBRA AR
HIR BIYERVEIRIR o

R2024F3A31H » KIERE HRE
48 5B 4 /5 78 15 3,480,498,000 7T (2023
£ : #153,783,610,0007T) °
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25 BORROWINGS (continued) 25 {%a’iﬁk(g)

The carrying amounts of bank borrowings are denominated TEFRNERERATEEHE
in the following currencies:

2024 2023
20244F 20234
HK$°000 HK$’'000
BT T BT T
HK$ B 4,070,293 3,912,070
RMB AR #E 54,145 -
US$ ETT 29,189 46,466
4,153,627 3,958,536
As at 31 March 2024, the Group's borrowings bore floating M2024F3A31H » REEMERIZ
rates and the effective interest rate per annum was 6.5% HENREAE - MEBERENER65%
(2023: 5.4%). (20234 : 5.4%) °
26 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 25 BEILEFTEH
The net movement on the deferred income tax (liabilities)/ REEAMEH(AE) EAEZEFHEN
assets is as follows: N

2024 AOAC]

20245 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT

At beginning of the year REA 16,625 9,003
(Charged)/credited to the consolidated  (¥18), st A4r&Wasx

income statement (Note 11) (FFzE11) (13,964) 7,575

Debited to other comprehensive B ARt 2 miEs

income (“OCI") ([HftzmE Wz ]) (25,748) -

Currency translation differences gl =5 (4,434) 47

At end of the year REFER (27,521) 16,625
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26 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current income
tax recoverable against current income tax liabilities and
when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to
income tax levied by the same taxation authority on either
the taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is
an intention to settle the balances on a net basis. The offset
amounts are as follows:

e RBRRME

26 EIEFTBH (@)

2B VA TE A OR B EATTHE N 5 AT U = BD
HprSRENHAmSHAaEEE B
EXFMEREERAGBRAR—HBH
BARZERVERITRERNEE
BEHREHER  ARMERBERIZ
FREEEHGRE - AR EETER
BHEEHRAR - KFSEWT ¢

2024
20244

2023
20234
HK$'000
BT T

HK$'000
BT T

Deferred income tax assets FEEFTISTHEE 52,882 57,316
Deferred income tax liabilities FEEFTSH A E (80,403) (40,691)
Deferred income tax assets, net EEFSHREE 758 (27,521) 16,625

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are to be settled
after more than 12 months.

The movements in gross deferred income tax assets and
liabilities during the year without taking into consideration
of the offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction
are as follows:

EXEFMEHEERBBNREB12(EA
RIELRT -

P BEREHAERA FEEN
B (IR E R — B A
AR T -
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REMBRRMEE

26 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 26 IEIEFTEH @)
Deferred income tax liabilities: EIEFTBHREAE .

Accelerated

tax Investment

depreciation properties Total

MEBIBNE REYZE @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT BT

As at 1 April 2022 MR202254A1H 31,669 - 31,669
Charged to the consolidated income nazalaEs

statement 10,481 - 10,481

Currency translation differences ERHEES (36) - (36)

As at 31 March 2023 #2023F3H31H 42,114 - 42,114

As at 1 April 2023 202354 A1H 42,114 - 42,114
Charged to the consolidated income nasaslkzsx

statement 13,964 - 13,964

Charged to OCl arising from revaluation of B R¥EEZHRENE
owner-occupied properties upon transfer  ZEEF(EEMNE

to investment properties Hib 2 ERE 25,748 25,748

As at 31 March 2024 2024563 A31H 56,078 25,748 81,826
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FEMBRRMEE

26 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued) 26 ELFTEB @)

Deferred income tax assets: ELEFBHREE -
Loss
allowance
of trade
receivables

Lease

liabilities Tax losses Total

5 5
RS RRE
HK$'000
BT

AEAE  BUABA @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT  BETR BETR

As at 1 April 2022 R2022F4A41H 1,415 309 38,948 40,672
(Charged)/credited to the  (18), 5t A

consolidated income e MR

statement (1,077) - 19,133 18,056
Currency translation EiiRE xR

differences - 11 11
As at 31 March 2023 720233 H31H 338 309 58,092 58,739
As at 1 April 2023 7R2023F4A1H 338 309 58,092 58,739
(Charged)/credited to the  (#18), 5t A

consolidated income FAEWSER

statement - - -
Currency translation EREEE

differences - (4,434) (4,434)
As at 31 March 2024 720249F3A31H 338 309 53,658 54,305

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss
carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the
related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable.
The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of
HK$83,437,000 (2023: HK$6,231,000) in respect of losses
amounting to HK$309,880,000 (2023: HK$38,629,000)
that can be carried forward against future taxable income.
Among the tax losses, HK$66,391,000 have expiry dates of
2029. The remaining tax losses have no expiry date.

As at 31 March 2024, deferred income tax liabilities of
approximately HK$17,253,000 (2023: HK$52,047,000) have
not been provided for the withholding taxation that would
be payable on the unremitted earnings of subsidiaries
in the PRC of approximately HK$345,054,000 (2023:
HK$1,040,943,000), as the directors considered that the
timing of the reversal of the related temporary differences
can be controlled and the related temporary difference will
not be reversed and will not be taxable in the foreseeable
future.

AT EB AR ERTEFEIR A
MEM=SmME @ ASmEEHESE
BRELEMSHEE - ~NEBEWER
] 4 PR HB A5 8 LUK 88 R SRR AR A
/8518 75 # 83,437,000 7T (2023 4F : 8
#6,231,00070) RIELEFTSHEE
78 ¥ 309,880,000 7T ( 2023 F : B &
38,629,0007T) ° fEFLIEEIEF - B
66,391,000 7T A 2029 4 B 8 - E A4 7H
BEBIWEREA -

R2024F3A31H  HRNEERA
BEABEREEEARBEA TIE
FIREEETREEEETERTR
HGREO BT ERER - ELEFRER
B {5 %978 % 17,253,000 7T (2023 4F :
78 152,047,000 7T ) A &K Ht B BT
B A R REE &R A TR A5
#& 345,054,000 T ( 2023 F : & &
1,040,943,0007T ) EH B4 ©
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27 TRADE PAYABLES 27 BZEMERR

As at 31 March, the ageing analysis of trade payables based M3A31H ' BZEMERFUREZAE

on invoice date were as follows: STERIRRDTIT

156

2024 2023

20244F 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT

0-30 days 0Z30H 312,962 280,175
31-60 days 31E60H 57,422 55,184
61-90 days 61Z290H 17,123 107
Over 90 days HHRiE90H 2,823 4,861
390,330 340,327

As at 31 March, the carrying amounts of trade payables are
denominated in the following currencies:

M3A31A - BHEMERNEREEN

THEHEHE

2024 2023
20244 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT I

USss$ ES 167,192 130,650
VND HMEJE 129,965 111,311
RMB N 48,549 54,774
HKS s 34,709 36,485
EUR BT 9,902 5,623
Others Hith 13 1,484
390,330 340,327

The carrying amounts of trade payables approximate their

fair values.

BHEMNERNRAEEE X FER

5o
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28 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 28 FEtERARHEMEMNIE
2024 2023
2024F 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Non-current portion FRHAE D
Deposits b 1,440 -
Other payables H e ATRUE 33,980 37,728
35,420 37,728
Current portion BIEAER o
Accruals for staff costs BIRARERTE A 169,932 169,768
Payable for purchase of property, BEDE  BEX
plant and equipment HEIEN IR 23,145 207
Payable for construction in progress R TIREN RIS 93,158 112,285
Other payables Hoh A 3K08 64,557 40,581
Accrued factory overheads and et IHEEEANEEHT
operating expenses 62,978 103,558
413,770 426,399
449,190 464,127
The carrying amounts of accruals and other payables are FERTE A X H fh FE < SR IE 89 AR E (B A
denominated in the following currencies: THIEEEHE
2024 2023
2024F 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
VND A 251,812 326,495
RMB AR 138,641 96,078
HKS ks 49,646 32,463
uss ETT 8,948 8,948
JPY H 143 143
449,190 464,127
The carrying amounts of accruals and other payables FESHE A I H < 3R IE B0 R T {E B

approximate their fair values. LATEEE ©

N
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

29 DIVIDENDS 29 BB

(a) Dividends recognized during the reporting period (a) RBEHEAREZWIRE

2024 2023
2024F 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT

Final dividend, paid of HK1.8 cents per Et#&ZE202343A31H

ordinary share for the year ended 31 1 FEREAIR B FAZ

March 2023 (For the year ended 31 AR .87

March 2022: HK7.2 cents) (EiZ=20224F3A31H

\FEE - 7.27840) 22,037 88,146

Interim dividend, paid of HK3.5 cents per 21 ZE202349A30H

ordinary share for the period ended 30 1 ERRE AR EARR B AR

September 2023 (For the period ended & 3@A%3.57811l

30 September 2022: HK8.5 cents) (B =20229A30H
1EEART - 8.5784) 42,848 104,061
64,885 192,207
(b) Dividends not yet recognised during the (b) RHEHEAERERHNRE
reporting period
At the Board meeting held on 26 June 2024, a final dividend M2024F6 26 B RITHNESTE G5
of HK2.2 cents per ordinary share of the Company, totalling - ERERBERNEZE202453A31
approximately HK$26,934,000 (2023: a final dividend of HIEFEARRNRPR G EE
HK1.8 cents per ordinary share of the Company, totalling f&2. 278l - & 4 5B 26,934,000
approximately HK$22,037,000) for the year ended 31 March g0 (20234 « ARQA G M RHERKE
2024 are proposed. These consolidated financial statements fEE@BkIsEl AN ABE
do not reflect these dividend payables. 22,037,00070) ° % Eir A M IERENR

Wi RREZE A S, o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

30 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 30 KEEKMBEE
(a) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to net (a) BREFTEGHANGHIELEXKITE
cash generated from operations R RENHER
2024 2023
2024F 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Profit before income tax BRETIS R AT T 152,177 456,221
Adjustments for: P
Amortisation of intangible assets A EE 7,613 8,075
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BENMERETE
equipment 462,182 470,180
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 55,389 85,202
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, HEME - BEK
plant and equipment, net Bt (eas ),/ S1BF (4,611) 1,394
Restructuring cost (Note 7) BAERA(FFET7) 39,427 -
Gain on disposal and modification of HEREEFREEEN
right-of-use assets W zs (2,294) (672)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of insurance HERBIRERN
policy investments &8, (W) 218 (92)
Provision for impairment of inventories 17 & 1B & 1,300 2,448
Share of net (profits)/losses of AR 2
associates accounted for AE MR/ EEFRE
using the equity method (33,123) 41,263
Reversal of loss allowance of B S EWER KB B SIE R E
trade receivables (819) (2,245)
Finance income B A (2,341) (3,197)
Finance costs IR IDN 336,956 293,532
1,012,074 1,352,109
Changes in working capital: LEESEE)
Inventories FE 162,164 65,817
Trade receivables B S EWERK (327,926) 422,837
Deposits, prepayments and other B BARIER
receivables H A FEUGRIE (44,350) (28,056)
Restricted bank deposits SRFIRITFER 4,176 (2,338)
Trade payables E ZENERR 55,902 (189,559)
Accruals and other payables EEHE R R H A EN FOE 16,789 (106,414)
Cash generated from operations IR SIN S 878,829 1,514,396
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RBRRME

30 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

(Continued)

(b) Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and (b)

equipment

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from
disposal of property, plant and equipment comprise:

Net book amount of property, plant
and equipment disposed and

30 REEKFBERE@W

HEME - BERRBHAEK
b2

REABRERERT HEWE - |
B R BTSRRI

2024 2023
2024F 20234
HK$'000
BT T

HK$'000
BT T

EHERMEDE  BEX
AR EHE(FIEE13)

written-off (Note 13) 69,545 3,751
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, HEYE - BRE REEERE
plant and equipment, net (Note 7) (&) FE(sE7) 4,611 (1,394)
Restructuring cost (Note 7) EHAKA(FIFET) (39,427) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME BENEBHD
plant and equipment FriS 5008 34,729 2,357
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (c) RMEETBELEEBEHE

activities

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000
BT I

HK$'000
BT

Cash and cash equivalents HEREESZED 623,117 675,028
Lease liabilities HEAE (122,644) (160,447)
Borrowings B (4,153,627) (3,958,536)
Net debt BEFHE (3,653,154) (3,443,955)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

30 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 30 REXBMERTw

(Continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (c) BMEETBELEZEBHERG
activities (Continued)

Cash
and cash Lease Bank
equivalents liabilities borrowings

BER
REZEY AEAMH IR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BETT

Net debt as at 1 April 2022 2022648182~

afE¥s 995,030 (147,005) (4,264,060)
Cash flows WEME (223,410) 82,995 305,524
Lease additions HERNE - (106,717) =
Interest expense FEMAX - (8,876) -
Lease disposals HELE - 4,416 N
Lease modifications HEgE - 6,867 -
Foreign exchange SINEE ) EE
adjustment (96,592) 7,873 -

Net debt as at 31 March #2023F3A31HZ

2023 BEFRE 675,028 (160,447) (3,958,536)
Cash flows REME 102,103 54,239 (195,091)
Lease additions HERE = (26,957) =
Interest expense FEMAX = (9,431) =
Lease disposals HERE = 14,682 =
Lease modifications HEH - (574) =
Foreign exchange HNE BB

adjustment (154,014) 5,844 =
Net debt as at M2024F3A31HZ

31 March 2024 BEFH 623,117 (122,644) (4,153,627)

31 COMMITMENTS 31 &g
Capital commitments BARERE
2024 2023
2024F 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
Contracted but not provided for EETHVERIER B -

Property, plant and equipment and B R s A K

right-of-use assets PREEE 178,682 318,264

FFIR4E2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24 161



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

32 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32 BEAIRS

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the
ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making
financial and operating decisions. Parties are also considered
to be related if they are subject to common control or
under control of the close family members of the Group's
controlling shareholder.

Regent Marvel Investment Holdings Limited (incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands) owns 52.93% of the Company's
shares as at 31 March 2024 (2023: Same) and is wholly
owned and controlled by Mr. Hung Yau Lit. In addition,
Mr. Hung Yau Lit directly holds 15.36% of the Company's
shares as at 31 March 2024 (2023: Same). The remaining
shares are widely held. The ultimate controlling party of the
Group is Mr. Hung Yau Lit.

Name of related parties

H— BN EEEMEERNS T
RS —IHEM B R EERKAER
BEXFEN MEIRAREMRE -
i35 77 R AR Bl S R A SR B AR
REVIRREEH - AITAAR S A B
i o

7202443 A31 8 * Regent Marvel
Investment Holdings Limited ( 7 %
BEREZESFMERYL) BEEAR A
52.93% i1 (20234 : fAR]) » Wt
MEEERERA RIS - o - R
2024F3A31H - AEEEEERE
RATEN5.36% %17 (20234 : AER]) °
BTROBBEZHEFEE - AEERK
PRI AL S A o

Relationship with the Company

BEL AR

Le Ying Trading (Hong Kong) Limited

BB 5 (BB)ERAR

Faxun Clothing (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.

EAREN () BRAR]

Red Star Shun Cheong Shoulder Pad Factory
(Shenzhen) Limited

HEEFERBmORI)ERAF

Regina Miracle Technology (ZhaoQing) Co., Ltd.

W (R ) BR AT

Float Limited

VSCO Holdings
VS Trading (Shanghai) Company Limited

BEEZES(LB)ERAT
VS Management (Shanghai) Company Limited

Bt

FEEMEER(LE)BRAR

BEARDRHER

Common controlling shareholder
HEERARR

Common controlling shareholder
HEERARR

Common controlling shareholder

HEZEARAR R

Common controlling shareholder

HEZEARAR R

Under control of a close family member
of the controlling shareholder

PR AR R A0 FRAK B 15

Associate of an indirectly wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company

RAREZEEEWB AR E AR

An indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of
VSCO Holdings (Cayman)

VSCO Holdings (Cayman)fy 2 &K E A A

An indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of
VSCO Holdings (Cayman)

VSCO Holdings (Cayman)fy 2 &K E A A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

32 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 32 BEAIRZ @)

(a) In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the financial (a) BEFBHREEMEAHATFEESEN
statements, the Group has the following transactions with AREBEBEBEFET TS

related parties:

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Sales of goods to an associate: HEEY T —EEBE AR
- VS Trading (Shanghai) Company —EEXEH (L)
Limited BRAFR 373,053 148,633
Sales of goods to other related parties: &S FHARET :
— Le Ying Trading (Hong Kong) —#RES(BB)BRA
Limited 35,881 34,490
— Faxun Clothing (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. —FARE( 8 BRAR 67 791
— Float Limited —Float Limited 6,216 2,818
42,164 38,099
Rental expense paid to other BT HE M ES
related parties: e
— Red Star Shun Cheong Shoulder —{ E2EEREmORYI)
Pad Factory (Shenzhen) Limited BRAF] 25,061 -
— Regina Miracle Technology — P RBI(EE)
(ZhaoQing) Co., Ltd. BRAF] 4,023 .
29,084 =
Note: The pricing of these transactions was determined based on mutual MGt © WEER 5 MEE TR AN B SRR E 5 48
negotiation and agreement between the Group and the related BEBMBEETE °
parties.
(b) Key management compensation (b) FEEEEFHMH
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Wages, salaries, bonus and allowances IE e~ Te4L NoEBL 29,184 31,248
Retirement benefits costs — defined {7Maa7F|JﬁJZ$ TR RETE
contribution scheme 329 307
29,513 &1 055
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

32 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 32 BEAIRZ @

(c) Year-end balances with related parties (c) EEEAEFMIFREER

2024

2023

2024F 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT

Trade receivables due from an associate  JEU—EIEL S A FIHE 5 FEUL

(Note): BRSR(PTEE) -
- VS Trading (Shanghai) Company —EEEZEH5(L8)
Limited BRAF 60,583 57,317

Trade receivables due from other related  FEUE {h BA:&E T HYE 5 IEUL

parties (Note): BRA(PEE) -
- Le Ying Trading (Hong Kong) Limited —BRES(EE)
BRAA] 18,668 9,081
— Faxun Clothing (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. — KRR ()
BRAA] - 132
— Float Limited —Float Limited 1,591 1,080
20,259 10,293
Other receivables due from other JEU H AbBEE 5 1Y
related parties: H b pERs -
— Red Star Shun Cheong Shoulder — I 2EEREmORYI)
Pad Factory (Shenzhen) Limited BRAA] 2,050 -
Note: The trade receivables due from related parties are unsecured, MisE : FEURRBIER M B 5 EKR R AEEA -
interest-free and with credit terms ranging from 60 to 120 days. R ERIEERNTF60£E1208 °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

33 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 33 ZEEHIENETMIA

As at 31 March, the Group held the following financial M3A3H AEEEE TSI
instruments: A

\
/

2024 2023
2024F 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT

Financial assets EMEE
Financial assets carried at FVOCI BAFEGAEMEE
WATIR & E

— Trade receivables —E SRR 261,767 157,338
Financial assets carried at amortised 3% ##$H5 A5 BRHY
cost CREE
— Trade receivables —E S EBERR 765,716 553,196
— Deposits and other receivables — e R EMEW IR 33,181 15,004
— Restricted bank deposits — ZREIRI TR 22 1,162 5,338
— Cash and cash equivalents — B RESEEY 22 623,117 675,028
1,684,943 1,405,904
Financial liabilities - Y=Ni
Financial liabilities at amortised cost  IZ# 4K ANEHEH)
=L
— Borrowings — &3 25 4,153,627 3,958,636
— Trade payables — B SEMER 27 390,330 340,327
— Accruals and other payables — BB A REM
FETERIA 235,664 252,990
— Lease liabilities —HEaRE 14 122,644 160,447
4,902,265 4,712,300
The Group's exposure to various risks associated with AEEAAEREM T AEENZIA
the financial instruments is discussed in Note 3.2. The [EE A FES. 27 515 o RIEHIAREA
maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting EENREEERRALASESR
period is the carrying amount of each class of financial assets BERRMEE -

mentioned above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

34 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE 4 KRB EEEERKHES
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY BE)
Balance sheet of the Company AATREERER
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$°000 HK$’'000
BT T BT
Assets BE
Non-current asset kREEE
Interest in a subsidiary KB AR AR 510,724 510,724
Current assets REBEE
Deposits, prepayments and other &4 « 813018 R E A
receivables FEU R IE 229 221
Amounts due from subsidiaries i NG B/ 1,362,700 1,426,788
Cash and cash equivalents HERIESEEY 193 219
oo een e eeeeeiiieeeieieieeieieieieieeeeeo.o... 1363122 | 1,427,228
Total assets EERE 1,873,846 1,937,952
Equity s
Equity attributable to owners of 72 B#H A (G2
the Company
Share capital [N 95,247 95,247
Reserves B (a) 1,774,108 1,838,632
Total equity ERBE 1,869,355 1,933,879
Liabilities aE
Current liabilities REBEE
Accruals and other payables FERTE A R E M FE FRIB 4,337 3,950
Current income tax liabilities BIERFTISTR B & 154 123
R, 4491 . 4,073
_Totalliabilities _ __________ 8f®® 449 . 4,073
Total equity and liabilities EnkaseEsE 1,873,846 1,937,952
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

34 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE 3 ARFEEABRERAE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (continued) 28w
(a) Reserve movement of the Company (a) AATHEES
Share premium Retained
(Note) earnings Total
BADHE
(Pft5E) REZEF st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT
As at 31 March 2022 7202253H31H 1,705,969 124,510 1,830,479
Profit for the year F 5% | - 200,360 200,360
Dividends (Note 29) A% 8 (MI7E29) - (192,207) (192,207)
As at 31 March 2023 7A2023F3H31H 1,705,969 132,663 1,838,632
Profit for the year A A - 361 361
Dividends (Note 29) 1% B (F7E29) - (64,885) (64,885)
As at 31 March 2024 120245F3H31H 1,705,969 68,139 1,774,108

Note: The share premium of the Company is available for distribution
to the shareholders of the Company, provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as
and when they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

35 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 35 EEFFERER

(a) Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments (a) EERSREEENHS

The remuneration of every director for the year ended 31 HZE2024F3A31HIFEEREEN
March 2024 is set out below: FEH T

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

RABALREES(FRATLTIHNEARRE EAARUNHE

Employer's
contribution
Discretionary Housing  to retirement
Name of Director Fees Salaries honuses allowances schemes Total
EXEK
£ ik #e Mgt EE2E HIE fazt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BRI BRI BRI BRI BRI
Executive directors YirEE
Hung Yau Lit (also known as YY Hung) it (X &tz
(Chief Executive Officer| (BR¥17E) - 9,100 = = 54 9,154
Yiu Kar Chun Antony s - 3,685 - - 36 3,721
Sze Shui Ling i - 2819 - - 36 2915
Liu Zhengiang By - 3,659 - - 56 3,715
Chen Zhiping RET - 2,907 - - 56 2,963

Independent non-executive directors B FH7ES

Or Ching Fai fiE8 3%9 - - - - 399
Tam Lai Man ZEX 336 = > - - 336
ToWong Wing Yue Annie BTk 336 = o - - 336

1071 2,230 - - 238 23539
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

35 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 35 EEFERER@®

(Continued)

(a) Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments (a) EERSAEEENHE @)

(Continued)
The remuneration of every director for the year ended 31 HZE2023F3A3HIIFEFREEN
March 2023 is set out below: EFNEYIT

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary

H i
contribution
Discretionary Housing  toretirement
Name of Director Fees Salaries bonuses allowances schemes
3
£ ik e Bigfa FEEH
HK$'000 HK$'000 i HK$'000
Executive directors HrER
Hung Yau Lit (also known as YY Hung) 37 ( REMEHZ)

Chief Executive Officer] (BR¥17E) - 9,100 - - B4 9,154
Yiu Kar Chun Antony et - 4,597 - - % 4,633
Sze Shui Ling g% - 3814 - - 36 3,850
Liu Zhengiang By - 4572 - - 55 4627
Chen Zhiping BE¥ - 3840 - - B4 3,894

Independent non-executive directors  BITEZ

Or Ching Fai figE 399 - - - - 399
Tam Lai Man EEX 336 - - - - 336
To Wong Wing Yue Annie BTk 33 - - - - 33
1,01 25,923 - - 235 21229
No remunerations were paid or receivable in respect of HZE2024F3A31BILFE  #HEEH
accepting office as directors during the year ended 31 March BANE R M B e AT BN (2023
2024 (2023: Nil). No directors waived any emoluments F )  HE2024F3A31BILEF
during the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil). B BEESHETMINE (20234 :
fE) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

35

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

170

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(Continued)

Directors’ retirement benefits and termination
benefits

During the year ended 31 March 2024, none of the
directors received or will receive any retirement benefits or
termination benefits during the financial year (2023: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company did not
pay consideration to any third parties for making available
directors’ services (2023: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and controlled entities with such
directors

As at 31 March 2024, there are no loans, quasi-loans and
other dealing arrangements in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and controlled entities with such
directors (2023: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Except disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, no
director of the Company had a material interest, directly or
indirectly, in any significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Company’s business to which the
Company was or is a party that subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the current and prior year (2023:
Nil).

35 EEFZRES @

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

EERANENR R EHE

HZE2024F3A3HILFE @ eSS
AN B R AR Ui B B % Uk BR A ] 3R R
& F sk R R/ 18 (20234 « &)

REHEERFEATE=ZFR
&

HE2024F3A3NHIEFE + ARG
ERRHEERBATAE =
RIB(2023% : £E) »

DES  ZSESHZEGEA
EENZZEHNEESZRZANE
M BUERREMCEENESR

7202438318  HHEUES -
EEMNZEAEABERZIESES
ASHANER BUERREM
ELHE(20234F ¢ &) o

BEERARS  RHIEHNHHE
REz

BRI SRRt E AT TSI
ARBEBHERARBIREERFT
FIVMRERKAFER E—FEMT
AEEDNAFENTNEARS « &
ERANTPHEESMEREEAES
(20234 : %) o

w
foi 4H§

I8
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND

OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

36.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
36.1.1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control.
The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to,
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances, unrealised gains on
transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transactions
provide evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained
interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at
the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying
amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the
initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This
may mean that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

36.1.2 Associate

An associate is the entity over which the Group has
significant influence but not control or joint control. This is
generally the case where the Group holds between 20%
and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting, after
initially being recognised at cost.
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36.1

e RBRRME

EARAEMEEERS

BURHEE

REARRARESEE

3611 HB LA

NGV ES SEIE R R a0l
BERE FAKEABAELFEZ
Eﬁiﬁﬁa,\‘&“ﬁﬁﬁT“E%&E’Jﬂ jﬁié
B WEBBEGEZEBNENY

aZ”—?E#& EUEE/T\$‘$I;TSZ,\%E
BEGE - WEA TEET HEEE AR

SEzAREEEAAR  EHEL
b2 BE&IHERE AR -
SEARAENRS - BEHEEERN

ARAENZX SN RERBHN T IAY
o RIERFRHEBBEERENE
B BARERBRITSHE - W8
NEH g R E EE"Z\EH—H’E&E&
B DAREIR AR BFT R AEUR
@(o

WASEREITHIE  RERBOEM
REBBREREXAESEEBNAF
EEFTE  EHEERES EEE*
FHER o shE B ARSI ER & A7)
EELENSHEENREA %ﬁﬁ
T A EAVIAKREE - 1 B
EARZERBEEME2EBRARER
WERSEAR  HUOAEEEEE
REMBEENBE - BEAlEEKRE
AIEEMEERABRNSHEEND
B o

3612 BE LA

BERRARAEEHEREATEN
MR HI S KRR N ER - &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

36 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND
OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(Continued)

36.1.3 Equity method

172

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments
are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’'s share of the post-acquisition profits
or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group's
share of movements in other comprehensive income of
the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends
received or receivable from associates are recognised as a
reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted
investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity,
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of equity-accounted investees have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group.

The carrying amounts of equity-accounted investments is
tested for impairment in accordance with the policy in Note
36.9.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND

OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(Continued)

36.1.4 Purchase price allocation of acquisition of investments

being accounted for equity method

Acquisition of investments being accounted for using equity
method is accounted for purchase price allocation to assign
value of an acquired company’s assets and liabilities, with
identification of any intangible assets from the acquisition
and any adjustment of the fair value on the identifiable assets
and liabilities.

Any difference between the cost of the investment and
the Group's share of the net fair value of the investee's
identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for notional
goodwill. The notional goodwill is included in the initial cost
of the investment.

Adjustments to provisional amounts, and the recognition
of newly identified asset and liabilities, must be made
within the ‘'measurement period’ where they reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that
were in existence at the acquisition date. The measurement
period shall not exceed one year from the acquisition date.

36.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

36

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND
OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.3 Foreign currency translation

(i)

(ii)

(iii)
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Functional and presentation currency

Iltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong Dollar
("HK$"), which is the Company's functional and the Group's
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items
are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Group companies
The results and financial position of all the Group's entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy), that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

(a) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented
are translated at the closing rate at the date of that
balance sheet;

(b) income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the dates of the transactions); and

(c) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign entities are
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold, the associated exchange differences are
reclassified to consolidated income statement, as part of the
gain or loss on sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND
OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.3 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii) Group companies (Continued)
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

36.4 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of any component accounted for as a separate
asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and
maintenance are expensed in the consolidated income
statement during the reporting period in which they are
incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Building 5% or over the unexpired

period of the lease
Leasehold improvements 5% or over the unexpired

period of the lease
Plant and machinery 7% to 10%
Office furniture and fixtures 20% to 33%
Computer equipment 20% to 33%
Motor vehicles 20%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised
within general and administrative expenses in the
consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

36

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND
OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.5 Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents buildings, plant and
machinery under construction and pending installation and
is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any.
Cost includes the costs of construction of buildings and
the costs of plant and machinery, installation testing and
other direct costs. No provision for depreciation is made
on construction in progress until such time as the relevant
assets are completed and are available for the intended
use. When the assets concerned are brought into use, the
costs are transferred to property, plant and equipment and
depreciated in accordance with the policy as stated in Note
36.4 above.

36.6 Investment properties

Investment properties, principally freehold office buildings,
are held for earning rentals or for capital appreciation
(or both) by the Group. Investment properties is initially
measured at historical cost,. Subsequently, they are carried
at fair value. Changes in fair values are presented in profit or
loss as part of other income.

36.7 Leasehold land and land use rights

Leasehold land and land use rights are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Cost represents upfront prepayments made
for the rights to use the land over the lease term of 41 to
45 years. Amortisation of leasehold land is expensed in the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over
the period of the lease. Leasehold land and land use rights
are presented as right-of-use assets in the consolidated
balance sheet.

36.8 Intangible assets
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Acquired computer software license is capitalised on the
basis of the costs incurred to acquire the specific software.
The computer software acquired is carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses if any. These costs are amortised over estimated
useful lives of 5 to 10 years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND

OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset'’s fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for
which there are separately identifiable cash flows which are
largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets
or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end
of each reporting period.

36.10 Financial assets

(i)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at FVOCI or
through profit or loss, and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’'s business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms
of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will
either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments
in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will
depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to account for the
equity investment carried at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

36

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND
OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.10 Financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

178

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, which is the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial
assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL"), transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset.

Debt instrument

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group's business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are two
measurement categories into which the Group classifies its
debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly
in profit or loss and presented in other gains/(losses)
together with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as separate line item
in the consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND

OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.10 Financial assets (Continued)
(iii) Measurement (Continued)

Debt instrument (Continued)

° FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken
through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment
gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange
gains and losses which are recognised in profit or
loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCl is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised
in “finance cost, net”. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains
and losses are presented in “other income and other
gains, net”.

(iv) Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at
amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of
these financial assets, see Note 3.1 (c)(ii) and Note 20 for
further details.

For deposits and other receivables from third parties, loss
allowance are measured as either 12-months expected
credit losses or lifetime expected credit losses, depending
on whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. If a significant increase in credit
risk of a receivable has occurred since initial recognition,
then loss allowance is measured as lifetime expected credit
losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

36

36.11

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND
OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events
and must be enforceable in the normal course of business
and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the
Company or the counterparty.

36.12 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average
cost method. The cost of finished goods and work in
progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other
direct costs and related production overheads (based on
normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net
realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

36.13 Trade and other receivables
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Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less, they are
classified as current assets. If not, they are classified as non-
current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The trade receivables with the objective
to collect the contractual cash flows are measured
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND
OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.13 Trade and other receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables from certain customers of the Group,
whose contractual cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, were factored to reputable financial
institutions under non-recourse factoring arrangement
according to the Group’s daily fund management needs.
This trade receivable’s business model is therefore achieved
both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling of these
assets. Such trade receivables was therefore classified as
financial assets carried at FVOCI.

See Note 36.10 for further information about the Group's
accounting for trade and other receivables and Note 3.1(c)(ii)
for a description of the Group’s impairment policies.

36.14 Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of presentation in consolidated statement of
cash flow, cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand,
deposits held at call with banks with original maturities of
three months or less and bank overdrafts.

36.15 Restricted bank deposits
Restricted bank deposits represent guaranteed deposits
placed at designated bank accounts as reserves for
settling custom duties and cash collateral for the purchase
of certain property, plant and equipment and electricity.
Such restricted bank deposits would be released after full
settlement of the contracts.

36.16 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

36.17 Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services
provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year
which are unpaid. Trade payables and other payables are
presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due
within 12 months after the reporting period. They are
recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

e RBRRME

36 EARHMEBEEERS
BURBLE (@)

36.13 B 5 FEUN AR RN 2 H fth FE UL FRIE ()
AEFETEF(EANBRLREEA
TRAS RF ) NE 5 R RIRE
AEBMAEECEREEELRE
REZHTRETEERIFHS R
o Et - ZEBSEUERNEBIE
RBFBERENRLREREERS
BEER - Ut RSB HREUER
DEARATES ARLMEEBRAT
RRSREE -

BRAASEE SR R E thER
REARME—FPER  F2HMF
36.10  EAARSERAEBEGNA - &
2B MEE3.1(c) i) ©

6.1URERRESEEBY
RRGARLREXRZIMS B
PRLSEYREFERS  RIH
AA=@ARARMBRTERFERR
RITHEX -

36.15 ZPRFIRITER
ZRRBIIRITIF R IE T R B ERITER
FOERTR  (EAEEBABMNERE
SUARBEETYE  BERREM
EHMREET - REZREIBITHE
FENE R BUEEIRIRR

36.16 B4
TRBRMOE AR EERRBENE
TR BT R AN FE AR 25 T DI RS
BRI (FNERBIA) ©

36.17 ES EARA R HMEMN KA
ZEFARMBFEAERI AN EE G
EREOEMERBERTOHEE - R
FHEDEMNERRREMENFRIANX
NRIwERR12EAAKRDE - BA
HB 2 RRBAE - EHEMEX
REAMEM RN F IR A FEER
HIgUERRFRORIRBIHR A E -

FFIR4E2023/24 ANNUAL REPORT 2023/24 181



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

36

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND
OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.18 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair values, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value
is recognised in the consolidated income statement over
the period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that
it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down
occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee
is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services and
amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from consolidated balance sheet
when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged,
cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying
amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished
or transferred to another party and the consideration paid,
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as finance cost.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting
period.

36.19 Borrowing costs

182

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in consolidated
income statement in the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND

OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.20 Current and deferred income tax

(i)

(ii)

The tax expense for the year comprises current and
deferred income tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated
income statement, except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted substantially enacted at the end
of the reporting date in the countries where the Group
or its associate operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation and establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
income tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from
the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is
also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of
the reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

36

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND
OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.20 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

184

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to
utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred income tax liabilities and assets are not recognised
for temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign operations where the
Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and when the deferred income tax balances
relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets
and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred income tax is recognised in the
consolidated income statement, except to the extent that it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Investment allowances and similar tax incentives
Companies within the Group may be entitled to claim
special tax deductions for investments in qualifying assets
or in relation to qualifying expenditure. The Group accounts
for such allowances as tax credits, which means that the
allowance reduces income tax payable and current tax
expense. A deferred income tax asset is recognised for
unclaimed tax credits that are carried forward as deferred
income tax assets.
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36

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND
OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.21 Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave
as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end
of the reporting date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations
Group companies operate several defined contribution
retirement schemes.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which
the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity.
The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay
further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient
assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to
employee services in the current and prior periods.

The Group pays contributions to publicly or privately
administered pension insurance plans on a mandatory,
contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has no further
payment obligations once the contributions have been
paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit
expenses when they are due. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a
reduction in the future payments is available.

Bonus entitlements

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses
based on the key performance indicators for employees
and the business performance of the Group. The Group
recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where
there is a past practice that has created a constructive
obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

36

36.21
(iv)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND
OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement
date, or when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy
in exchange of these benefits. The Group recognises
termination benefits at the earlier or the following dates:
(a) when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises costs
for a restructuring that is within the scope of HKAS 37 and
involves the payment of terminations benefits.

36.22 Provisions

186

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating
losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an
outflow with respect to anyone item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND

OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.23 Revenue recognition

The Group manufactures and sells intimate wear, sports
products, consumer electronics components, bra pads
and accessory products, footwear and fabric masks in the
wholesale market. Revenue is recognised when control of
the products has transferred, being when the products are
delivered to the wholesaler at a point in time, the wholesaler
has full discretion over the channel and price to sell the
products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could
affect the wholesaler’'s acceptance of the products. Delivery
occurs when the products have been shipped to the specific
location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to the wholesaler, and either the wholesaler has
accepted the products in accordance with the sales contract,
the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the Group has
objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been
satisfied.

Revenue from the sale of goods is based on the price
specified in the sales contracts. No element of financing is
deemed present as the sales are made with a short credit
term, which is consistent with market practice.

A receivable is recognised when the control of goods is
transferred as this is the point in time that the consideration
is unconditional because only the passage of time is
required before the payment is due.

Contract liability is recognised when payments are received
from customers in advance but the relevant performance
obligation has not been performed.

36.24 Interest income

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost
calculated using the effective interest method is recognised
in the consolidated income statement as part of finance
cost, net. Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

36

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND
OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.25 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
values where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the consolidated income statement over the
period necessary to match them with the costs that they
are intended to compensate. Government grants relating to
property, plant and equipment are included in non-current
liabilities as deferred government grants and are credited to
the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis
over the expected lives of the related assets.

36.26 Research and development costs

188

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred
on development projects relating to the design and
testing of new or improved products are recognised as an
intangible asset when the technical feasibility and intention
of completing the product under development has been
demonstrated and the resources are available to do so,
costs are identifiable and there is an ability to sell or use the
asset that will generate probable future economic benefits.
Such development costs are recognised as an asset and
amortised on the straight-line basis to reflect the pattern
in which the related economic benefits are recognised.
Development costs that do not meet the above criteria
are expensed as incurred. Development costs previously
recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in
a subsequent period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND

OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.27 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is
available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components.
The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the
lease and non-lease components based on their relative
stand-alone prices. However, for leases of which the Group is
a lessee, it has elected not to separate lease and non-lease
components and instead accounts for these as a single
lease component.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the following lease payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the liabilities.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RBRRME

36 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND
OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.27 Leases (Continued)
To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

° where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions

since third party financing was received,;

° uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held
by the Group, which does not have recent third party

financing; and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,

country, currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to consolidated statement
of profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance

of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the

following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease

liabilities;

° any lease payments made at or before the commencement

date less any lease incentives received; and

o any initial direct costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is

depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

36 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND 36 EAREMBEERES
OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL BERBE @)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

36.28 Dividend distribution 36.28 i 5. 2K
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is mAR B REDIRB MK B AR B &
recognised as a liability in the Group's financial statements REF(WBEA) IEZ SR B EME
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the MAEB B BHRERNEREBEE -

Company’s shareholders or directors, where appropriate.

36.29 Insurance policy investments 36.29 RERE

Insurance policy investments are non-derivative measured RELERIETETR HIEQAFE
at FVOCI. They are included in non-current assets unless FFAEMEEWBAGE - BRIFKRES
the investment matures or management intends to dispose s EIREg S a4 E BT 12(@A
of it within 12 months of the balance sheet date. When NEEZEE  BAZEEETAE
the investments are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair TEEEN - ERECHESRIE -
value adjustments recognised in equity are included in the ERERZPEINEFAFEARTA
consolidated income statement. The relevant accounting HAWRERK ZEEENHEBETHR
policy of these assets has been consistently applied. RO BERUER -
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION SUMMARY
ABENBE

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the NEERARE TS EERRART A EM
Group for the last five financial years, prepared on the basis as set HWEENEHEES  EERBGEHZHT
out herein, is set out below: PERN

Year ended 31 March
BE3ANMHLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

20245 20234 20224 20214 20204
HK$000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000
BETT BETT  BETx  BETr  BET

Results b
Revenue WA 7,016,802 7,879,287 8,346,728 5,974,290 6,341,010
Gross profit EF 1,583,567 1,902,111 2,045440 1,237,953 1,440,731
Profit attributable to owner of  ARAG#HHE A
the Company FE(RET 143,175 383,258 520,694 125,515 289,953
Adjusted net profit for the FRERABER R
year(& 316,471 417,387 581,780 175,253 289,953
Gross profit margin (%) EFME(%) 22.6% 24.1% 24.5% 20.7% 22.7%
Net profit margin (%) KEFE (%) 2.0% 4.9% 6.2% 2.1% 4.6%
Adjusted net profit R ER ot K| 5 (9 )2
margin (%)1&@ 4.5% 5.3% 7.0% 2.9% 4.6%
Assets and liabilities EEREE
Total assets BERA 8,602,750 8,682,290 9,419,772 8,737,036 7,735,028
Total liabilities BEBRE (5,232,275) (5,135,028) (5,783,515) (5,666,681) (4,817,033)
Total equity B 3,370,475 3,547,262 3,636,257 3,070,355 2,917,995

Notes: Bf5E

(1) Adjusted net profit for the year is derived by adding restructuring costs on (1) FREFHBMFTEBNENGERIMABER
the net profit for the year. REHESE -

(2)  This non-GAAP financial data is a supplemental financial measure that is (2 WIFLRETRAUNNMBEESBETHBEE
not required by, or presented in accordance with HKFRSs and is therefore 512 - BEMBREERNLES K - FEER
referred to as a “non-GAAP" financial measure. It is not a measurement REBUMBIREERZ25] - Bt - FLERE
of the Group's financial performance under HKFRSs and should not [FEARGFTRA INMBE SRR o BIRFFR
be considered as an alternative to profit from operations or any other BEASVBREEGEAEBUBRANS
performance measures derived in accordance with HKFRSs or as an 5 TEGIERRBRE B BHREELEENL
alternative to cash flows from operating activities or as a measure of the SN E e EMEMRRAOERIER - S
Group's liquidity. EEPRERENERERIEEAEE R

AEMIER -
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